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Becoming the most
student-oriented universities
with a century-long vision

“Top 50 National Employment”

China New Higher Education Group (the “Group”) is a leading higher education
group focusing on higher education for more than 20 years which first put forward
and promoted the school operation model of application oriented universities.
As at 31 August 2024, the Group’s schools covered various regions of China,
cumulatively cultivating over 450,000 high-quality applied and technical talents
for the society. As a leader of high-quality employment, the schools of the Group
have been awarded the “Top 50 National Employment (& Bl gt % T {E50
58 )" by the Ministry of Education, and the employment rate of each school is
among the highest in each province and region, with continuous improvement in
high-quality employment rates.

Vision AE-ABEEAME
BRBMAEEZR
ﬁﬁ; Enabling every student to achieve

Mission  career success and life fulfillment
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Upgrade school operation conditions and
educational environment
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Remarkable achievements of
comprehensive education
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Yunnan Einsun Vocational
Skills Training Station was
established, starting the
entrepreneurial history

of China New Higher
Education Group

2004

h
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Guizhou

Technology and

Business Institute

was commenced

to be constructed
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Guizhou Technology and Business
Institute was established

The school has now become the
largest private school in Guizhou
Province with a leading employment
rate and an increasing social
reputation

SEBHHBEEERILLR
The Group’s headquarter relocated to
Beijing from Yunnan

1999
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Hubei Enshi College
(formerly known as Science
and Technology College

of Hubei Minzu University)
joined the Group
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B ZEAE : 02001.HK
China New Higher
Education Group listed on
the Main Board of

the Stock Exchange
Stock code: 02001.HK
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Yunnan Einsun Software LEEREEMIBSR Yunnan Technology and

Vocational College was
established, unveiling a
new teaching phase of
the Group’s formal higher
education

R miEmEd Em
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Yunnan Einsun Software
Vocational College was
upgraded to an
undergraduate college, and
was renamed as Yunnan
Technology and Business
University, the first batch
of private undergraduate
colleges in Southwest
China and the first private
undergraduate college in
Yunnan Province

Business University was
awarded as “Typical
Model School for National
Graduate Employment
and Top 50 National
Employment” by the
MOE
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Harbin Huade University
(formerly known as Huade
College of Harbin Institute
of Technology) joined the
Group, being the first
batch of pilot universities
for the “Excellent Engineer
Education and Training
Scheme” in Heilongjiang
Province
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Guizhou Technology and Business Institute
was awarded the “Top 100 Typical Cases of
Employment and Entrepreneurship of College

Graduates in China”

EMIASRETRRBEUASER TR
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BEMNTRHBESREARBE
MERBERBAHAEMNE
[TRE|SRREREINE

B EfI
The promotion of Guizhou

to an undergraduate-level

Plan

Yunnan Technology and Business University

was awarded as a model school construction
unit for application-oriented talent cultivation

R=ZARXAIEDL
BRI K

HEHRPOLE

The Yangtze River Delta Employment and

Entrepreneurship Center and Teaching and
Research Center were launched in Suzhou

EXEHER

University was awarded the

“Employability Training Base for

National College Graduates”

Technology and Business Institute

vocational university has been
included in the cultivation unit of
Guizhou Province’s “14th Five-
Year Plan” College Establishment

TE I B5EET 2 EER
F R E
Yunnan Technology and Business

i

TREZREER
CORPORATE MILESTONES

ENTABESRAEAENERBEREEXMD
The upgrade of Guizhou Technology and Business Institute
to undergraduate-level vocational university is officially
commenced

EERSBIR = KESGATRMBZE LT H R 36D
EZTEEERTETEREERE L PEHS
F— RPERAKBTENZSD

The Group received an ESG score of 36 for the first time from
Standard & Poor’s, one of the three major international rating
agencies, ranked the seventh in the world and the first in
China in the diversified consumer industry, and scored the
highest in China’s education sector

SEEAERRE (A FEZERFE (FER)
2024) - RETIOHEMITETEEER - ERE
The Group has been selected as a member of S&P Global’s
“2024 Sustainability Yearbook (China)”, making the Group
the first and the only enterprise in the diversified consumer
industry to be included in the yearbook
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BENEBEBRINALEE
Luoyang Science and
Technology Vocational College
joined the Group

BEMEEREERE (REMIE
TRERITTREER) IIA
£=

Lanzhou College of Information
Science and Technology (formerly
known as College of Technology and
Engineering of Lanzhou University of
Technology) joined the Group

EREEREEBEZRINA
£=

Guangxi Yinghua International
Occupation College joined the Group

Zhengzhou City Vocational College
joined the Group

W1t B e 2k
B SE A B R

Hubei Enshi College and Lanzhou College
of Information Science and Technology

completed conversion
R=ZAREBIERBPL

b 5E

The Pearl River Delta Employment and

Entrepreneurship Service Center and
the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei Employment
and Entrepreneurship Service Center

were launched in Shenzhen and Beijing,

respectively

CEMEERRE

y=
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SR

Yunnan Technology and Business University successfully
passed the qualification assessment of undergraduate
teaching by the Ministry of Education

MM EERFRBEREFRTKAZEMRE— Y
(B8 R AR AR

Lanzhou College of Information Science and Technology
became the only private undergraduate college rated
“Excellent” in the province during the annual inspection

ENTRHERESLENERSKEEXEHERR
(B8 IBR)

Guizhou Technology and Business University was approved
as a provincial-level high-level vocational major group
institution in Guizhou (i.e., “high-level higher vocational”
school)
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REVIEW OF THE 2024 FINANCIAL YEAR

FEREHABRE BEREEFNET AN

Continuously deepening teaching reform to achieve better learning outcomes

RULBRELAET N\ EXBEREEREREE_SHE EHEREMESFNE2ESRAMAZBEFAE S5
Students of Northeast School won the Second Prize in the 18th National ~ Teachers of Yunnan School won the First Prize in the Fourth National
College Business Elite Challenge Teaching Innovation Competition for College Teachers

[SEERFERIRZAE] BRESHHRXEESE
Adhering to "high-quality employment as the foundation of the school" to achieve higher
employment quality

BREERBHRBEAXEEERE FItERRKERE (FE) REEEEIEE
Employment and entrepreneurship guidance seminar organized by  Porsche (China) Elite Apprentice Programme in Northeast School
Guangxi Schools

08 CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEIfi=HEEERA
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REVIEW OF THE 2024 FINANCIAL YEAR

REBEAEBSRA—& BEREENRERR
The concept of service and education penetrating into the front line to realize better service
experience

EMNBRFTEANBTHATLE  BAEERX N REBREE - —EMRE - 1B BB
Customized cokes for freshmen of Zhengzhou School to enhance the 1-on-1 volunteer service by senior students from eight schools to
sense of exclusivity enhance the sense of belonging

HEERLCEEEE  BREXNRERE
Aligning with international high standards to create a more beautiful campus environment

EHERBEABEMBTLRA EHSRB LA =R
Student apartments of Yunnan School equipped with intelligent furniture  Student activity space in Yunnan School

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT &3 09



j]_/@]_ J\FR B # 100% $2 B% Eight schools are wholly owned 100 O/O

1£ #: %= #9 Students around 140,000 ffg@%\

RitMEHE4sBREANMEEREAS
Cumulatively cultivated applied and technical talents for the society 450,000+

HBRER

Gansu School

RER
Northeast School

RN ER AR
Zhengzhou School
BEER
Luoyang School

EhER
Central China School

%@%ﬁ,///////

Yunnan School

BEMER BEAEER
Guizhou School Guangxi Schools

10  CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FEHSHEEERATE
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SCHOOL NETWORK

& # B 8 Undergraduate Universities

e ITHE-—FMEZHHRRARSRK
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o EEANFEERIEFICTERR] HEE—

° The first full-time private undergraduate university in
Yunnan Province

o Top 50 universities in national graduates employment
granted by the MOE

o The only private university in China to be the vice-council
member of the Association of Universities (Colleges) of
Applied Science

° Awarded “Excellent ICT Academy” by Huawei for six
consecutive years, which is the only school in Southwest
China

e FIEARILREBRAREBREZR URBGEE &
HimA - EEXEBREXNEEATRATINER

e NUEZBRSHN—FERREAEAR

e EHEIFRERMEABER FEIFTHEXR
i 95%

e HNINEFE]EEEBEMEN

e HRHPBERBHEERAREREZE AR - FE
—mEKFEAERBRAR SR

o Formerly known as Science and Technology College of
Hubei Minzu University, focusing on cultivating talent
through school-enterprise cooperation, hospital-education
collaboration, and industrial-college model

o An application-oriented undergraduate university with
Medicine as its key disciplines

o Typical employment school in the province for two
consecutive years, with employment rate exceeding 95%
for three consecutive years

:ﬂ_-E |:|:| % & . The commissioned and targeted unit of the government’s
g “Village Doctor Scheme”
Central Chlna SC 0 e Ranked among the top 100 private undergraduate

universities in the Best Chinese Universities Ranking (&X
Bl A B K 22 5E ), a first-class high-level application-
oriented private undergraduate university in China

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT &#3 11
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Gansu School

RIEER

Northeast School

BABFERER  fIFABMEIRERMIT
12 2

PE-REAREKE  RRE2024F EREMHKE
IRE27E  2REEEELS
MUFRSHBEEBRHUZEN AREFEE
BB
HEMXB-0XUEFEEBRFETHURES -
2ERBERRME—

Inheriting the genes of a century-old prestigious university,
formerly known as College of Technology and Engineering
of Lanzhou University of Technology

A first-class application-oriented university, ranked the
27th in Type | and the 4th in National Information Class
among 2024 China Private Universities by the Alumni
Association

Accredited as a provincial teaching team and provincial
outstanding grassroots education unit in Gansu Province in
2024

The MOE Excellence Scholarship in Grassroots Employment
in the 2023/2024 academic year, the only one among
similar institutions in the province

Emm —m 985 ] BB EKRE - DA%
TREEATE WERERFNABERRSR
ERIAENEBTRMEEFEHAI TR
EENEREISRUMENAE HEE &
RYELEAFERE—
BRBEEERER2023FE TN TEREEIE
[ERERREEIER ]

Originated from Harbin Institute of Technology (HIT), a
first-class “985” university, and a private undergraduate
university with “hard-core” engineering majors as its
feature for more than 32 years

The first batch of pilot universities for the Excellent
Engineer Education and Training Scheme in Heilongjiang
Province

In the 4th Heilongjiang College Teachers’ Innovation
Competition and Young Teacher Competition, we ranked
the first in the number of awards received among similar
institutions in the province

Harbin Huade University was awarded the “Outstanding
School-Enterprise Cooperation Partner” award in 2023
Geely Auto School-Enterprise Cooperation

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEIFSHEEERATR



B ¥ 8 % Vocational Schools

B R4
SCHOOL NETWORK

28 Jh 2B X
/hengzhou School

EMHEARARFFRASK
REIBHEIBRBEBRS
BRABMERABEASRE TIELHE HTES
AEMAT+THR | AR R R E S
EMER KT EEREFREREN
2EE_HRERAEAMER AR XARE -
ERZEXHARE - & REKE SR
Top 100 universities and colleges with typical employment
cases recognized by the MOE
The employment work was praised by Huai Jinpeng,
Minister of the MOE
The establishment of undergraduate-level vocational
university was approved by the MOE and included in
the “14th Five-Year Plan” College Establishment Plan of
Guizhou Province
A high-level professional group construction unit in Guizhou
Province
The second batch of National Pilot Schools for First-Aid
Education in School, Provincial Civilized Campus, Provincial
Safe and Civilized Campus and Provincial Water-saving
College

B E TR
B2 2 EIE— W RH AT H B ENERER
2EERBBRER

Hh B4Rk T AR 2 B P o e B B A

Top ten colleges with best education quality

The only college in China to offer a major in refractory
materials

Top 100 National Higher Vocational Colleges

Top 4 National Higher Vocational Colleges in China for
urban category

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT £k
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Luoyang School

LT

Guangxi Schools

RSB ERRRK

AR RIEHNERNETER

B2 B B M E R
RER&2024F B R B Rir & EHE R E 27

2 B 7R 01 B S B R

Top 100 higher vocational education schools

Innovation and entrepreneurship education demonstration
school in Henan Province

Vocational Academy Reform Model School

Ranked 27th in Comprehensive Class among 2024
China Higher Vocational Colleges Ranking by the Alumni
Association

National Demonstration Vocational Schools

MEEFERBEL  EENFETIEAL D
BREBELEREANEZTERLEEN] > B0ER
[0 %8 B 1 M —
KENERMI0OBFEARNSE REERE
2EE_HSRHHBEABER
RRG2024FESBERFESL EAEEIE - #
RARRPEEKESBETR

Employment rate is among the highest, the only one among
similar institutions awarded as the “Outstanding Unit for
Employment and Entrepreneur for College Graduates of
Guangxi” in the autonomous region for four consecutive
years

Won the Guangxi Private Education Outstanding
Contribution Award for the 40th Anniversary of Reform
and Opening Up

The second batch of National Pilot Schools for First-Aid
Education in School

Moved up to 69th in 2024 China Higher Vocational
Colleges Ranking by the Alumni Association, accredited as
a 4-star China High-level Higher Vocational Colleges

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEIFSHEEERATR
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ETREHES
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the Board, I'm pleased to present this annual results report of the
Group as of 31 August 2024. | would like to express my heartfelt thanks to all
shareholders for your full trust and unwavering support to China New Higher
Education Group.

Over the past 25 years since the establishment of China New Higher Education
Group, we conscientiously implement the fundamental task of strengthening
morality through education, with “enabling every student to achieve career
success and life fulfillment” as its mission, and “building the most student-
oriented university with a century-long vision” as its vision. At present, the
Group has 8 universities, including 4 undergraduate universities and 4 higher
vocational colleges, with 139,000 students and around 10,000 faculty and staff,
cumulatively cultivating about 450,000 high-quality talents for the society.

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT F 3k
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT
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In the past year, with the joint efforts of all faculty and staff, we have closely
focused on the sustainable development of the Group and the growth and success
of students, and concentrated on major projects and key milestones, with precise
and vigorous efforts and key breakthroughs. The quality of education and teaching
continues to improve, with fruitful high-quality employment and significant
improvement in the student-teacher experience. The characteristics of campus
education have become more prominent and various businesses are under rapid
development, leading to steady growth in the Group’s benefits. We achieved a
12.2% year-on-year increase in total revenue to RMB2.84 billion, a 13.8% year-
on-year increase in revenue from principal business to RMB2.41 billion, while a
6.1% year-on-year increase in adjusted net profit to RMB0.77 billion.

Next, | will report on the Group’s high-quality development from the following
three aspects.

Firstly, increasing investment to further support long-term education
foundation. We cumulatively invested RMB1.25 billion this year to vigorously
promote breakthroughs in major projects such as upgrading vocational schools to
undergraduate universities, and undergraduate universities applying for the right
to grant master’s degrees, as well as teaching assessment. Yunnan School has
successfully obtained provincial-level approval for the establishment of a new
master’s degree-granting unit, becoming the first batch of private universities in
Yunnan Province being approved for the establishment of such a new master’s
degree-granting unit at the provincial level. Guizhou School had been formally
included in the “14th Five-Year Plan” Vocational and Technical University
Establishment Plan. We fully met 31 indicators of upgrading to university one
year in advance and welcomed a group of experts to the university for inspection
and evaluation. Luoyang School and Guangxi Schools have steadily advanced into
the “15th Five-Year Plan" to upgrade into universities. Northeast School was the
first batch of private universities in Heilongjiang Province approved and evaluated
by the Ministry of Education, with all indicators fully accomplished and quality
of teaching highly recognized by appraisal experts. Gansu School was the only
private college rated “Excellent” in the province during the annual inspection for
two consecutive years. Central China School was approved for introducing major
in dentistry, which is a national regulated major. The first admission scores were
close to the admission scores of the top local universities, further highlighting
its characteristics of medical education. The investment in teachers increased
by 12.1%, empowering high-quality development with high-standard talents.
The Group introduced 273 high-level experts, 15 renowned scholars. “Double-
high” teachers with title of associate professor level or above and doctoral
degree increased by 73%. Cumulative investment reached RMB0.92 billion this
year, aiming at a “more beautiful campus environment”, with high-standard
construction of infrastructure projects such as 160,000 square feet of school
buildings in Guizhou School, teaching buildings in Gansu School, and campus
renovation and construction of Northeast School. We have significantly improved
the office environment for faculty, upgraded the campus network, and created
a series of “peak-value experience” branding activities, notably enhancing the
education environment and experience of student activities at various institutions,
with student satisfaction rising to 86.4%.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE#I=HEBEERA T
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ITREHEE
CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT

Secondly, increase efforts to support “better learning outcomes”. The
Group launched the OBE-oriented “Wonderful Classrooms” competition for
15 consecutive years, implemented a rewarding mechanism for ‘Outstanding
Lessons’, invested nearly RMB10 million to recognize and incentivize teachers
throughout the year. The Group won 263 prizes in 53 competitions recognised by
the Ministry of Education, among which, Yunnan School became the only private
school to sweep the first-, second- and third-class prizes in the Fourth National
Teaching Innovation Competition for College Teachers, and the only higher
education college in Yunnan Province that won the first-class prize at the national
level. We insist on promoting educational reform by exploring enterprises and
enquiring needs, and improving course quality by course quality evaluation. 29
provincial first-class courses have been approved, of which 7 curricula have been
recommended to the evaluation of national first-class courses. The Group has
focused on new energy, intelligent manufacturing and other high-tech industries,
and 7 emerging majors including new energy automobile, robotics engineering
have been approved. Leveraging the advantages of Guizhou Province’s digital
economy development, the professional clusters of digital trade and economics
have been approved as the provincial high-level professional clusters, and
the professional structure has been further optimized with the professional
characteristics continuously concentrated. Our students participated in 84 National
University Student Subject Competitions recognised by the Ministry of Education
and won 3,124 provincial awards and 832 national awards, representing an
increase of 180% in the number of awards, of which 72 awards were of top tiers,
setting a new historical high for student competitions within the group.

Thirdly, leading the development and exploring “higher employment
quality”. The Group’s investment in employment funding increased by 67.5%,
and the first Best Employer Award Ceremony was successfully held. The Group
has established the Alumni Association of Yangtze River Delta, Pearl River Delta
and Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region, attracting over 10,000 outstanding alumni from
various industries, and gathering strength to drive a broader range of higher-
quality employment. The initial employment rate of the 2024 graduates reached
95.09%. The proportion of high-quality employment of the 2024 graduates
reached 33.21%, representing an increase of 8.5 percentage points as compared
to last year, hitting a record high. One out of every three graduates of the Group
was employed in high-quality jobs, of which the number of students employed
by famous companies increased by 62%. The Group’s schools received 178
employment awards throughout the year, and employers’ satisfaction with
graduates reached over 93%. Guizhou School participated in the national
employment work’s typical cases; 904 people from Central China School were
admitted in the examination of public servant, accounting for 20%; Yunnan School
won the “Advanced Unit for Recruitment Work” honorary title, being the only
college in Yunnan Province, and received the Award for Excellence in Grassroots
Employment for College Graduates organized by the Ministry of Education for
two consecutive years, and was praised by provincial leaders at the provincial
employment work meeting; Gansu School was awarded 129 employment
supply and demand connection education projects by the Ministry of Education,
ranking the first again in the province, and also won the Award for Excellence
in Grassroots Employment for College Graduates organized by the Ministry of
Education; Zhengzhou School won the gold medal in provincial level and bronze
medal in national level of the First National College Students Career Planning
Competition.
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SEEBLSEREREY BEEOTLTEEMAL
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E EENRFRER EXORERE] ZHH
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In the course of its steady development, the Group has been actively fulfilling its
social responsibilities and public obligations, and has achieved outstanding ESG
performance, with a score of 36 from Standard & Poor’s, ranking the first among
Chinese enterprises in the industry. The Group has been selected as a member of
S&P Global’'s “2024 Sustainability Yearbook (China)”, making the Group the first
and the only enterprise in the diversified consumer industry to be included in the
yearbook.

This year, the Group proudly released the “Cultural Concept of China New Higher
Education Group”, establishing the mission of “enabling every student to achieve
career success and life fulfillment” and the vision of “building the most student-
oriented university with a century-long vision”, and focusing on providing students
with “better learning outcomes, higher employment quality, better service
experience and more beautiful campus environment”. It systematically elaborates
the core values of “student-oriented, contributor-based and adherence to long-
termism”, declaring our unwavering pursuit of aligning with the development
laws of education and long-term dedication to shaping core values through
cultural construction. Compared with previous years, the number of students in
the Group’s schools was relatively stable, but revenue has maintained a double-
digit growth, and the average revenue per student remained on an upward trend.
This indicates that the Group’s strategic adjustment of “controlling scale and
enhancing core competitiveness” has begun to bear fruit. In this regard, we will
continue to focus more investment on campus infrastructure, faculty upgrading,
class quality improvement, enhancement of student learning outcomes and high-
quality employment. We will accelerate the application for master’s programs
at Yunnan School and Northeast School, and strive to promote the upgrading of
Luoyang School and Guangxi Schools to universities to meet academic standards,
laying a solid foundation for the Group’s sustainable high-quality development in
the future.

In the new landscape of building a strong educational country, we are facing
the challenges brought by declining birth rates, particularly for private higher
education institutions. The New Higher Education Group is committed to shifting
from a survival-driven approach to a mission-driven one. We are committed to
long-termism and positioning ourselves as long-distance runners in the field of
higher education, with a student-oriented approach and high-quality employment
as the foundation of our schools. We will consistently create value and achieve a
win-win situation with investors in the long run.

China New Higher Education Group Limited
Li Xiaoxuan

Chairman

28 November 2024

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHEHEEERA T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

HIGHLIGHTS

The Group has been determined to consistently implement the high-quality
development strategy, with “enabling every student to achieve career
success and life fulfillment” as its mission, “building the most student-
oriented university with a century-long vision” as its vision, adhering to
the values of “student-oriented, contributor-based and adherence to long-
termism”. Focusing on the core demands of “better learning outcomes,
higher employment quality, better service experience and more beautiful
campus environment”, the Group has been continuously increasing
educational investment, comprehensively improving the quality of education
and teaching as well as cultivation of talents to support regional economic
and social development, and contributing to the high-quality development
of higher education in China.

High-quality and full employment has been rising steadily. As of 31
December 2023, the overall employment rate of the Group’s 2023
graduates was 96.97%, marking the fourth consecutive year with the
overall employment rate of 95% or higher. As of 31 August 2024, the initial
employment rate of the 2024 graduates reached 95.09%, representing an
increase of 4.4 percentage points as compared to last year. The proportion
of high-quality employment of the 2024 graduates reached 33.21%, with
one out of every three graduates being employed in high-quality job, of
which the number of students employed by famous companies increased by
62%.

In the 2024/2025 academic year, the total number of students in
the Group’s schools was approximately 139,000. The proportion of
undergraduate students has continued to increase, with the proportion of
new undergraduate students among all newly enrolled students increased
by 4 percentage points and the proportion of undergraduate students in
the total number of students increased by 1 percentage point. In addition,
the proportion of cross-provincial enroliment in the Group’s schools has
increased consistently. The admission scores have substantially increased,
the brand competitiveness has been further enhanced, and the high-quality
development strategy is steadily advancing.
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The Group’s high-quality development strategy aligns perfectly with the
direction of policy support. With the support of favorable policies, Guizhou
School’s application to be an undergraduate-level university has been
formally included in the “14th Five-Year Plan” College Establishment Plan
of Guizhou Province. At present, the third phase campus construction of
Guizhou School is underway as planned. The Group will continue to solidly
promote major construction project of upgrading Guizhou School to an
undergraduate-level university to ensure the completion of the relevant
preparatory work with high quality and efficiency.

The Group’s financial performance has maintained steady growth. For the
year ended 31 August 2024, we achieved 13.8% year-on-year increase in
the revenue from principal business of the Group to RMB2.41 billion, while
6.1% year-on-year increase in adjusted net profit to RMB0.77 billion.

The Group will maintain its dividend payout for the FY2023/2024, which
is proposed to be payable wholly in form of new fully paid shares of
the Company (the “Scrip Shares”) in lieu of cash (the “Scrip Dividend
Scheme”). The Group is of the view that facing changes in social
demographics such as declining birth rates and increasing demands from
students for higher educational background, the future competition in the
higher education market will further intensify. It is necessary to continuously
enhance the level of school operation, improve teaching standards, and
enhance service quality to address the impact of decreasing demand in the
future. Therefore, the Group will continue to increase investment to seize
the current opportunities for vocational schools to upgrade to undergraduate
universities, as well as undergraduate universities to apply for the right to
grant master’s degrees, in order to achieve long-term sustainable high-
quality development. The Group believes that this extraordinary Scrip
Dividend Scheme is in the interest of the Group and its Shareholders as
a whole. While protecting Shareholders’ returns, it can conserve cash for
the Group’s business development and operational needs, and avoid the
increase in the Group’s gearing ratio. It is expected that the Scrip Dividend
Scheme will enhance the trading liquidity of the Shares.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHEHEEERA T
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSIO

BUSINESS REVIEW
BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is a leading higher education group focusing on higher education
for over 20 years which first put forward and constantly promoted the school
operation model of application-oriented universities. The Group’s schools
covered various regions of China, cumulatively cultivating over 450,000 high-
quality applied and technical talents for the society. As a leader of high-quality
employment, the schools of the Group have been awarded the “Top 50 National
Employment (& B 5t 2 T #£5038)” by the Ministry of Education, and the
employment rate of each school received top ranking from their provinces and
regions respectively, with continuous improvement in high-quality employment
rates.

BUSINESS ADVANTAGES

The Group has firmly implemented the strategy of high-quality development,
with “enabling every student to achieve career success and life fulfillment” as
its mission, “building the most student-oriented university with a century-long
vision” as its vision, and increasing its investment in high-quality development, to
enable students to achieve better learning outcomes, higher employment quality,
better service experience and more beautiful campus environment, to enhance the
Group’s core competitiveness, and to build the foundation for the Group’s long-
term high-quality development.

DEEPENING THE TEACHING REFORM TO FULLY ENHANCE STUDENTS’
LEARNING EFFECTIVENESS

() Continuously increasing the numbers of “double-high” teachers,
building a highly qualified teaching workforce

The Group has continued to introduce external high-level talents, with
the number of “double-high” (high academic qualifications and high
professional titles) teachers increased by 73% year-on-year. At the same
time, the Group has increased the salary for core teaching positions,
strategically oriented to the core teaching staff, such as department heads
and deans, and has increased the allocation of training resources to further
empower teachers to enhance their professionalism and build a high-
quality, high-level teaching workforce.
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Consistently focusing on the classroom as the main battlefield,
the quality of teaching and learning in the classroom have been
significantly enhanced

The Group has established a rewarding mechanism for outstanding
lessons to constantly stimulate teaching enthusiasm and innovation. Such
mechanism covers all 8 schools, with 40% of teachers having received the
award. During the Reporting Period, the Group has established a cross-
campus teaching and research department, where 101 key teachers from 8
schools collaborated to revise training programs, build curriculum systems,
and integrate and optimize educational resources. The number of awards
won by teachers in provincial teaching competitions and skills competitions
have increased by nearly 170%, marking a historical breakthrough for the
Group.

The “Wonderful Classroom” initiative has led to the construction of
classrooms, significantly enhancing the quality of student learning.
The Group has launched the “Wonderful Classroom” competition for
15 consecutive years. During the Reporting Period, the Group achieved
100% coverage of supervisory evaluation and student evaluation for the
first time, and implemented the “Standards on Building OBE-oriented
Wonderful Classrooms” to improve the quality of teaching and learning in
the classroom. During the Reporting Period, the number of awards won by
students in the National University Student Subject Competition increased
by 180% year-on-year, among which 72 awards were of top tiers, marking
a record high for the Group.

“Exploring Enterprises and Enquiring Needs” leading to teaching
reform and enhancement of connotative construction

The Group adhered to the student-oriented approach and launched the
“student-oriented” teaching reform, which promoted the integration of
the “student-oriented” teaching philosophy and methodology into the
classrooms, curricula, professions, and the university-wide talent cultivation
system. At the same time, the Group continued its research work on
“Exploring Enterprises and Enquiring Needs”. More than 1,200 teachers
and staff have stepped out of the campus and visited 1,994 enterprises
to conduct research and identify key issues in various aspects of talent
cultivation. This advanced the teaching reform in 9 key aspects, namely
objectives cultivation, graduation requirements, curriculum system, teaching
content, experimental training, internships and practical experience,
teaching methods, activities and competitions, and teaching workforce.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHEHEEERA T
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In terms of curriculum construction, the Group has added 29 provincial
first-class undergraduate courses, of which 7 curricula participated in the
evaluation of national first-class courses. In terms of experimental training,
the Group has constantly renovated and built new experimental and
training laboratories, introducing industry-leading experimental and training
equipment, systems and projects. In terms of internships and practical
experience, new university-enterprise cooperation units and internships
and practice bases have been added, which was in line with local industry
development. Among them, 22 projects were approved for the Gansu
School as the first batch of industry-academia cooperation and collaborative
education projects in 2024, which was a record high, and a total of 127
projects were approved for the Gansu School, which is the highest among
the universities in Gansu Province. In terms of talent cultivation objectives,
the Group combined the societal needs with local industrial advantages to
build strong professional clusters. For example, new majors introduced at
Central China School in 2024, namely the major of dentistry (a national-
controlled major) and major of pet medical technology (specialist major),
were very popular among students. The minimum admission cut-off score
for dentistry major significantly exceeded the provincial admission score,
and the minimum admission score ranked first among similar colleges
and universities, with a 100% registration rate. Central China School also
plans to establish a major in veterinary medicine, further highlighting
its characteristics in medical higher education. The Group’s connotative
construction continues to reach higher level.

STRENGTHENING EMPLOYMENT SERVICES, “HIGH-QUALITY
EMPLOYMENT AS THE FOUNDATION OF THE SCHOOL”

U

Increasing high-quality investment to promote employment, promoting
full and quality employment through “Four Focused Efforts”

The Group has adhered to the principle of “high-quality employment is
the foundation of a school”, continuously increasing its investment in
employment.

Firstly, the Group conducted a series of “exploring enterprises, expanding
placement opportunities and enquiring needs” to expand the employment
channels for graduates. The Group organized a number of “exploring
enterprises, expanding placement opportunities and enquiring needs”
activities to gather suggestions from enterprises and employers during the
“enquiring needs” process to promote teaching reforms and enhance the
alignment of professional talent cultivation.

Secondly, the Group used the “Three Centers” as the guide to promote
high-quality employment. Through continuous promotion from the three
employment and entrepreneurship centers in the Yangtze River Delta, Pearl
River Delta and Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region (the “Three Centers”), more
than 1,900 employers from renowned enterprises have been engaged,
providing graduates with more than 27,000 internships, and more than
7,000 graduates from the class of 2024 have been employed by the
enterprises in the “Three Centers”.
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Thirdly, the Group continuously strengthened the employment workforce
to deploy a high-quality team with sufficient manpower. The Group
continuously increased investment in employment funding, with a focus
on supporting frontline staff in carrying out campus recruitment and other
activities. At the same time, recognition of outstanding staff was also
increased, along with training support for frontline staff.

Fourthly, the Group provided refined services and excelled in guiding
graduates. Graduates’ employment initiatives were launched in advance,
ensuring that all graduates received employment training and guidance.
Additionally, the Group held up to 22 employment training sessions over
the past year, focusing on the needs of enterprises and students, providing
employment services covering workplace etiquette, resume improvement,
and interview skills.

Continuous increasing in the proportion of high-quality employment,
with “good employment” becoming a renowned signature

The Group has always regarded employment quality as the criterion for
assessing its high-quality development. With the implementation of various
measures, the Group has achieved remarkable results in high-quality
employment, with continuous increase in its employment rate and high-
quality employment ratio. As of 31 December 2023, the final employment
rate for the 2023 graduates reached 96.97%, maintaining a high level
of employment rate for four consecutive years. As of 31 August 2024,
the initial employment rate for the 2024 graduates reached 95.09%,
representing a significant increase of 4.4 percentage points as compared
to last year, of which one out of every three graduates secured high-quality
employment, and the number of students employed by famous enterprises
such as the Fortune Global 500 companies, China’s Top 100 companies
and A-shares listed companies increased by 62% compared to the same
period of last year.

The Group’s schools have achieved fruitful employment-related awards.
The Group’s schools won a total of 444 employment awards over the
past 3 years, including 41 awards from the Department of Education and
the Department of Human Resources and Social Affairs, and 363 awards
from employment-related competitions. Among them, Yunnan School
and Guizhou School were approved as Provincial Demonstration Units of
Employment and Entrepreneurship for Graduates, and were selected by
Yunnan Province and Guizhou Province to participate in the assessment of
the National Demonstration Units. Yunnan School’s “Constructing an ‘Iron
Triangle’ Working Mechanism to Enhance the Effectiveness of Employment
Promotion for All Staff” was accredited as the Typical Case of Employment
of 2024 Graduates in Yunnan Province, and was the only private university
in Yunnan Province to be selected for three consecutive years.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHEHEEERA T
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THE CONCEPT OF SERVICE AND EDUCATION PENETRATES INTO THE
FRONT LINE, AND STUDENT SATISFACTION CONTINUES TO RISE

Since the establishment of Experience Management Department, the Group has
continuously focused on “student-oriented”, adhered to the principles of problem-
orientation and highlight-building, and formed a closed-loop model of experience
management by means of satisfaction surveys, student-teacher opinion platforms,
the Principal’s Reception Day, the Student Experience Committee, and peak-value
experience activity design, i.e. “Demand Collection” to “Problem Analysis” to
“Problem Handling” and finally “Effect Verification”. The experience management
module has been constructed to increase the high-quality of inputs, resulting
in improved service quality and the achievement of education goals. Student
satisfaction has increased for three consecutive years, with 86.4% of students
reported high level of satisfaction.

The Group has continued to implement the concept of service and education,
and enhanced the reputation of the schools and being recommended from
students and parents. The Group has continued to enrich campus activities
for students, focusing on the opening and graduation seasons and creating
the “peak experience” branded series of activities to enhance students’ sense
of participation, exclusivity and belonging, which have continued to increase
popularity among students. Meanwhile, in terms of campus life, which is of
concern to students, we have continued to build ‘five-star’ student flats, added
lifestyle services, shared kitchens, study rooms, and multifunctional spaces for
students, and also introduced high-quality and well-known branded merchants to
the campus, such as Luckin Coffee Master Shop, Starbucks Reserve Shop, Tmall
Supermarket, McDonald’s and KFC, etc., transforming and upgrading commercial
spaces to continuously enhance students’ living experience.

ALIGNING WITH THE INTERNATIONAL HIGH STANDARDS AND HIGH
QUALITY, CONTINUOUSLY CREATING A MORE BEAUTIFUL CAMPUS
ENVIRONMENT

The Group believes that a better campus environment is one of the important core
competencies under the vision of “building the most student-oriented university
with a century-long vision”. A beautiful campus environment enables students
to have a better learning outcomes and living experience, achieving a subtle
educational effect through the environment. Therefore, the Group has continued
to increase high-quality investment to create a first-class nurturing environment,
comprehensively enhancing the visual experience, which has been greatly
improved in various aspects such as campus planning, building upgrades, interior
remodeling and landscape layout. In the future, the schools will continue to align
with international standards and high quality to create a more beautiful campus
environment and fully leverage the “environment nurturing” effect, thereby further
supporting high-quality development.
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ENROLLMENT COMPETITIVENESS CONTINUED TO INCREASE AND THE
STUDENT STRUCTURE CONTINUED TO OPTIMIZE

In the 2024/2025 academic year, the total number of students in the Group’s
schools was approximately 139,000. The proportion of undergraduate students
has continued to increase, with the proportion of new undergraduate students
among all newly enrolled students increased by 4 percentage points, and the
proportion of undergraduate students in the total number of students increased
by 1 percentage point. In addition, the Group’s schools continued to expand their
national enroliment, with the proportion of cross-provincial enroliment steadily
increasing. Among them, the undergraduate program of the Northeast School out
of the provinces increased by 35% year-on-year. The minimum admission cut-off
scores for our schools far exceeded the provincial admission score. For example,
in the first year of enrollment for the major of dentistry at Central China School,
the minimum admission cut-off scores exceeded the provincial admission score by
44 points and the minimum admission score ranked first among similar schools,
with the registration rate of students reaching 100%. Guizhou School ranked
first in terms of the minimum admission cut-off score among similar schools
in the province in 2024. The Group’s enrollment competitiveness continues to
strengthen, achieving high-quality development results.

INSISTING ON ESG-LED, HIGH-QUALITY AND LONG-TERM SUSTAINABLE
DEVELOPMENT

The Group is committed to the environmental, social and governance (“ESG”)
philosophy and uses ESG as a guide to promote sustainable development, which
has been recognized by authorities and the capital market. Yunnan School was
selected as a “Green and Beautiful Campus” and a “Water-saving University”,
while Guizhou School and Central China School were also selected as “Water-
saving Universities”. Sustainable development of the Group has also been
recognized by the capital market. The Group received an ESG score of 36 for
the first time from Standard & Poor’s, one of the three major international rating
agencies, ranked the seventh in the world and the first in China in the industry,
and scored the highest in China’s education sector. At the same time, the Group
has been selected as a member of S&P Global’s “2024 Sustainability Yearbook
(China)”, making the Group the first and the only enterprise in the diversified
consumer industry to be included in the yearbook.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE OUTLOOK

THE HIGH-QUALITY DEVELOPMENT OF VOCATIONAL EDUCATION
RECEIVED PROLONGED SUPPORT BY THE POLICY

The Group continues to be supported by favorable policies and vocational
education has a bright future and great potential. In January 2024, the National
Education Work Conference has deployed “boosting the adaptability and appeal
of vocational education” as one of the key tasks. In March 2024, the Government
Work Report of the Two Sessions mentioned “vigorously improving the quality of
vocational education”. Meanwhile, during the Two Sessions, General Secretary
Xi Jinping emphasized that “we must improve vocational education in a real way,
establish the spirit of the craftsman, and cultivate front-line craftsmen from the
great power in batches.” In July 2024, the Third Plenary Session of the 20th
Central Committee of the Communist Party of China (CPC) passed the Resolution
of the CPC Central Committee on Further Deepening Reform Comprehensively to
Advance Chinese Modernization, which proposes to “accelerate the construction
of a high-quality education system, and push forward reforms in other aspects of
education including educational modes, the running of schools, the management
system, and the safeguard mechanism”. On 3 August 2024, the Opinions of the
State Council on Promoting High-Quality Development of Service Consumption
proposed “encouraging high-standard cooperation with internationally renowned
institutions of higher education in China”. On 15 September 2024, the Opinions
of the State Council of the CPC Central Committee on Implementing the Strategy
of Prioritizing Employment and Promoting High-Quality and Full Employment
emphasized that “the employment situation as an important basis for the
allocation of education resources, assessment of the quality of education, and the
arrangement of enroliment plans”.

The Group’s high-quality development strategy aligns perfectly with the direction
of policy support. With the support of favorable policies, Guizhou School’s
application to be an undergraduate-level university has been formally included
in the “14th Five-Year Plan” College Establishment Plan of Guizhou Province. At
present, construction of the third phase campus of Guizhou School is underway as
planned. The Group will continue to solidly promote major construction project of
upgrading Guizhou School to an undergraduate university to ensure the completion
of the relevant preparatory work with high quality and efficiency. Yunnan School
has successfully obtained provincial-level approval for the establishment of a new
master’s degree granting unit, becoming the first batch of private university in
Yunnan Province being approved for the establishment of such a new master’s
degree granting unit at the provincial level.
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FUTURE DEVELOPMENT: “THREE SUSTAINABILITY”
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Continue to follow the path of high-quality development

The Group has always insisted on being a long-term runner in the higher
education industry. The Group will continue to increase its investment
and steadfastly follow the path of high-quality development supported by
national policies to create and provide educational opportunities with high
quality teaching, high quality employment and high-quality experience for
students of all its schools.

Sustained and stable value creation under the ESG approach

The Group is committed to the ESG philosophy and uses ESG as a guide to
integrate financial indicators such as stable performance growth, steady
investment returns and abundant cash flow with ESG, so as to create value
in a sustained and steady manner, thereby realizing long-term benefits
and sustainable development, and achieving a win-win situation for both
investors and the Group in the long run.

Building the most student-oriented university with a century-long
vision and continuing to provide education that meets the satisfaction
of the people

In the face of the new development stage, new development pattern and
new development opportunities in higher education, with the mission of
“enabling every student to achieve career success and life fulfillment”,
the Group is committed to building the “most student-oriented university
with a century-long vision” and solidly execute the idea of “strengthening
morality through education, teaching students in accordance with their
aptitude and studying for the sake of application”. The Group will continue
to cultivate high-quality talents with applied and technical skills who have
comprehensive development in morality, intelligence, physical fitness,
aesthetics, and labor skills to meet the needs of local economic and social
development, so as to assist in the strengthening of education to support
our country and create greater values for the society, and to provide
education that meets the satisfaction of the people.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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HE2024F8ANBIFEREFRMHMIIEELS  The financial results for the year ended 31 August 2024 and the corresponding
wmr period in last year are as follows:
BETHRHLEEE
Year ended
2024 2023 F
8H31H 8 A31H #E
31 August 31 August
2024 2023 Change
AR¥EET NS = (%)
RMB million RMB million (%)
g A A Total revenue” 2,835.2 2,526.9 12.2%
(' ON Revenue 2,411.7 2,119.1 13.8%
F &R AR Cost of sales (1,535.6) (1,313.1) 16.9%
EF Gross profit 876.1 806.0 8.7%
H b W a5 Mg Other income and gains 423.5 407.8 3.8%
HERDHFAX Selling and distribution expenses (40.6) (35.8) 13.4%
THRX Administrative expenses (113.4) (95.7) 18.5%
HiFA X Other expenses (104.7) (92.8) 12.8%
A& AR Finance costs (127.9) (143.6) -10.9%
R i Al & R PROFIT BEFORE TAX 913.0 845.9 7.9%
A Income tax expense (157.0) (142.6) 10.1%
FFE Net profit 756.0 703.3 7.5%
EREEEFE Adjusted net profit* 772.0 7275 6.1%
A U = A+ E U e R 3 A Total revenue = revenue + other income and gains

# CRAEZFFBE=HZ2024F8 A3 B LEEFANHEARE ¢ Adjusted net profit = net profit of RMB756.0 million for the year ended 31 August 2024 plus

TS60EBILMEEPITEERATFERBIAARK1628E fair value loss of a swap derivative product of RMB16.2 million, minus exchange gain of RMBO.2
TR ETIREERER KR ARK0.2H BT (202381 million arising from the USD syndicated loans (FY2023: net profit of RMB703.3 million for
FHZE202F8ANBIEFEFMNBEARKEI033EE T the year ended 31 August 2023 plus exchange loss of RMB24.2 million arising from the USD
MEETHREERELBRARE24258T) syndicated loans)
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MANAGEHMEN'T DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

REVENUE

The Group’s revenue reached RMB2,411.7 million for the year ended 31 August
2024, increased by 13.8% as compared to RMB2,119.1 million of last year,
which was mainly attributable to steady growth of revenue from tuition fees and
boarding fees driven by leveraging the advantages of centralized school operation
and continuous high quality connotation development.

COST OF SALES

The Group’s cost of sales was RMB1,535.6 million for the year ended 31 August
2024, increased by 16.9% as compared to RMB1,313.1 million of last year,
which was primarily due to (1) an increase of 31.3% in teaching and learning
related costs as compared to last year as the Group has increased its investment
in teaching and learning to enhance the quality of teaching and learning for the
sake of high-quality development; (2) an increase of 15.7% in depreciation and
amortization costs as compared to last year as the Group continued to upgrade
and renovate its campus and upgrade its laboratory training equipment; and (3)
an increase of 12.1% in labor-related costs as compared to last year as the Group
continued to optimize the cost structure of teachers, enhance the remuneration
and benefits of core teaching positions, actively introduce double-high teachers
and strengthen the construction of a high quality teaching team.

GROSS PROFIT AND GROSS PROFIT MARGIN

The Group’s gross profit was RMB876.1 million for the year ended 31 August
2024, which was increased by 8.7% as compared to RMB806.0 million of last
year. The gross profit margin for the year ended 31 August 2024 was 36.3%,
representing a decrease of 1.7 percentage point as compared to the gross profit
margin of 38.0% of last year. The decrease was mainly due to the Group’s
adherence to a connotation development strategy and the increasing investment
in talents and teaching. As such, the growth of revenue for current stage was
temporarily lower than the growth of cost of sales. The development strategy,
which is based on high quality, will lay a solid foundation for its future organic
growth.

OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

The Group’s other income and gains reached RMB423.5 million for the year ended
31 August 2024, increased by 3.8% as compared to RMB407.8 million of last
year, which was mainly due to (1) the integration of the Group’s training resources
accumulated over the years, exploring best practices and actively providing
training services in vocational skills enhancement to the community and students,
leading to a 8.7% increase in service revenue year-on-year; and (2) leveraging on
the advantages of its centralized school operation to actively expand the rentable
area, resulting in a year-on-year increase of 7.9% in rental income.

SELLING AND DISTRIBUTION EXPENSES

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses were RMB40.6 million for the year
ended 31 August 2024, which was increased by 13.4% as compared to RMB35.8
million of last year. This increase was primarily attributable to the Group’s
continuous efforts to strengthen brand building and enhance its schools’ brand
image. The expenses accounted for approximately 1.4% of the Group’s total
revenue for the Reporting Period, which was flat with the historical level.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES

The Group’s administrative expenses were RMB113.4 million for the year ended
31 August 2024, increased by 18.5% as compared to RMB95.7 million of last
year, which was primarily due to (1) an increase in the provision for performance
bonus as the Group’s revenue growth exceeded expectations during the Reporting
Period; (2) an increase in business hospitality expenses as a result of increasing
efforts in exploring enterprises and enquiring about their needs to expand
employment channels.

OTHER EXPENSES

The Group’s other expenses were RMB104.7 million for the year ended 31 August
2024, which was increased by 12.8% as compared to RMB92.8 million of last
year. The increase was mainly attributable to a fair value loss of RMB16.2 million
incurred from a swap derivative product purchased by the Group during the
Reporting Period to hedge its exposure to the risks of fluctuations in exchange
rates and floating interest rates of USD loans, the fair value of which was affected
by the fluctuations in the forward US dollar exchange rates and the SOFR interest
rates, which affected the Group’s profit or loss during the Reporting Period.

FINANCE COSTS

The Group’s finance costs were RMB127.9 million for the year ended 31 August
2024, decreased by 10.9% as compared to RMB143.6 million of last year, which
was mainly due to the Group’s continuous efforts to expand its diversified loan
portfolio and control finance costs, resulting in a decrease in average interest
rate.

PROFIT BEFORE TAX

Due to the combined influence of revenue, costs and expenses above, the
Group recorded a profit before tax of RMB913.0 million for the Reporting Period,
representing an increase of 7.9% as compared to RMB845.9 million of last year.

NET PROFIT

Due to the combined effects of revenue, costs and expenses above, the net
profit of the Group was RMB756.0 million for the year ended 31 August 2024,
representing an increase of 7.5% as compared to RMB703.3 million of last year.

NON-HKFRS MEASURES

To supplement our consolidated financial statements presented under HKFRS,
we also use adjusted net profit as additional financial measures. The Company
considers that these non-HKFRS measures can eliminate the potential impact
of items that management believes are not reflective of the Group’s operating
performance and thus facilitate comparisons of operating performance from period
to period.
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The use of non-HKFRS measures has limitations as an analytical tool as these
measures do not include all items that affect our results in the related period. In
view of the limitations of the non-HKFRS measures above, readers should not read
the non-HKFRS measures in isolation or as an alternative to our profit for the year,
or any other measure of operating performance calculated in accordance with
HKFRSs, in assessing our operating and financial performance. In addition, as
these non-HKFRS measures may be calculated differently by different companies,
they should not be compared with similarly named measures used by other
companies.

The calculation of adjusted net profit is as follows:

BETHAHLEFE
Year ended
2024 2023 &
8H31H 8 H31H
31 August 2024 31 August 2023
ARBBEER ARBBEET
RMB million RMB million
= R HE Net profit 756.0 703.3
FARIEE - HATEE®R Adjusted item: Fair value loss of swap derivative
NFEIB % products 16.2 -
ETIREERER (W) B Exchange (gain)/loss arising from the USD
syndicated loans (0.2) 24.2
KT FE Adjusted net profit 772.0 7275
ESHRE TOTAL CAPITAL

HE202F8HAA AEEHESREARARE
2321 7B BT (2023F8 A31H : AR® 114868
BT BEoHBERBAeRRSEEY  MEK
R ZBREITFR I EFEK °

B 75 & R A AR b R

REENGFERTERNEMEREIZREREHE
BESER BREFRIENRPEEER &
F2024F8A3H  FFBERITERRHEMMETUAR
THEBBEAARMEI5048BE T (202358 A31H -
AR®B27183EE L) r HFUE L ENERA
80.0EEEL  HHUARESE -

EEAGBEREE2024F8 A3 HNBRITER
LEMEFARTEEAERABE - AEENEEE
& HAEAEREE2023F8A31BHRM2.4% FFAE
HE2024F8A3HN3E% TEHRAAEEA
MEREERRBENARASTERERLT A
B RIRAIEZERITER -

The total capital of the Group was RMB2,321.7 million as of 31 August 2024 (31
August 2023: RMB1,148.6 million), which equals to the aggregate of cash and
cash equivalents, pledged and restricted deposits and time deposits.

FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND GEARING RATIO

The Group’s interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings primarily consisted
of short-term working capital loans and long-term project loans for its school
buildings and facilities. The interest-bearing bank loans and other borrowings
as well as lease liabilities amounted to RMB3,504.8 million as of 31 August
2024 (31 August 2023: RMB2,718.3 million), among which US$80.0 million was
denominated in United States dollar, while the remaining was denominated in
Renminbi.

Interest-bearing debt equals to the total amount of interest-bearing bank loans
and other borrowings and lease liabilities as of 31 August 2024. The Group’s
interest-bearing debt/total assets increased from 29.4% as of 31 August 2023 to
31.8% as of 31 August 2024, which was mainly because the Group has retained
sufficient available funds to satisfy the need for continuous increase in investment
in high-quality development and has not repaid bank borrowings in advance.
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Net interest-bearing debt equals to the total interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings and lease liabilities net of total capital as of 31 August 2024. The
Group’s net interest-bearing debt/total equity decreased from 44.4% as of 31
August 2023 to 28.8% as of 31 August 2024, which was primarily attributable
to the combined effects of the decrease in the size of the Group’s net interest-
bearing liabilities and the increase in the amount of total equity.

Gearing ratio equals to the ratio of interest-bearing debt divided by total equity
as of 31 August 2024. The Group’s gearing ratio increased from 76.9% as of 31
August 2023 to 85.2% as of 31 August 2024, primarily due to the increase in the
scale of the Group’s interest-bearing liabilities.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURES

For the year ended 31 August 2024, the Group’s capital expenditures were
RMB920.8 million, which was primarily used for the construction of upgrading
Guizhou School to an undergraduate university, the construction of other schools’
buildings and facilities, land acquisition and purchase of furniture and equipment.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

The Group’s capital commitments were primarily used in the payment of
construction and maintenance of school buildings and purchase of facilities. The
following table sets out a summary of our capital commitments as of the dates
indicated:

gz Hz
202458 A 31H 202348 A 31 H
IEEE EFE
Year ended Year ended
31 August 31 August
2024 2023
ARBBEER AREEETT
RMB million RMB million
BT 4B R BHE Contracted but not provided for:
ME- - BERRKE Property, plant and equipment
—F AR Within one year 214.5 231.4
—FF Over one year 353.4 86.6
567.9 318.0

HE2024F8A3H  AEEVEMLMERERRK
HE L EPNC S

o

As of 31 August 2024, the Group had no significant capital commitment
authorized but not contracted for.
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DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FUTURE PLAN FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL
ASSETS

Save as disclosed in this report, the Group did not have any other plans for
material investments and capital assets since the end of the Reporting Period and
up to the date of this report.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, ACQUISITIONS AND
DISPOSALS

No other significant investments and acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries,
associates or joint ventures were made by the Group during the Reporting Period.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK MANAGEMENT

The functional currency of the Group is RMB and HKD. The majority of the Group’s
revenue and expenditures are denominated in RMB. As at 31 August 2024, certain
bank loans and bank balances were denominated in USD and HKD. The Group had
purchased call options with an underlying value of US$11 million in the year ended
31 August 2023, which have been exercised during the year ended 31 August
2024 and it has purchased a swap derivative product during the year ended 31
August 2024 to hedge its exposure to the risks of fluctuations in exchange rates
and floating interest rates of USD loans. In future, the management will continue
to pay attention on the Group’s foreign exchange risk exposure and consider
adopting prudent measures as appropriate.

PLEDGE OF ASSETS

The pledged assets of the Group as at 31 August 2024 are as follows:
(i) equity interests of the Group’s certain subsidiaries; and

(i) deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB928,105,000 as at 31 August
2024 (31 August 2023: RMB196,726,000).

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As of 31 August 2024, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities,
guarantee or any litigation or claims of material importance, pending or threatened
against any member of the Group.

OFF-BALANCE SHEET COMMITMENTS AND ARRANGEMENTS

As of the date of this report, the Group had not entered into any off-balance sheet
transactions.
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FAVOURABLE POLICIES TO FACILITATE THE DEVELOPMENT
OF PRIVATE HIGHER VOCATIONAL EDUCATION

On 12 October 2021, the General Office of the Chinese Communist Party Central
Committee and the General Office of the State Council issued the Opinions on
Promoting the High-quality Development of Modern Vocational Education ({8
REBERBEREREELRENER)) (the “Opinions”), and issued
a notice requiring serious implementation. The Opinions put forward that (1)
speeding up the establishment of the “vocational education college entrance
examination” system, to promote the vertical connection of vocational education
at different levels, and strengthen the penetration and integration of general
education and vocational education at all levels; (2) adherence to major national
strategies, to encourage schools setting up more scarce and market-oriented
majors; (3) improving the diversified school operation pattern, encouraging listed
companies and industry leading enterprises to establish vocational education,
and encouraging all kinds of enterprises to participate in the establishment of
vocational education according to law, to enrich the school operation forms of
vocational schools; (4) governments at all levels should coordinate the scale,
structure and level of vocational education and human resources development, and
include the integration of production and education into the economic and social
development plan. Local governments should take the promotion of enterprises’
participation in school-enterprise cooperation and the cultivation of technical and
skilled talents as the important contents of industrial development plans, industrial
incentive policies and rural revitalization plans, provide “financial + fiscal + land
+ credit” incentives to industry-education integrated enterprises, and implement
the relevant tax and fee policies in accordance with the regulations; (5) realizing
the innovation of school-enterprise cooperation mechanism, deepening the reform
of education and teaching, building the brand of vocational education with Chinese
characteristics, and exploring the international development mode of “Chinese +
vocational skills”.

In December 2021, the Opinions on the Authorization and Awarding of Bachelor’s
Degrees in Vocational Schools at the Undergraduate Level (€8 7 fif 4F 2N &l
BRABEERELEBMREEE T IENE R)) was issued by the
Academic Degree Office of the State Council, which makes it clear that the
authorization, awarding and management of bachelor’s degrees in vocational
education at the undergraduate level will be subject to the same rules as those
for general undergraduates, while highlighting the characteristics of vocational
education. The undergraduate-level vocational education degree certificate will
thus be given the same status as the general undergraduate degree in terms of
effectiveness and application value. The Group’s development direction has been
in line with the Group’s commitment to strengthen the educational characteristics
of vocational education, emphasize vocational competence and qualification, and
promote its high-quality development.
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In January 2022, four departments including the Ministry of Education issued
the “14th Five-Year Plan” for Vocational Skills Training which was the first “Five-
Year Plan” of vocational training of the Central Government, aiming to improve the
capability of workers and relieve the pressure of employment. Such policy sets
up key goals for the year of 2021 to 2025: (1) conducting subsidized vocational
training with no less than 75 million persons, in which no less than 30 million
persons for farmers; (2) no less than 40 million persons for newly obtained
vocational qualification certificates or vocational skill level certificates; (3) no less
than 200 of newly built public training bases. The higher education industry will
continue to benefit from the favorable policy on vocational education.

In February 2022, the Ministry of Education announced the work focus of
vocational education in 2022, proposed to promote fuller and higher quality
employment for college graduates, support and regulate the healthy development
of private education and accelerated the digital transformation and smart upgrade
of education. It is expected that the Group will continue to benefit from the
favorable policies of vocational education.

The Vocational Education Law promulgated by the Standing Committee of
the National People’s Congress in April 2022, which became effective on 1
May, clarifies that vocational education and general education have the same
important status, supports the social forces to extensively participate in vocational
education, fosters, guides and backs up enterprises and other social forces to
sponsor vocational schools and vocational training institutions in accordance
with the law, and encourages enterprises to participate deeply in the integration
of industry and education, as well as school-enterprise cooperation. The new
law also makes it clear that when government, public institutions, state-
owned enterprises are in the recruitment of technical skills positions, the level
of technical skills should be an important criteria and public institutions can
appropriately lower educational requirements when publicly recruit positions with
vocational skills level requirements. From which we can observe that the new law
continues the consistent policy direction of the state to support the development of
vocational education. And through the improvement of the protection mechanism
and measures of vocational education, it focuses on improving the recognition of
vocational education and the quality of technical skills personnel training. The new
law will definitely promote the high-quality development of vocational education,
and the higher vocational education groups will also welcome a new round of
development opportunities in a more sound and friendly legal environment.

In October 2022, Xi Jinping, the General Secretary of the Communist Party of
China (“CPC”) Central Committee, pointed out in the report to the 20th National
Congress of the Communist Party of China that China will continue to give high
priority to the development of education, build a strong educational system, and
move faster to build a high-quality educational system. It is clear that the focus of
vocational education, higher education, and continuing education is collaborative
innovation. China will promote integration between vocational education and
general education, between industry and education, and between science and
education. China will also better establish vocational education as a category in
the educational system, setting out the direction for the future development of
higher vocational education.
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In December 2022, the General Office of the CPC Central Committee and the
General Office of the State Council issued the Opinions on Deepening the Reform
of the Construction of Modern Vocational Education System, which put forward
the strategic tasks of exploring a new model for the construction of a modern
vocational education system at the provincial level, building a municipal industry-
education consortium and creating a community of industry-education fusion.
It also specifies the key tasks of enhancing the key school-running capacity of
vocational schools, strengthening the construction of “dual-teacher” teams,
building an open regional practice centre for integration of industry and education,
broadening the channels for students to grow up and become successful, and
innovating the mechanism of international exchanges and cooperation.

In March 2023, Premier Li Kegiang, on behalf of the State Council, made a
Report on the Work of the Government at the First Session of the Fourteenth
National People’s Congress, in which he proposed that over the past five years,
the development of vocational education has achieved remarkable results, the
adaptability of vocational education has been enhanced, and the conditions of
operation of vocational schools have continued to improve, and proposed, among
the priorities of this year’'s work, to promote the high-quality and balanced
development of compulsory education and the integration of urban and rural
areas, to develop vocational education vigorously and to promote the innovation of
higher education.

In June 2023, the National Development and Reform Commission, the Ministry
of Education, the Ministry of Industry and Information Technology, the Ministry
of Finance, the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security, the Ministry
of Natural Resources, the People’s Bank of China and the State-owned Assets
Supervision and Administration Commission of the State Council issued the
Implementation Plan for the Enhancement of Empowerment Initiatives for Industry-
education Integration in Vocational Education (2023-2025) ({ Bk ¥ % & E % &t
AHBEIRTITENE i 5 = (2023-2025 £F))), with the aim of integrating and
promoting the coordinated development of education and industry, innovating and
building platforms and carriers for industry-education integration, successively
advancing the pilot projects for the construction of industry-education integration,
and perfecting and implementing the combined incentives and empowerment
policy system, so as to further lead industry-education integration to make deepen
reforms. The implementation plan expects that by 2025, there are about 50 pilot
cities for industry-education integration in the PRC. With giving full play to the
breakthrough and leading role of pilot cities, more than 10,000 enterprises for
industry-education integration will be established and cultivated nationwide. A
development pattern of coordinated integration and benign interaction between
education and industry will be gradually formed after improving and perfecting
the system of enterprises for industry-education integration and the combined
incentive policy system, a steady increase in investment in vocational education
from various funding channels, and better integrating industrial needs into the
entire cultivation process of talent development.
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In July 2023, the General Office of the Ministry of Education issued the Notice
on Accelerating the Reform of the Construction of Modern Vocational Education
System, deploying 11 key tasks for the reform of the construction of modern
vocational education system, accelerating the construction of a new mechanism
for the high-quality development of vocational education that involves interaction
between the central government and the local government, regional linkage, and
collaboration between government, industry, enterprises, and schools, so as to
promote the reform of the construction of modern vocational education system in
an orderly and effective manner.

In March 2024, Premier Li Qiang, on behalf of the State Council, made a Report
on the Work of the Government at the Second Session of the Fourteenth National
People’s Congress. The report proposed to guide and regulate the development
of private education, vigorously improve the quality of vocational education,
implement pilot comprehensive reforms of higher education, optimise the
structural layout of disciplines, majors and resources, accelerate the construction
of world-class universities with Chinese characteristics and advantageous
disciplines, strengthen applied undergraduate colleges and enhance operating
capabilities of colleges in the central western region.

RECENT DEVELOPMENTS OF REGULATORY FRAMEWORK
() ~ CLASSIFIED REGISTRATION

According to the Several Opinions of the State Council on Encouraging
Social Powers to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development
of Private Education (29 December 2016), a classified registration and
management system shall be applicable to private schools, and private
school sponsors can choose to run non-profit or for-profit private schools.
The revised Laws for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (implemented
on 1 September 2017) also promulgated the same provisions.

According to the Implemental Rules on Private School Classified
Registration (30 December 2016), if an existing private school chooses
to register as a non-profit private school, it should modify its articles of
association, continue to run the school and complete new registration
procedures in accordance with relevant laws. If it chooses to register as a
for-profit private school, it should conduct financial settlement, clarify the
ownership of school land, school premises, school accumulation, and pay
related taxes and fees, obtain a new permit in running a school, re-register
and continue the operations for education.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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In order to further implement the above requirements, government and
relevant competent departments in the region where the Group runs
schools have successively issued supporting measures, including (1)
Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government of Yunnan
Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to Promote the
Healthy Development of Private Education (18 December 2017), Notice of
the Five Departments including Education Department of Yunnan Province
on Steady and Orderly Promotion of Classified Registration and Management
of Private Schools (12 June 2019); (2) Implementation Opinions Issued by
the People’s Government of Guizhou Province on Supporting and Regulating
Social Forces to Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of
Private Education (3 August 2018), Measures for the Implementation of
Classified Examination and Approval of Registration and Supervision and
Management of Private Schools in Guizhou Province (Trial) (11 June 2019),
Measures for Changing the Type of Legal Person Registration of Existing
Private Schools in Guizhou Province (22 August 2022); (3) Implementation
Opinions Issued by Heilongjiang Province on Encouraging Social Powers to
Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education,
Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration of Private
Schools in Heilongjiang Province, and Measures for the Supervision and
Administration of For-profit Private Schools in Heilongjiang Province (26
February 2019); (4) Implementation Opinions of the People’s Government
of Gansu Province on Further Promoting the Healthy Development of
Private Education (8 November 2017), Measures for the Implementation of
Classified Registration of Private Schools in Gansu Province (15 November
2018); (5) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government
of Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region on Encouraging Social Powers to
Set up Education to Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education
(2 July 2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration
of Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (10 October
2018), Measures for the Implementation of Supervision and Administration
of For-profit Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (16
October 2018), Measures for the Implementation of Classified Registration
of Existing Private Schools in Guangxi Zhuang Autonomous Region (19 April
2022); (6) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government
of Hubei Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to
Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (20 December
2017); (7) Implementation Opinions Issued by the People’s Government
of Henan Province on Encouraging Social Powers to Set up Education to
Further Promote the Healthy Development of Private Education (2 February
2018).

The above local regulations only provide a procedural framework for the
classified registration of existing private schools in relevant provinces as
for-profit private schools or non-profit private schools, but do not further
specify the various preferential taxes and land use policies that can be
enjoyed by for-profit and non-profit schools.
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(In

As of the date of this report, except that the Northeast School, Guangxi
Schools, Yunnan School and Guizhou School are currently in the process
of classified registration according to the guidance of the relevant
provincial authorities, the Company has not commenced the process of
classified registration for other schools under the Group. However, due
to the uncertainties in the interpretation and application of the above
requirements, there are uncertainties as to when the private schools under
the Group can complete the classified registration, whether the relevant
taxes and fees will need to be paid in accordance with local supporting
rules in the process of classified registration in the future, and what kind
of tax and land use policies and other aspects of government supports
such schools will enjoy in the future. The Group will continue to pay close
attention to any further development on the application of the above
requirements.

THE 2021 IMPLEMENTATION RULES

On 14 May 2021, the State Council promulgated the Implementation
Rules for the Laws for Promoting Private Education of the PRC (the “2021
Implementation Rules”), which has been implemented since 1 September
2021. The 2021 Implementation Rules stipulate that: (1) private schools
may enjoy the preferential tax policies stipulated by the State, among which
non-profit private schools may enjoy the same preferential tax policies as
public schools; (2) for the construction or expansion of non-profit private
schools, the local people’s governments shall grant preferential treatments
in terms of land use by means of allocation in accordance with the principle
of treating nonprofit private schools equally as public schools. For the land
use of private schools that implement preschool education and education
for academic credentials, the governments may provide lands by means of
agreement, bidding, auction and etc. according to the laws. Lands may also
be supplied by long-term lease, lease and assignment, and combination of
sale and rental. Charges for the assignment or rental of land may be paid in
instalments within the specified time limit as agreed in the contract.

The 2021 Implementation Rules do not involve specific provisions on
preferential taxation and land use policies. Therefore, there are still
uncertainties as to what kind of tax and land use policies and other aspects
of government supports the private schools under the Group will enjoy in
the future.
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The 2021 Implementation Rules further stipulate that: (1) the State
encourages enterprises to establish or participate in the establishment
of private schools that implement vocational education in various forms,
such as sole proprietorship, joint venture or cooperation according to law;
institutions that implement nationally recognized educational examinations,
vocational qualification examinations and vocational skill level examinations
shall comply with the relevant provisions of the State in the establishment
or participation in the establishment of private schools related to the
examination implemented by them; (2) private schools that provide
compulsory education are not allowed to enter into transactions with their
interested parties, and other private schools shall conduct transactions with
their interested parties in a manner that is open, justified and fair, shall
price such transactions reasonably, shall establish standardized decision-
making for such transactions and shall not harm the interests of the
State, schools and teachers and students. Private schools shall set up an
information disclosure mechanism for dealing with their interested parties.
The relevant governmental authorities, such as the education department,
the human resources and social security departments and the financial
departments, shall strengthen the supervision of the agreements entered
into between non-profit private schools and their interested parties, and
shall review the connected transactions annually; (3) if the sponsor is a
legal person, its controlling shareholder and the actual controller must
meet the requirements stipulated by laws and administrative regulations
for the establishment of a private school, and any change of the controlling
shareholder or the actual controller must be reported to the competent
department for record-filing and publicity. Any social organizations and
individuals shall not control private schools which provide compulsory
education or non-profit private schools which implement preschool
education through mergers and acquisitions or contractual agreements; and
(4) the start-up capital and registered capital of a private school shall be
compatible with the type, level and scale of the school and shall be paid in
full when it is formally established.

Pursuant to the 2021 Implementation Rules, the Group is not prohibited
from acquiring non-profit private schools providing higher education
services or controlling them through structured contracts. As the Group has
no plans to acquire private schools providing compulsory education or non-
profit private schools providing preschool education, we do not consider
that the 2021 Implementation Rules will have any adverse impact on the
Group’s future acquisitions.

The Structured Contracts may be considered as transactions with interested
parties of private schools under the Group, and we may incur significant
compliance costs due to the establishment of a disclosure mechanism.
If the private school under the Group chooses to register as a non-
profit private school, the competent government department shall review
its relevant transactions annually. These processes may not be under
our control and may be very complex and cumbersome, and may divert
management attention. During the review process, government departments
may require us to modify or terminate the Structured Contracts, which may
lead to penalties, resulting in a material adverse impact on the operation of
the Structured Contracts.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the 2021 Implementation Rules.
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FOREIGN INVESTMENT LAW

The Foreign Investment Law of the PRC ({FP ZE A R £ FIE SN e 18 &
J&)) (the “Foreign Investment Law”) approved by the National People’s
Congress on 15 March 2019 has been implemented since 1 January 2020,
and has become the basic law for foreign investment in China. According
to this law, existing foreign-invested enterprises may maintain their existing
organization structure within five years from the effective date of the
Foreign Investment Law.

On 26 December 2019, the State Council issued the Implementation
Regulations of the Foreign Investment Law of the PRC (the “Implementation
Regulations”), which also came into effect on 1 January 2020, aiming to
implement the legislative principles and purposes of the Foreign Investment
Law.

The Foreign Investment Law clearly specifies three forms of foreign
investment, but neither the Foreign Investment Law nor the Implementation
Regulations explicitly stipulate contractual agreements as a form of
foreign investment. As confirmed by our PRC Legal Advisors, as the
Foreign Investment Law and the Implementation Regulations do not
define contractual agreements as a form of foreign investment, if future
laws, administrative regulations, and regulations of the State Council
do not include contractual agreements as a form of foreign investment,
the Structured Contracts as a whole and the agreements constituting
the Structured Contracts will not be affected, and will continue to be
legally valid, effective and binding on the parties. However, if future laws,
administrative regulations, and regulations of the State Council stipulate
contractual agreements as one of the ways of foreign investment, the Group
may need to take relevant measures in accordance with the requirements
of the laws, regulations and regulations of the State Council at that time.
There will be uncertainty as to whether we can complete these measures
in a timely manner or at all. Failure to take appropriate measures in a
timely manner to address any of the compliance requirements in the above
provisions may have a significant effect on our current group structure,
corporate governance and business operations.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the Foreign Investment Law.

The Board will continue to monitor any updates regarding the Foreign
Investment Law and seek guidance from our PRC Legal Advisors to ensure
that the Company meets all relevant laws and regulations in China.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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(Iv) THE TRIAL ADMINISTRATIVE MEASURES OF OVERSEAS
SECURITIES OFFERING AND LISTING BY DOMESTIC COMPANIES

On 17 February 2023, the China Securities Regulatory Commission
(the “CSRGC”) released five supporting guidelines including the Trial
Administrative Measures of Overseas Securities Offering and Listing by
Domestic Companies (3R A EBINEITESF M EmEERTT
#5%)) (the “Overseas Listing Trial Measures”), which came into effect
on 31 March 2023. The Overseas Listing Trial Measures will regulate
both direct and indirect overseas offering and listing of PRC domestic
companies’ securities by adopting a filing-based regulatory regime. On the
same day, the CSRC also held a press conference for the release of the
Overseas Listing Trial Measures and issued the Notice on Administration
for the Filing of Overseas Offering and Listing by Domestic Companies ({23
PRIEADFIRIINET LT EREE L HEAMAD), which, among
others, clarified that the domestic companies that have already been
listed overseas on or before the effective date of the Overseas Listing Trial
Measures (i.e. 31 March 2023) shall be deemed as existing applicants (1
= 1 %), or the Existing Applicants. Existing Applicants are not required
to complete the filling procedures immediately, and they shall be required
to file with the CSRC when subsequent matters such as refinancing are
involved. The Overseas Listing Trial Measures also requires subsequent
reports to be filed with the CSRC on material events, such as change of
control or voluntary or forced delisting of the issuer(s) who have completed
overseas offerings and listings.

As at the date of this report, the Company’s operations have not been
affected by the Overseas Listing Trial Measures.

PAYMENT OF FINAL DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMB0.233 per Share for the year ended 31 August 2024 (for the year ended 31
August 2023: RMB0.096 per Share).

The proposed final dividend will be payable wholly in form of Scrip Shares.
The Group is of the view that facing changes in social demographics such as
declining birth rates and increasing demands from students for higher educational
background, the future competition in the higher education market will further
intensify. It is necessary to continuously enhance the level of school operation,
improve teaching standards, and enhance service quality to address the impact of
decreasing demand in the future. Therefore, the Group will continue to increase
investment to seize the current opportunities for vocational schools to upgrade to
undergraduate universities, as well as undergraduate universities to apply for the
right to grant master’s degrees, in order to achieve long-term sustainable high-
quality development. The Group believes that this extraordinary Scrip Dividend
Scheme is in the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole. While
protecting Shareholders’ returns, it can conserve cash for the Group’s business
development and operational needs, and avoid the increase in the Group’s gearing
ratio. It is expected that the Scrip Dividend Scheme will enhance the trading
liquidity of the Shares.
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The proposed final dividend will be declared in Renminbi and calculated in Hong
Kong dollars. The exchange rate adopted for conversion was the average middle
exchange rate published by the People’s Bank of China of the five business
days prior to the declaration of the final dividend (i.e. 21 November 2024 to 27
November 2024) (RMB1.0 to HK$1.08182). Accordingly, the amount of the final
dividend calculated in Hong Kong dollars will be HK$0.25206 per Share.
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Interim dividend (RMB)
Proposed final dividend (RMB)
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The Scrip Dividend Scheme is conditional upon (i) the approval of the final
dividend by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Thursday, 13 February 2025; and (ii) The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited granting the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Scrip
Shares to be issued pursuant to the Scrip Dividend Scheme.

A circular giving full details of the Scrip Dividend Scheme is expected to be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.xingaojiao.com) in March 2025. It is expected that the final
dividend share certificates for the Scrip Shares will be despatched on or around
17 April 2025 to the eligible Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of
Members of the Company on 17 March 2025.

CLOSURE OF THE REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the annual general meeting
to be held on Thursday, 13 February 2025, the register of members of the
Company will be closed from Monday, 10 February 2025 to Thursday, 13 February
2025, both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of Shares will be
registered. In order to be qualified for attending and voting at the annual general
meeting, all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates
must be lodged with the Company’s share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare
Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712—1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell
Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong for registration not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 7 February 2025.

In order to ascertain the shareholders’ entitlement to the final dividend (except
the holder of treasury shares (if any)), the register of members of the Company
will be closed from Wednesday, 12 March 2025 to Monday, 17 March 2025,
both days inclusive, during which period no transfer of shares of the Company
will be effected. In order to be qualified for the final dividend, all share transfer
documents accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
with the Group’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712—-1716, 17th
Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later
than 4:30 p.m. on Tuesday, 11 March 2025.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (2= 2 ¥F), aged 50, the founder of the Group, master degree
in business administration (MBA), senior economist. He was appointed as the
Chairman of the Board and an executive Director on 8 July 2016. Mr. Li has
more than 25 years of experience in education and is responsible for the overall
management and strategic development of the Group.

The following table sets out the key working experience of Mr. Li:

H & AT B 7%
Period Company Position
1999 £F 2 2004 £F Bl uh ==
1999 to 2004 Training Station Director
2005F =45 EEE *E
2005 to present Yun Ai Group Chairman

2016 F =5
2016 to present

FEFSHEEEGR QA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

EESXE POES
Chairman of the Board, Executive Director

FRER02F1AZETEARBAGEEZSE
THEZHEZESELZE - BREN2010F3/EFEF
BERf#EHTEAI TR WHR2018F2 85
FEARANBESFTIZE2EARRERERE -
HHRARBRMAZ (B BHAFEER HEH
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BEEE -

THRAER2000FI0AMESREBEMER - =54
ER20100F6 AR RERAEER TREEBE LT
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Mr. Li became a member of the 14th session of the National Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference in January 2023. He became
the first vice chairman of The China Association for Non-Government Education
in March 2010, and a member of the Thirteenth National People’s Congress of
People’s Republic of China in February 2018. He is currently the vice chairman of
the Association of Universities (Colleges) of Applied Science, the vice chairman of
The China Association for Non-Government Education and the managing director
of The Chinese Society for Technical and Vocational Education.

Mr. Li obtained the qualification as senior economist in October 2009. Mr. Li was
awarded a master’s degree in business administration from Nankai University (8
fH K 22), the PRC, in June 2010.
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Mr. Zhao Shuai (& Bb), aged 44, joined the Group in April 2004, and was
appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company and an executive Director
on 19 August 2016. Mr. Zhao has nearly 20 years of experience in education and
is responsible for setting annual operational targets and daily management.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Zhao:

R NG| ek 7%
Period Company Position
2004 F 4 AZ= 20084 8 A EMER BEEMR

April 2004 to August 2008 Yunnan School

ZEPR
Yunnan School

2008 F 9 HE 2014 3 A
September 2008 to March 2014

ZEEHE

Yun Ai Group

2014F 4 A E2015F 4 A
April 2014 to April 2015

BB

Guizhou School

2015F 5 HE 20163 A
May 2015 to March 2016

ZEEHE

Yun Ai Group

2016 F3AZES
March 2016 to present

2016 F &5
2016 to present

TR SHEEEGR QA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

Student recruitment director

2lbr &
Associate dean

17 AR 48 e 38

General manager of administration department
Wik &

Executive dean

=R B
Senior president

BEERTERNTES

Chief executive officer and executive Director
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Mr. Zhao obtained the qualification as senior economist in December 2013. He
was awarded a bachelor’s degree in Mechanical Engineering Automation from
Kunming University of Science and Technology (& B 32 T K £2), the PRC, in
July 2004, and a master’s degree in software engineering at Jilin University (&
PRAER) in June 2017.

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (BR £3%), aged 55, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 August 2019, and was re-designated as the executive
Director on 10 December 2024. He served in the Yunnan Provincial Committee of
CPPCC (EEE B Z &) during 2013 to 2018, served as the vice chairman
of the Yunnan Province Youth United Association (Em & & F A €8 T [F)
from 2010 to 2018 as well as the chairman founder of the Hongkong-Yunnan-
Macau-Taiwan Youth Exchange Association (28R 4 F F X R EE) in
2010. He is currently the life honorary chairman of The Y. Elites Association (&

P

BERESKEBZBEBTFE), the vice president of the Yunnan Chinese Overseas
Friendship Association (3% F8 8 YMNEiEsE & &) & &), a member of the Standing
Committee of the CPPCC Yunnan Province (& B 17 & Z ) and the president
of the Association of Hong Kong and Macau Members of CPPCC In Yunnan
Province Ltd (£ F8 & I 0 /5 R & B B 38 & & &). He holds a bachelor’s

degree in Economics from Jinan University (2 5 A 22) o

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH =X EEERA T



BAFHITES

BERFSLE 595 R2017F3A20BEZTA
AARBYUIFERTES - BLERTMNEERME
DR EEAMBSHEABIOF LR - BALERTH
HEeBERMNBERAR(—HEAERZAMETZA
B RHOARR 1636) MMTES  TEHDPER
REEER - I E 201497 A 16 B BB IE B R BB
BRERBMR AR (BRMARSE 1165« H20114F8
A6 RIEATEHEREBRZERAR AR (BRMH AR :
1028) - B 201146 A8 A IETIEMRBHEIERBR
AAE (A ATBIRMIZERBERAR ROHRIR:
1146) X B 201943 B15H BT R T EBIERER A
RAR (FIBANR A EGBRIZERER AT K&
MR 1797 B IFENTES IBZFAAF
D AIE201197H138 ~ 201149 A23H - 2011 £
12 A9H %2019 3 A28 H B X P £ 4k £ o &6
EEBEEERREFERATNABE  Z2AH
EFFEERM L2007 FE12 AR 2012F10 ARNHL
BELZXDHT LT - 2006 FMAEERRERA
FRA AR R 2004F3 A £ 200657 A & HTE
SEHFBATBAERLATRERTES AL
AREBFEEERTFRAREERATSEEE - BEER
2002 FB2003F EAFZHEMERDANEER
R1997 F E2003F A E XM B A LE - %
P17 FEXRN KRB RETEERE L BN
% P10 FERHEEBK BT ERAD o Bk
ERAARBLBEBHETeMBe kEaEg

HAATEE -

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (B {& 15), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 20 March 2017. Mr. Kwong has more than
10 years of experience in corporate finance and equity capital markets in Asia.
Mr. Kwong is currently an executive director of China Metal Resources Utilization
Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1636), in charge of
its corporate and strategic development. He has also been an independent non-
executive director of Shunfeng International Clean Energy Limited (stock code:
1165) since 16 July 2014, C.banner International Holdings Limited (stock code:
1028) since 26 August 2011, Huicheng International Holdings Limited (formerly
known as China Outfitters Holdings Limited, stock code: 1146) since 8 June 2011
and East Buy Holding Limited (formerly known as Koolearn Technology Holding
Limited, stock code: 1797) since 15 March 2019, all of which are listed on the
Main Board of the Stock Exchange since 13 July 2011, 23 September 2011,
9 December 2011 and 28 March 2019, respectively. Mr. Kwong was the president
of Gushan Environmental Energy Limited, a company whose American depositary
shares were listed on the New York Stock Exchange, from December 2007 to
October 2012. Prior to joining Gushan Environmental Energy Limited in 2006,
he was the managing director of investment banking and he held the position as
the head of Hong Kong and China equity capital markets at CLSA Equity Capital
Markets Limited from March 2004 to July 2006. Mr. Kwong was a director from
2002 to 2003, and the general manager of the corporate finance department
from 1997 to 2003 for Cazenove Asia Limited. After graduating from University
of Cambridge, England with a bachelor’s degree in Arts in 1987, he qualified as
a chartered accountant in the United Kingdom in 1990. Mr. Kwong is currently an
associate member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter (¥ ¥ ), aged 55, was appointed as an independent
non-executive Director on 26 August 2019. Dr. Pang received his master’s
degree in business administration from University of Western Sydney in 1999.
He also obtained a degree of doctor of philosophy in business administration
from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in 2010 as well as a post-
doctorate from University of Oxford in 2015. He is a fellowship member of CPA
Australia, and fellowship member of the Financial Services Institute of Australasia,
and a member of the expert committee of the task group of “Financial Regulation
and Financial Reform and Development Strategy” in the Institute of Finance of
the Development Research Center of the State Council (B 7 P 2% & #f 75 P
DERARM2RETEHSANELREK] REEEREE
&), and has been a council member of the Guangdong Council for Investment
and Development (Foshan, Guangdong) (E R B E R REE S (BE -
f# 1L1) ) since 2017. Dr. Pang has over 30 years of experience in banking,
financial and consulting industry and has served in senior management positions
in various renowned financial institutions. From 1993 to 1998, he was the head
of the settlement department of Dresdner Bank (Hong Kong). From 1998 to 2003,
he worked in the department of capital operation and business management in
Northeast Asia region of the Standard Chartered Bank. From 2003 to 2005, he
served as the senior manager in BearingPoint Management Consulting (formerly
KPMG Management Consulting) (Beijing). He was the head of operation design
and development department of Dah Sing Financial Group (Hong Kong) from
2005 to 2006. From 2006 to 2014, he served as the consulting partner of
global financial market in China in Deloitte Management Consulting (Beijing). He
then served as leading partner of financial business in China for Roland Berger
Strategic Consulting (Beijing) from 2014 to 2016. He was the external senior
advisor to Zhangjiakou Financial Holding Group (Beijing, Zhangjiakou) from 2016
to 2018. He served as an independent director at Metropolitan Bank (China) from
2017 to 2018, and was re-invited to the board of directors by the bank as an
independent director starting from August 2020, where he chaired its Related
Party Transactions Control Committee and is currently chairing the bank’s Risk
Management Committee. During late 2018, he was also the general manager
headed the group risk management department of Citic Bank (International). He
was the partner, head of financial industry consulting and investment services
in China and Beijing office head of YCP Solidiance Strategy and Management
Consultant from October 2019 to June 2020. He is the founder and currently a
director of Liquid Gold Development Strategy Co., Ltd. (F& 1% 2% & & B& B IR
‘X &]). Dr. Pang has been appointed as an independent director of Sumitomo
Mitsui Banking Corporation (China) Limited since 1 January 2023, and is currently

E\ o
chairing its audit committee.
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Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (£ %), aged 44, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 10 December 2024. Ms. Wong holds a Bachelor’'s Degree
of Business Administration with High Distinction from the University of Michigan
in the United States. She completed the Global Directorship Program jointly
organized by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors and the University of Cambridge
Sustainability Leadership Program.

Ms. Wong has more than 20 years of experience in finance and corporate
management, and has served as a member of senior management in several
prominent companies. She had been the chief executive director of PURE Group in
2024 and was responsible for overseeing day-to-day operations and formulating
strategy to drive business growth. Prior to joining PURE Group, from 2021 to 2023,
she was the chief strategy officer, chief investment officer and executive director
of EC Healthcare, a company listed on Stock Exchange) (stock code: 2138), where
she was responsible for the company’s acquisitions and corporate strategy, as
well as the implementation of environmental, social and governance strategies.
From 2014 to 2021, Ms. Wong progressed from deputy chief executive officer to
chief executive officer and executive director of Champion REIT, a company listed
on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 2778), formulating the company’s strategic
direction and supervising daily operations. She held investment banking positions
at leading global financiers including Citibank (2006-2014) and J.P. Morgan
(2003-2006), where she provided strategic advices to listed companies, and
executed numerous landmark initial public offerings, capital market fund-raising
and merger and acquisition transactions.

Ms. Wong’s outstanding leadership skills have been widely recognized and she
has won multiple accolades from various renowned organizations, including:
Distinguished Sustainability Leadership Award from Hong Kong Management
Association (2021), the Best CEO from Asset ESG Corporate Awards (2020), Asia’s
Best CEO from Corporate Governance Asia (for four consecutive years from 2017
to 2020), Outstanding Director Award — Executive Director of a Listed Company
from Hong Kong Institute of Directors (2018), Best Investor Relations by CEO from
Hong Kong Investor Relations Association (for five consecutive years from 2017 to
2021) and many other awards. She served as the chairperson of the Hong Kong
Chapter Board of the Asia Pacific Real Asset Association from 2018 to 2021. She
is also a fellow of the Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and a fellow of the
Hong Kong Institute of Directors.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Ms. Liu Fengming (2l /& BF), aged 54, joined the Group in September 2002,

She was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016 and
was appointed as a senior vice president on 4 December 2020.

TR B L LW T ET LS

The following table shows the key working experience of Ms. Liu:

B AT B 7%
Period Company Position
2002 9 A = 2003 F 10 A 53l uh HENRHAEFE

September 2002 to October 2003

2003 10 A £ 200541 A
October 2003 to January 2005

200561 A= 20113 A
January 2005 to March 2011

20113 A= 201569 A
March 2011 to September 2015

20159 A= 20167 A
September 2015 to July 2016

2016 F7AES
July 2016 to present

Training Station

FiEBhR
Zhuan Xiu School

BEER
Yunnan School

His 2k
Zhuan Xiu School

It R A

Beijing Lianhe

EEEM
Yun Ai Group

Teacher and director of education research office

HEBEARIRE
Director of education department and vice principal

2lbt &
Associate dean

bt &
Dean

iR
General manager

BlAaEL

Vice president

BlAaEL

Vice president

2016 F 8 H = 2020 F 12 A
August 2016 to December 2020

TEFSHREEEGR QA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

2020F 12 &S
December 2020 to present

TEFSHREEEGR LA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

=B BE
Senior vice president

B2 T R2009F 12 HEFBHEMAEZEERIEHE
BELTEMN RR17TF1I2AKSERET KE
ERERESETESELBA - HR2012F11 88
EHEMBELESASERNBSIEZESM
Lol EBEMmER TR2013F10AEEFRES
RYMBREN BT EZETIEEHER -

Ms. Liu was awarded a master’'s degree in business administration from Yunnan
University, the PRC, in December 2009, and awarded a doctorate degree in
management science and engineering at Kunming University of Science and
Technology in December 2017. She obtained the qualification as senior economist
from Yunnan Township Enterprise Senior Professional and Technical Position
Evaluation Committee in November 2012 and the qualification as associate
professor from Yunnan Higher Education Institution Professor and Associate
Professor Evaluation Committee in October 2013.
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TREINFREENT R TIELER

Mr. Xu Xiaogiang (& /> 38), aged 45, joined the Group as a senior vice
president in November 2020. He has more than 10 years of experience in the
education industry as well as strong experience in administration and management
in listed companies. He has been the vice chairman and the secretary general of
the Higher Education Professional Committee of The China Association for Non-
Government Education since January 2021.

Prior to joining the Group, from April 2019 to November 2020, Mr. Xu served
as a director and vice executive general manager of Dalian My Gym Education
Technology Co., Ltd. (K383 & 3 5 BHE AR D AR 2 71) (formerly known
as Dalian Sunlight Machinery Co., Ltd. X i# = £ # 28 i% 7 & [R 2 7]) (stock
code: 002621.SZ). From November 2017 to January 2019, he served as a vice
general manager of Dalian Sunlight Machinery Co., Ltd. (X 8 = & # 25 i% {7
B BR A &) (stock code: 002621.57) and served as director and vice executive
general manager from January 2019 to April 2019.

From June 2004 to September 2017, he worked in the Department of
Development Planning of the Ministry of Education of the PRC.

Mr. Xu graduated from Zhejiang University in July 2001 with a bachelor’s degree
in Engineering Mechanics, and he received a master’s degree in Fluid Mechanics
from Zhejiang University in April 2004. Currently, he is studying for an Executive
Master of Business Administration (EMBA) degree in the School of Economics and
Management in Tsinghua University.

Mr. Qin Hongkang (2= Z E), aged 48, joined the Group in December 2004, and
was appointed as a vice president of the Company on 19 August 2016.

The following table shows the key working experience of Mr. Qin:

R NG| Be 7%
Period Company Position
19994 7 A= 20045 12 A B & AL tefELE EZEFERMEHEET

July 1999 to December 2004

ZEBER
Yunnan School

2004 F 12 A = 2009F 11 A
December 2004 to November 2009

BB

Guizhou School

2009F 12 H £ 2013F 12 A
December 2009 to December 2013

201312 AEH S
December 2013 to present

EERHE

Yun Ai Group

2016 F8AZES
August 2016 to present

Dianchi Morning News Agency

TR SHEEEGR QA
China New Higher Education Group Limited

Reporter of social news, director of important news
and economic news

2lbr &
Associate dean

WITk &
Executive dean

Bl
Vice president

Bl
Vice president

FREAER2008FIRMRRESRPRBFEIELZE
CRGSHEMER - HN1999FE7 AP EEmRG K2
EREREELEN -

Mr. Qin obtained the qualification as lecturer from Intermediate Title Evaluation
Committee* (R R Bk THF 22 & B &) of Software College in September 2008.
He was awarded a bachelor’s degree in applied chemistry from Yunnan University
(E/ A E), the PRC, in July 1999.
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Mr. Zhang Yan (3R &), aged 38, joined the Group in May 2015. He was vice
president of Yunnan Technology and Business University and was appointed as
a vice president of the Company in December 2023. He has nearly 10 years of
experience in the education industry. He also possesses extensive experience
in financial management and administration and holds the certificates of the
Chartered Global Management Accountant (CGMA) and Certified Management
Accountant (CMA) of the United States.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Zhang has obtained the approval under the Hong
Kong Quality Migrant Admission Scheme and worked in Mazars CPA Limited in
Hong Kong engaging in audit work.

Mr. Zhang graduated from Shandong Agricultural University (1L 5 & % K £2)
in October 2010 with a bachelor’s degree in accounting and graduated from
University of Southampton in the United Kingdom in December 2011 with a
master’s degree in accounting and finance. He is currently pursuing a Doctor of
Business Administration (DBA) in Management at the University of Wales in the
United Kingdom.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The company secretary of the Group is Ms. Wong Wai Ling.

Ms. Wong Wai Ling (£ %), was appointed as a joint company secretary on
19 August 2016 and has become the company secretary on 23 March 2018.
She has over 20 years of experience in providing company secretarial services in
Hong Kong. Ms. Wong is the vice president of SWCS Corporate Services Group
(Hong Kong) Limited, which is a corporate service provider, and is responsible
for assisting listed companies in professional company secretarial work. Prior
to joining SWCS Corporate Services Group (Hong Kong) Limited, she worked
in a corporate service provider and the company secretarial department of an
international accounting firm. Ms. Wong is an associate member of The Hong
Kong Chartered Governance Institute and The Chartered Governance Institute in
the United Kingdom.
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REPORT OF DIRECTORS

The Board is pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated
financial statements for the year ended 31 August 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in the operations of Yunnan School, Guizhou
School, Central China School, Northeast School, Luoyang School, Guangxi
Schools, Gansu School and Zhengzhou School. The analysis of the principal
activities is set out in the note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW AND PERFORMANCE AND FUTURE
OUTLOOK

The business review and future outlook of the Group for the year ended 31 August
2024 is stated in the sections of “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. The description of principal risks and uncertainties
exposed to the Group is stated in the section of the “Principal Risks and
Responses” in Corporate Governance Report. The details of significant events
subsequent to the end of the financial year, which would affect the Group, and
discussion on future business developments of the Group are set out in the
sections of “Chairman’s Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis”
in this annual report. The “Financial Summary” on pages 224 to 225 of this
annual report sets out the analysis on the Group’s performance for the year by key
financial performance indicators. The aforementioned contents form parts of this
Report of Directors.

A separate Environmental, Social and Governance Report which sets out the
Group’s environmental policies and performance, compliance with relevant laws
and regulations and the discussion on the relationship between the Group and
students, employees, suppliers and other stakeholders will be published in due
course.

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 August 2024 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss on page 121 of this annual report.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the principal subsidiaries of the Company as at 31 August 2024 are set
out in note 1 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND

The Board has resolved to recommend the payment of a final dividend of
RMBO0.233 per Share for the year ended 31 August 2024 (for the year ended 31
August 2023: RMB0.096 per Share).

The proposed final dividend will be payable wholly in form of Scrip Shares.
The Group is of the view that facing changes in social demographics such as
declining birth rates and increasing demands from students for higher educational
background, the future competition in the higher education market will further
intensify. It is necessary to continuously enhance the level of school operation,
improve teaching standards, and enhance service quality to address the impact of
decreasing demand in the future. Therefore, the Group will continue to increase
investment to seize the current opportunities for vocational schools to upgrade to
undergraduate universities, as well as undergraduate universities to apply for the
right to grant master’s degrees, in order to achieve long-term sustainable high-
quality development. The Group believes that this extraordinary Scrip Dividend
Scheme is in the interests of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole. While
protecting Shareholders’ returns, it can conserve cash for the Group’s business
development and operational needs, and avoid the increase in the Group’s gearing
ratio. It is expected that the Scrip Dividend Scheme will enhance the trading
liquidity of the Shares.

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT E# 53



54

EEEHRE
0

REPORT F DIRECTORS

ERABEBREBUAARBE R AETEIE - 3
BERAMNEXRASRAPRENAEEZER (A
202411 A21 B E2024F 11 A27H) F R AR
TAMEFHPEER (1.0 AR R 1.0818287T) °
E it - OB TTRHER R B 5815 B 3R%0.25206
EIT ©

IR BEFEIZAFIHREN AR FN2025F2 A13
B(ESM) RITHERERREBFE RE i ERE
AR S R (i) B A2 AT L AR 1B AR AR B 5T Bl S T 81T
MREBRO EMhEE®%R  HAEE -

HEUNRREBEFEZ2IFFBENB K
R 2025 F 3 A T & K B R AE W
(www.hkexnews.hk) K& 7K 2 &) 48 5 (www .xingaojiao.com)
Ao FBETREROD B RIAKRERER 202554 A
17HAETETR2025F3 417 BESARRFIRE
HiftzaBERRER -

ERi

RMEBRANER R AR R REEDE @ﬁélE il
BN AREREI2DE126ENE A R E @Ji‘%&iﬁ

AU EMERMFESD -

o 4t 7 K 1 18

MR2024F8A3H  AREWMAIEHIIRFEEEA
R % 408,410,000 7T (/2202348 A31H : AR
152,828,000 7T.) ©

R A

A e 5 R B AR 1
u_lI_28°

llllll B 6 B A R

" T\

ZERBX

REEHRE  AEENES
24 569,815 JT ©

ME BERRKRE

RIBEME - AEEWE  BFE MK
BN REMIBEHMRME3 -

BRREMBEAAR

SR EEFIS

The proposed final dividend will be declared in Renminbi and calculated in Hong
Kong dollars. The exchange rate adopted for conversion was the average middle
exchange rate published by the People’s Bank of China of the five business
days prior to the declaration of the final dividend (i.e. 21 November 2024 to 27
November 2024) (RMB1.0 to HK$1.08182). Accordingly, the amount of the final
dividend calculated in Hong Kong dollars will be HK$0.25206 per Share.

The Scrip Dividend Scheme is conditional upon (i) the approval of the final
dividend by the Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company to be held on Thursday, 13 February 2025; and (i) the Stock Exchange
granting the listing of, and permission to deal in, the Scrip Shares to be issued
pursuant to the Scrip Dividend Scheme.

A circular giving full details of the Scrip Dividend Scheme is expected to be
published on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the
Company (www.xingaojiao.com) in March 2025. It is expected that the final
dividend share certificates for the Scrip Shares will be despatched on or around
17 April 2025 to the eligible Shareholders whose names appear on the Register of
Members of the Company on 17 March 2025.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during the
Reporting Period are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on
pages 125 to 126 of this annual report and note 39 to the consolidated financial
statements, respectively.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 August 2024, the Company’s reserve available for distribution was
RMB408,410,000 (as at 31 August 2023: RMB152,828,000).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Shares during the Reporting Period are set out in note
28 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the charitable and other donations made by the
Group amounted to RMB24,569,815.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group during the
Reporting Period are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year ended 31 August 2024 and up to the date of this
annual report were:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Zhao Shuai

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (re-designated from an independent non-executive Director to
an executive Director on 10 December 2024)

Ms. Shen Chunmei (retired on 28 February 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS:

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, the Directors
shall have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person
as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an addition to
the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy
shall hold office until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his
appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director
appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the first annual general meeting of the Company after his appointment and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

In accordance with article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, Ms. Wong Ka Ki
Ada shall retire at the 2025 annual general meeting and shall, being eligible,
offer herself for re-election. Details of re-election will be set out in the circular in
conjunction to this annual report dispatched to the Shareholders who request the
printed copies and published on the respective websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

In accordance with article 84(1) of the Articles of Association and the Corporate
Governance Code under the Listing Rules, one-third of the Directors shall retire
from office at each annual general meeting, and every Director shall be subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi shall retire by rotation, and
shall being eligible, offer themselves for re-election at the 2025 annual general
meeting in accordance with the above requirements. Details of re-election will
be set out in the circular in conjunction to this annual report dispatched to the
Shareholders who request the printed copies and published on the respective
websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management” of this annual report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming 2025 annual general
meeting has a service contract which is not determinable by the Company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.
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MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contract concerning the management and administration of the whole or any
substantial part of the business of the Company was entered into or existed during
the Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS’
MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” and otherwise disclosed in this annual report, no Director
or its connected entity (within the meaning of section 486 of the Companies
Ordinance) had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in any direct or
indirect major transaction, arrangement or contract to which the Company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party during the Reporting Period.
During the Reporting Period, there was no provision of services to the Company or
any of its subsidiaries by the Controlling Shareholder of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, and no contract of significance was entered into.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITION IN SHARES, UNDERLYING SHARES AND
DEBENTURES

As at 31 August 2024, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the
chief executive of the Company in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of
the SFO) as recorded in the register required to be kept under Section 352 of the
SFO or as otherwise notified to the Company and The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

() LONG POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF
THE COMPANY

FrEARQ T RE
A B EnHE g 4= BABEDEEO
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
Name Capacity/Nature of interest Number of Shares ™ the Company @
Th L@ ZESEEER BaBEAEAR 756,630,925 48.83%
2REEFTAIA
Mr. Li @ Interest in a controlled corporation, beneficial
owner and founder of a discretionary trust
FHEED© EmfAA 292,600 0.02%
Zhao Shuai © Beneficial owner
PR &g @ EmfAA 169,200 0.01%
Chan Tung Hoi @ Beneficial owner
ZFHe EmfEAA 169,200 0.01%
Pang Tsz Kit Peter © Beneficial owner
B EEO EEBEAA 52,400 0.00%

Kwong Wai Sun Wilson ©

Beneficial owner
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[FBAARKREROESL] TRENEDLET
ThiR 5 1,549,622,630 i% i 10 (BN 2N B 8 2= 2024 5 8
ASTAMBRITROBE)TEST -

Z= 4 4 52 Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd. &9 iff —
AR ER - B AR 1R 3B F I B3 15 B 45 4R B i 8 Aspire
Education Management Co., Ltd. BT 3% FT B A& 1D A9 4 =5 o
Z= 5 4 #5 5 Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd. 61.47%
A1 - B LR R 7 5 & B E 1K B3 4R & % A Aspire
Education Technology Co., Ltd. BT 3 FT /5 f% {5 #) # 25 -
720234 8 429 H + Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd.
(KB AR F0.76% 1 2 K9 IR 3R ) B8 3 55 Pk 7
HREEEHEE 2D - K& 5 Aspire Education
Consulting Co., Ltd. #% £ 74 Fortune Trophy Limited(3% /& 2
RARNEHEHRE) N2 PRIEESETZRIEE
5L ° Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd. B9 FT B R R 2
BREFRENTERER BUBREEAFARBER
1+ 2= 55 A 4245 A 1 Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd.
WEHEBETRAPEAEZ - TEEWRRBNT
A RIR2019F 10 A21 H % 202057 A23 AKX T H
#122,900 17 % 620,300 17 i % 4 1& 7] 4% () H 3 17 69
743,200 A% ) R E A R e

HEAD S A AR B RS 292,600 R R D M MRS - B
FRERITED B 2019410 A 21 B 2202047 B 23
A ¥ H 972,700 17 K 148,900 17 8 I #E 1% 7] e ) &
EATHI221,600 B A% 10 LA R A 2017 F 12 A A E
=HAATHEART,000 G -

BREBEEWB RARITED AR 2019F10A21 8
K20204F 7 A 23 A% F H # 135,600 1 K 33,6007 B8
% 1 1% 7] A [7) HL 3547 #9 169,200 BR AR 19 Fh i A #E o5

ZFEB WA ABRITES BIR2019F10821H
K 202047 A 23 A% F H # 135,600 1 & 33,6007 B8
% 12 1% AT A [7) HL 3547 #9169,200 AR AR 1 Fh i A #E 25 o

BEEEERRABRITESD BIR2019F10A21 8
2202057 A 23 H# T H #712,100 19 K 40,300 {7 f#
% 1 1% 7] A [7) HL 3 17 #9 52,400 R AR 19 FR 7 A 1 25 o

Notes:
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The percentage figures disclosed under “Approximate percentage of shareholding in the
Company” were calculated based on the 1,549,622,630 Shares, being the number of
total issued Shares of the Company as of 31 August 2024,

Mr. Li is the sole shareholder of Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd. and he
is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares held by Aspire Education
Management Co., Ltd. under the SFO. Mr. Li holds 61.47% shares in Aspire Education
Technology Co., Ltd. and he is therefore deemed to be interested in all the Shares held
by Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd. under the SFO. On 29 August 2023, Aspire
Education Consulting Co., Ltd., a Shareholder holding 0.76% interests in the Company,
repurchased all of its shares owned by a family trust established by Mr. Li, at a
consideration of Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd. transferring its entire shareholding
in Fortune Trophy Limited, a Shareholder holding 2.91% interests in the Company, to
such family trust. All the shareholders of Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd. have
authorised Mr. Li to exercise his voting rights thereof and thus Mr. Li is deemed to be
interested in the entire issued capital of Aspire Education Consulting Co., Ltd. under the
SFO. Mr. Liis deemed to be interested in 743,200 Shares which may be issued to him
upon exercise of the 122,900 and 620,300 share options granted to him on 21 October
2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Mr. Zhao Shuai is deemed to be interested in 292,600 Shares which comprised 221,600
Shares that may be issued to him upon exercise of the 72,700 and 148,900 share
options granted to him on 21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively, and as a
beneficial owner of 71,000 Shares which he acquired in December 2017.

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi is deemed to be interested in 169,200 Shares which may be issued
to him upon exercise of the 135,600 and 33,600 share options granted to him on 21
October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter is deemed to be interested in 169,200 Shares which may be
issued to him upon exercise of the 135,600 and 33,600 share options granted to him on
21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is deemed to be interested in 52,400 Shares which may be
issued to him upon exercise of the 12,100 and 40,300 share options granted to him on
21 October 2019 and 23 July 2020, respectively.
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(I REBZIENFE (I)  LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATION
EFEH Yun Ai Group
FEEEEERE
] B, Mg FMEXRNSE BAB DL
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group
THEE ZRE A E s AR 24,720,523 7T 70.8305%
Mr. Li © Interest in a controlled corporation RMB24,720,523 70.8305%
f FutFr i EEE N - 7202448 A31H » B AR Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2024, none of the Directors or the
AZEENRSTHAERSEE AR AATSHHEH  chief executive of the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short
HESEB ARG  HERMSEREED - AR position in the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company or its
BERBPEKRPIEIIERERARBATET E’J” associated corporations that was required to be recorded in the register required
AR s:  KRBGRETAD BAHNE AR to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified

BTV E SRR -

EEREROIEEIZTNER

BRAFHREMBOMBEEIN RBESHHE > A2
AR EEABARBETLERN L SEET
BAKBARATAATMEAMERER RO HE
BEMESND EMEEEHETHAEBH18
BROA TN 2 F BRI BB AR A SAE A E Al b
RXEB EANES 2 ENKDITEEMARREER -

to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the Reporting
Period was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that
would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of shares
in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and none of the
Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18 were granted any
right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the Company or any other
body corporate or had exercised any such right.
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ARRAEBEEUREITERABRIN A BRIEEF L
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT
POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 August 2024, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the following
persons (other than being a Director or chief executive of the Company) had
interests or short positions which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO,
or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange, are as follows:

() INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

s A2 ARE

e

Name

Bt EmME

Capacity/Nature of interest

RoEEO

Number of Shares ™

BHOBEDEEO
Approximate
percentage of
shareholding in
the Company @

Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd.

Aspire Education Technology Co., Ltd.

TX Capital (HK) Limited @

=SNEEEBRBAERLAAY
Greenwoods Asset Management
Hong Kong Limited ©

Invest Partner Group Limited @

ImiREE®
UBS Group AG @

EmEE A
Beneficial owner

EmEE A
Beneficial owner

KRERKE
Investment manager

KRERKE
Investment manager

A E S

Interest in a controlled corporation

REHEE S

Interest in a controlled corporation

522,727,625 (L)

176,160,100 (L)

110,139,000 (L)

98,099,000 (L)

98,099,000 (L)

93,169,704 (1)

33.73%

11.37%

7.11%

6.33%

6.33%

6.01%
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©) [LIBZALTRRHBOTE -

[HARARREROESL] THENE D LLET
ThiR 4% 1,549,622,630 A% i% 1 (BDZK A R &L Z 2024 57 8
A31AMBEBITRMHEE) HEEE -

] TX Capital Value Fund £3 TX Capital (HK) Limited 100% %A%
A It + TX Capital (HK) Limited 12 4% 75 75 & Hi B {5 I 5 18,
B TX Capital Value Fund BT 8 fx 0 B #E & -

(3) Golden China Master Fund Xz Greenwoods China Alpha Master
Fud S EBSMNEETEREERAF (ERIRE
4838+ £ Invest Partner Group Limited 100% ¥ 4 )100% 22
f% o B I - Invest Partner Group Limited & £ # & & &
BEABERAFAZERBESF LPERIFER AR
Golden China Master Fund 2 Greenwoods China Alpha Master
Fund TS B RO PR = -

4 UBS AG London Branch + UBS Switzerland AG * UBS Fund
Management (Switzerland) AG }2 UBS Fund Management
(Luxembourg) S.A. 19 £ I R & B 100% = A% -
- BEEBSFRBEGRI  HEEERER SR
UBS AG London Branch + UBS Switzerland AG ~ UBS Fund
Management (Switzerland) AG 52 UBS Fund Management
(Luxembourg) S.A. FTi5 B ik R HE B & -

Notes:

The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

The percentage figures disclosed under “Approximate percentage of shareholding in the
Company” were calculated based on the 1,549,622,630 Shares, being the number of
total issued Shares of the Company as of 31 August 2024.

TX Capital Value Fund is 100% controlled by TX Capital (HK) Limited, and therefore TX
Capital (HK) Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by TX Capital Value
Fund under the SFO.

Each of Golden China Master Fund and Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund is 100%
controlled by Greenwoods Asset Management Hong Kong Limited as the investment
manager which is in turn 100% owned by Invest Partner Group Limited. Therefore,
each of Invest Partner Group Limited and Greenwoods Asset Management Hong Kong
Limited is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by Golden China Master Fund and
Greenwoods China Alpha Master Fund under the SFO.

Each of UBS AG London Branch, UBS Switzerland AG, UBS Fund Management
(Switzerland) AG and UBS Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A. is 100% controlled by
UBS Group AG. Therefore, UBS Group AG is deemed to be interested in the Shares held
by UBS AG London Branch, UBS Switzerland AG, UBS Fund Management (Switzerland)
AG and UBS Fund Management (Luxembourg) S.A. under the SFO.

(I REBLIENEFR () LONG POSITION IN ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
REZFEBHTE Long Position in Yun Ai Group
FRHESEERE
& B4 EntE EMELANEHE BHABEDL
Approximate
percentage of
Amount of shareholding
Name Capacity/Nature of interest registered capital in Yun Ai Group
SHREE EmfEAA AR 24,720,523 7T 70.8305%
Songming Dexue Beneficial owner RMB24,720,523
PRk EmfEAA A R # 7,000,000 7T 20.0568%
Pai Dui Pai Beneficial owner RMB7,000,000

br EXCPT# ER & O #2024@8)% 31 == 85 N
MBBEAAL(WIFEZTHARRERITHRAEG)
NS RZINTN WﬁE%Hﬂﬁﬂiﬂ%ﬁﬁﬁ*ﬁﬁ%ﬁ%&ﬁﬁf
EBIEXVEE2 R EIDIATHENERIOLE
IR ES MG IE0 5 336 5 BB LR ZIEFATIE
METMAmERIOXE -

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 August 2024, the Directors were not aware of
any persons (who were not Directors or chief executive of the Company) who had
an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the Company
which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or
which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING OF THE CONTROLLING
SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 August 2024, none of the Controlling Shareholders had any other
interests in any business which is likely to compete, either directly or indirectly,
with the businesses of the Group.

The Controlling Shareholders have entered into the Deed of Non-competition
on 20 March 2017 in favor of the Company. For the details of the Deed of Non-
competition, please refer to the Prospectus and previous annual reports of the
Company.

The Company has received confirmations from the Controlling Shareholders
confirming their compliance with the Deed of Non-competition during the
Reporting Period for disclosure in this annual report.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the declarations made
by the Controlling Shareholders, confirmed and noted that (a) the Controlling
Shareholders declared that they had fully complied with the Deed of Non-
competition throughout the Reporting Period; and (b) no new competing business
was reported by the Controlling Shareholders throughout the Reporting Period.
The independent non-executive Directors were satisfied that the terms of the Deed
of Non-competition had been duly complied with and enforced throughout the
Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective associates
had engaged in or had any interests in any business which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS AND CONTINUING
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report, the following
transactions carried out by the Group and the connected persons of the Company
constituted non-exempt continuing connected transactions of the Company
pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing Rule:
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REGEBEEGNIEETERCRRELRS
A= E 201998 A26 H % 2019412 A6 H
VMR EE R EmMEEE - RAELEEKR
EHEWKRILE RFLEBRE BEFBELE
EHBER BEARKEESEDR M —
Ry (ARHEBEEELN) - TEBES
B ERRIEFERIEEE&B S OREBAER -
FERBUESHNREARNEE DRI R202065H8
H 202097 H29H 20208 A27H - 2021
F2H4H ~2021F 48208 20215 H25
B 2021998288 &2021F11 5198 W&
FTERNERLCEMA B RE —FEF] -

STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

A.

BACKGROUND AND OVERVIEW

As the PRC laws and regulations generally restrict foreign ownership
involve in the private education industry in the PRC, therefore we currently
conduct our private higher education business, secondary vocational
education business and senior secondary education business through the
PRC Operating Schools in the PRC. The PRC laws and regulations currently
restrict the operation of higher education institutions, secondary vocational
education business and senior secondary education business under Sino-
foreign cooperation ownership, in addition to imposing qualification
requirements on the foreign owners. We do not hold any sponsor’s interest
in the PRC Operating Schools. The Structured Contracts, through which
we obtain control over and derive the economic benefits from the PRC
Operating Schools, have been narrowly tailored to achieve our business
purpose and minimize the potential conflict with relevant PRC laws and
regulations. We had entered into the Structured Contracts for the PRC
Operating Schools and expect to enter into structured contracts for the
schools to be newly established or invested in, the terms and conditions of
which shall be the same as the Structured Contracts in all material aspects.

In order to comply with the PRC laws and regulations while availing
ourselves of international capital markets and maintaining effective control
over all of our operations, on 8 September 2016, 8 October 2018, 10
December 2018, 11 January 2019 and 26 August 2019, respectively,
our wholly-owned subsidiary, Huihuang Company, entered into various
agreements that constitute the Existing Structured Contracts with, among
others, the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School
Sponsors, under which all economic benefits arising from the business of
the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the Existing School Sponsors held
directly or indirectly by Yun Ai Group are transferred to Huihuang Company
to the extent permitted under the PRC laws and regulations by means
of service fees payable by the Existing PRC Operating Schools and the
Existing School Sponsors to Huihuang Company. Although the Registered
Shareholders are not consolidated as part of the Group, they are parties to
certain agreements which constitute the Structured Contracts to ensure that
the shareholders’ rights of Yun Ai Group are actually controlled by Huihuang
Company.

The existing Structured Contracts were amended due to the equity transfer
agreements entered into between certain then Registered Shareholders
and Songming Dexue on 26 August 2019 and 6 December 2019. The
existing Structured Contracts were terminated and a series of agreements
comprising the new Structured Contracts were entered into between New
Registered Shareholders, the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities,
Huihuang Company and Yun Ai Group. The terms and conditions of the new
Structured Contracts are substantially the same as those under the existing
Structured Contracts. The new Structured Contracts were further amended
by various supplemental agreements due to the acquisition of interest in
new schools by the Group on 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020, 27 August 2020,
4 February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28 September 2021 and
19 November 2021, respectively.
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Please refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the Prospectus, as
well as the announcements of the Company dated 8 October 2018, 10 December
2018, 11 January 2019, 26 August 2019, 6 December 2019, 8 May 2020, 29
July 2020, 27 August 2020, 4 February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28
September 2021 and 19 November 2021 for details.

In view of the Group’s business planning in shifting the provision of consulting
services which was originally by Huihuang Company to Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan
Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming, on 20 December 2024, the Business Cooperation
Agreement (2024) and the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2024) were entered into. The terms and conditions of
the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024) and the Exclusive Technical Service
and Management Consultancy Agreement (2024) are substantially the same as
the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019) and the Exclusive Technical Service
and Management Consultancy Agreement (2019). The Structured Contracts were
further amended by a supplemental agreement entered into on 20 December
2024. With effect from 20 December 2024, Huihuang Company ceased to provide
any consulting services under the Business Cooperation Agreement (2019) and
the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement (2019)
and such services are provided by Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits from the
PRC Operating Schools and/or the School Sponsors to the Group stipulated under
the Structured Contracts currently in force as at the date of this annual report:

EANNE|
The Company
| [ T T T T T T T S T e S S S m s 1
I 1
\ 4 v A4 '
e (|3 N SR == > o !
/ﬂiﬂ”/ﬁﬁﬂ& lgﬁﬁﬁzﬂ(&ﬁ}?\ﬂﬁﬁg EE/A\\?J (3)(6)(7) %ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬂﬁi :
Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and . €------- . @)
oo . Huihuang Company New Registered shareholders !
Nanjing Jingyuming !
A : ' FE '
1 1 I 0, 1
Mol e 100% 1 bR !
TR EHEEEE
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
B RENEESEARERTERE
denotes direct legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest
————— BEBEEN
denotes Structured Contracts
Biat - Notes:
©) TR E o ©) Payment of service fees.
) REBREMRELEIEEM R - 2) Provision of exclusive technical and management consultancy services.
3) WERTREEERN IR MERE R EER (3) Exclusive call option to acquire all or part of the school sponsors’ interest in the PRC

REREMENDBRMBNERELBRBERE -

(4 BPREBEZARTHYTELESROBRANR
EHER -

Operating Schools and all or part of equity interest in the School Sponsors.

(4) Entrustment of school sponsors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by the School
Sponsors.
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Entrustment of directors’ rights in the PRC Operating Schools by directors of the PRC
Operating Schools including directors’ powers of attorney.

Entrustment of Shareholders’ right including Shareholders’ power of attorney.

Pledge of equity interest by the Registered Shareholders of their equity interest in Yun Ai
Group.

Provision of loans by Huihuang Company to Yun Ai Group.
According to PRC laws and regulations, entities and individuals who establish private

schools are commonly referred to as “school sponsors” instead of “owners” or
“shareholders”.

As of the date of this annual report, no regulatory authority has interfered or
prevented us from adopting the new structured contracts as planned, and the
consolidated financial results of the PRC Operating Schools engaged in higher
education services have been consolidated into the results of the Group.

B.

SUMMARY OF THE MATERIAL TERMS OF THE NEW STRUCTURED
CONTRACTS

A description of each of the specific agreements that comprise the
Structured Contracts currently in force as at the date of this annual report
is set out below.

(1)

Business Cooperation Agreement (2024)

Pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024), Shenzhen
Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming shall provide technical
services, management support and consulting services required for
the private education business, and the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities shall pay the corresponding fees accordingly.

To ensure the due performance of the New Structured Contracts,
each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed to
comply with, and procure any of its subsidiaries to comply with, and
the New Registered Shareholders agreed to procure the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities to comply with the obligations
as prescribed under the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024) set
forth as follows:

(@)  to carry out its private education operations in a prudent and
efficient manner in accordance with proper financial and
business standards while maintaining the assets value of the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the quality
and standard of private education;

(b)  to prepare school development plans and annual working
plans in accordance with the instructions of Shenzhen Yuanai,
Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming;

(c)  to carry out its private education activities and other relevant
business under the assistance of Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan
Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming;

(d)  to carry out and manage its daily operations and financial
management in accordance with the recommendations,
advice, principles and other instructions of Shenzhen Yuanqi,
Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming;

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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()  to execute and act upon the recommendations of Shenzhen
Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming in terms of
employment and removal of senior management and staff;

(f) to adopt the advice, guidance and plans given by Shenzhen
Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming in relation to
their respective strategic development; and

(g)  to carry out its business operations and renew and maintain
its relevant requisite licenses.

In addition, pursuant to the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024),

(@  Mr. Li undertakes to Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming that, in the event of death, loss of or
restriction on capacity, divorce or other circumstances which
may affect the exercise of his direct or indirect equity interest
in the New Registered Shareholders, he shall have made all
necessary arrangements and sign all necessary documents
such that his successor, guardian, spouse, and any other
person which may as a result of the above events obtain the
equity interest or relevant rights shall not prejudice or hinder
the enforcement of the new Structured Contracts;

(b)  the New Registered Shareholders undertake to Shenzhen
Yuanqi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming that, in the
event of a merger and subdivision of the New Registered
Shareholders, any application for winding up, liquidation,
winding up restructuring or reconciliation by the New
Registered Shareholders or a third party, dissolution and
liquidation of the New Registered Shareholders pursuant
to an order, application for involuntary dissolution of the
New Registered Shareholders or for other reasons, or
other circumstances which may affect the New Registered
Shareholders in exercising their direct or indirect interest
in Yun Ai Group, they shall have made all necessary
arrangements and sign all necessary documents such that the
successor, administrator, liquidation committee and any other
person which may as a result of the above events obtain the
direct or indirect interest or relevant rights in Yun Ai Group
shall not prejudice or hinder the enforcement of the new
Structured Contracts;
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the New Registered Shareholders undertake that, in the
event of the dissolution or liquidation of the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities, (i) Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan
Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming shall have the right to
exercise all school sponsor’s interests/shareholders’ rights
on the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except
for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) on behalf of the
Existing School Sponsors; (ii) Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities and/or Existing School Sponsors and/or the
shareholders or sponsors of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities shall transfer all assets received or
receivable in their capacity as school sponsor of each of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools/as shareholders of each
of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except
for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) as a result of the
dissolution or liguidation of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming or other persons designated by us at nil
consideration, and instruct all of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to transfer such assets directly to Shenzhen
Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming before such
dissolution or liquidation; (iii) if consideration is required for
such transfer under the then applicable PRC laws, the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and/or the shareholders
or sponsors of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
shall compensate Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming or the person as designated by us the amount and
guarantee that Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming or other persons as designated by us do not suffer
any loss; and

the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities agreed that,
without the prior written consent of Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan
Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming, the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities shall not declare or pay to the New
Registered Shareholders any school-running balances (3% £
#= &%) or other interest or benefit. In the event that the New
Registered Shareholders receive any school-running balances
(BEE245E4) or other interest or benefit, the New Registered
Shareholders shall unconditionally and without compensation
transfer such amount to Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming.
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Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy
Agreement (2024)

Pursuant to the Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2024), Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming agreed to provide exclusive technical services
to the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, including but
not limited to, (a) design, development, update and maintenance of
software for computer and mobile devices; (b) design, development,
update and maintenance of webpages and websites necessary for
the education activities of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities; (c) design, development, update and maintenance of
management information systems necessary for the education
activities of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (d)
provision of other technical support necessary for the education
activities of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities; (e)
provision of technical consulting services; (f) provision of technical
training; (g) engaging technical staff to provide on-site technical
support; and (h) providing other technical services reasonably
requested by the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

Furthermore, Shenzhen Yuangqi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming agreed to provide exclusive management consultancy
services to the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, including
but not limited to, (a) design of curriculum; (b) preparation, selection
and/or recommendation of course materials; (c) provision of teacher
and staff recruitment and training support and services; (d) provision
of student recruitment support and services; (e) provision of public
relation services; (f) preparation of long-term strategic development
plans and annual working plans; (g) development of financial
management systems and recommendation and optimization on
annual budget; (h) advising on design of internal structures and
internal management; (i) provision of management and consultancy
training; (j) conduct of market research; (k) preparation of market
development plan; (I) building of marketing network; and (m)
providing other management technical services reasonably requested
by the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities.

In consideration of the technical and management consultancy
services provided by Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming, each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities agreed to pay Shenzhen Yuanqi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming a service fee equal to an agreed percentage of their
respective amount of surplus from operations (after deducting all
costs, expenses, taxes, losses from the previous year (if required
by the law) and the legally compulsory education development fund
of the respective school (if required by the law)). The compulsory
education development fund is included as statutory surplus reserve
at the Group’s level and retained at schools’ level. Shenzhen Yuanagi,
Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming have the right (but not the
obligation) to adjust the amount of such service fee by reference to
the actual services provided and the actual business operations and
needs of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities, provided
that any adjusted amount shall not exceed the amount mentioned
above. The Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities do not have
any right to make any such adjustment.
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Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019)

Under the Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019), the New
Registered Shareholders have irrevocably granted Huihuang
Company or its designated purchaser the right to purchase all or
part of the school sponsor’s interest of the Existing School Sponsors
in the Existing PRC Operating Schools and equity interest in the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities (except for the Existing
PRC Operating Schools) (“Equity Call Option”). The purchase price
payable by Huihuang Company in respect of the transfer of such
school sponsor’s interest or equity interest upon exercise of the
Equity Call Option shall be the lowest price permitted under the
PRC laws and regulations. Huihuang Company or its designated
purchaser shall have the right to purchase such proportion of the
school sponsor’s interest of the Existing PRC Operating Schools and/
or equity interest in the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities
(except for the Existing PRC Operating Schools) as it decides at any
time.

School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement
(2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019), the Existing School Sponsors have irrevocably
authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all their
rights as school sponsor of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools to the extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include,
but are not limited to: (a) the right to appoint and/or elect directors
or council members of the schools; (b) the right to appoint and/
or elect supervisors of the schools; (c) the right to understand the
operation and financial situation of the schools; (d) the right to
review the resolutions and records of the board of directors and
financial statements and reports of the schools; (e) the right to
obtain school-running balances as school sponsor of the schools
in accordance with the laws and the articles of association of each
school; (f) the right to acquire residue assets upon liquidation of the
schools in accordance with the laws and the articles of association
of each school; (g) the right to transfer school sponsors’ interest
in accordance with the laws; and (h) other school sponsor’s rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of
association of each school as amended from time to time.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement, each of the directors of each school (the “Appointees”)
has irrevocably authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to
exercise all his/her rights as directors of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools as appointed by the Existing School Sponsors and to the
extent permitted by PRC laws. These rights include, but are not
limited to: (a) the right to attend meetings of the board of directors
as representatives of the directors appointed by the Existing School
Sponsors; (b) the right to exercise voting rights in respect of all
matters discussed and resolved at the board meeting of each of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools; (c) the right to propose to convene
interim board meetings of each of the Existing PRC Operating
Schools; (d) the right to sign all board minutes, board resolutions and
other legal documents which the directors appointed by the Existing
School Sponsors have authority to sign in their capacity as directors
of the Existing PRC Operating Schools; (e) the right to instruct the
legal representative and financial and business responsible persons
of the Existing PRC Operating Schools to act in accordance with
the instruction of Huihuang Company; (f) the right to exercise all
other rights and voting rights of directors as prescribed under the
articles of association of the Existing PRC Operating Schools; (g) the
right to handle the legal procedures of registration, approval and
licensing of the Existing PRC Operating Schools, as the case may be
at the education department, the department of civil affairs or other
government regulatory departments; and (h) other directors’ rights
pursuant to applicable PRC laws and regulations and the articles of
association of the Existing PRC Operating Schools as amended from
time to time.

School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
executed by the Existing School Sponsors in favor of Huihuang
Company, the Existing School Sponsors authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company (none of whom is a director of any of the Existing
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and therefore does not give rise
to any conflicts of interest), as their agent to act on their behalf to
exercise or delegate the exercise of all their rights as school sponsor
of each of the Existing PRC Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. The Existing School Sponsors irrevocably agreed
that the authorization appointment in the School Sponsor’s Powers
of Attorney shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of the Existing School Sponsors’ subdivision,
merger, winding up, consolidation, liquidation or other similar events.
The School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) shall constitute a
part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsors’ and Directors’
Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).
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Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed by
each of the Appointees in favor of Huihuang Company, each of the
Appointees authorized and appointed Huihuang Company (none of
whom is a director of any of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and therefore does not give rise to any conflicts of interest),
as his/her agent to act on his/her behalf to exercise or delegate
the exercise of all of his/her rights as directors of the Existing PRC
Operating Schools.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to the directors of Huihuang Company or other
designated person. Each of the Appointees irrevocably agreed that
the authorization appointment in the Directors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity, death
or other similar events. The Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the School Sponsors’
and Directors’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019),
each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai
Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue has irrevocably
authorized and entrusted Huihuang Company to exercise all of
his/their respective rights as shareholders of the Existing School
Sponsors (together, “the Relevant Subsidiaries”) to the extent
permitted by the PRC laws. These rights include, but are not limited
to: (a) the right to attend shareholders’ meetings of the Relevant
Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (b) the right to exercise voting
rights in respect of all matters discussed and resolved at the
shareholders’ meeting of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may
be; (c) the right to appoint directors or legal representative of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (d) the right to propose to
convene interim shareholders’ meetings of the Relevant Subsidiaries,
as the case may be; (e) the right to sign all shareholders’ resolutions
and other legal documents which the New Registered Shareholders
and Yun Ai Group have authority to sign in his or their capacity as
shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be; (f)
the right to instruct the directors and legal representatives of the
Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may be to act in accordance with
the instruction of Huihuang Company; (g) the right to exercise all
other rights and voting rights of shareholders as prescribed under
the articles of association of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case
may be; (h) the right to handle the legal procedures of registration,
approval and licensing of the Relevant Subsidiaries, as the case may
be at the education department, the department of civil affairs or
other government regulatory departments; and (i) other shareholders’
rights pursuant to the applicable PRC laws and regulations and the
articles of association of the Relevant Subsidiaries as amended from
time to time.
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In addition, each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai
Group, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue has
irrevocably agreed that (i) Huihuang Company may delegate its rights
under the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019) to
the directors of Huihuang Company or its designated person, without
prior notice to or approval by the New Registered Shareholders
and Yun Ai Group; and (i) any person as successor of civil rights of
Huihuang Company or liquidator by reason of subdivision, merger,
liquidation of Huihuang Company or other circumstances shall have
authority to replace Huihuang Company to exercise all rights under
the Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)

Pursuant to the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019) executed
by each of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group,
Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue in favor
of Huihuang Company, each of them authorized and appointed
Huihuang Company, as his or their agent to act on his or their behalf
to exercise or delegate the exercise of all his or their rights as
shareholders of the Relevant Subsidiaries.

Huihuang Company shall have the right to further delegate the
rights so delegated to its directors or other designated person. Each
of the New Registered Shareholders, Yun Ai Group, Daai Shuren,
Songming Xinju and Beijing Daai Gaoxue irrevocably agreed that the
authorization appointment in the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney
(2019) shall not be invalid, prejudiced or otherwise adversely
affected by reason of his/her loss of or restriction on capacity, death
or other similar events. The Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)
shall constitute a part and incorporate terms of the Shareholders’
Rights Entrustment Agreement (2019).

Spouse Undertakings (2019)

Pursuant to the Spouse Undertakings (2019), the spouse of Mr. Li
has irrevocably undertaken that:

(@)  the spouse has full knowledge of and has consented to the
entering into of the New Structured Contracts by Mr. Li, and in
particular, the arrangement as set out in the New Structured
Contracts in relation to the restrictions imposed on the direct
or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai Group, pledge or transfer
the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai Group, or the
disposal of the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group in any other forms;

(b)  the spouse has not participated, is not participating and shall
not in the future participate in the operation, management,
liquidation, dissolution and other matters in relation to the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities;
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(10)

the spouse authorizes Mr. Li or his authorized person to
execute all necessary documents and perform all necessary
procedures from time to time for and on behalf of the spouse
in relation to the spouse’s equity interest in Yun Ai Group (direct
or indirect) in order to safeguard the interest of Huihuang
Company under the New Structured Contracts and give effect
to the fundamental purposes thereunder, and confirms and
agrees to all such documents and procedures;

any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
any increase, decrease, consolidation or other similar events
relating to the direct or indirect equity interest in Yun Ai
Group;

any undertaking, confirmation, consent and authorization
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall not be revoked,
prejudiced, invalidated or otherwise adversely affected by
death, loss of or restriction on capacity of the spouse, divorce
or other similar events;

all undertakings, confirmations, consents and authorizations
under the Spouse Undertakings (2019) shall continue to be
valid and binding until otherwise terminated by both Huihuang
Company and the spouse of Mr. Li in writing; and

The Spouse Undertakings shall have the same term as and
incorporate the terms of the Business Cooperation Agreement
(2019).

Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), each of the New
Registered Shareholders unconditionally and irrevocably pledged and
granted first priority security interests over all of its equity interest
in Yun Ai Group together with all related rights thereto to Huihuang
Company as security for performance of the New Structured
Contracts and all direct, indirect or consequential damages and
foreseeable loss of interest incurred by Huihuang Company as a
result of any event of default on the part of the New Registered
Shareholders, or each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated
Entities and all expenses incurred by Huihuang Company as a result
of enforcement of the obligations of the New Registered Shareholders
and/or each of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities under
the New Structured Contracts (the “Secured Indebtedness”).
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Pursuant to the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), without the
prior written consent of Huihuang Company, the New Registered
Shareholders shall not transfer the equity interest or create further
pledge or encumbrance over the pledged equity interest. Any
unauthorized transfer shall be invalid, and the proceeds of any
transfer of the equity interest shall be first used in the payment
of the Secured Indebtedness or deposited to such third party as
agreed to by Huihuang Company. The New Registered Shareholders
also waived any pre-emptive rights upon enforcement and agreed
to any transfer of the pledged equity pursuant to the Equity Pledge
Agreement (2019).

The pledges under the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019) and the
First Supplemental Agreement to the New Structured Contracts were
registered with the relevant Administration for Market Regulation
of the PRC on 2 September 2019 and 2 January 2020 and became
effective on the same date of the registration of the pledge.

Loan Agreement (2019)

Pursuant to the Loan Agreement (2019), Huihuang Company
agreed to provide interest-free loans to Yun Ai Group in accordance
with the PRC laws and regulations and Yun Ai Group agreed to
utilize the proceeds of such loans to contribute as capital of the
Existing PRC Operating Schools in its capacity as school sponsor
or the shareholder of the school sponsors in accordance with our
instructions. Both parties agree that all such capital contribution will
be directly settled by Huihuang Company on behalf of Yun Ai Group.

The terms of the Loan Agreement (2019) shall continue until all
interest of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities are
transferred to Huihuang Company or its designee and/or the
Company or designee of the Company and the registration process
required thereafter has been completed with the relevant local
authorities.

Each loan to be granted under the Loan Agreement (2019) will be for
an infinite term until termination at the sole discretion of Huihuang
Company. The loan will become due and payable upon Huihuang
Company’s demand under any of the following circumstances: (i)
a bankruptcy application, bankruptcy reorganization or bankruptcy
settlement has been filed by or against Yun Ai Group, (i) a winding-
up or liquidation application has been filed by or against Yun Ai
Group, (iii) Yun Ai Group becomes insolvent or incurs any other
significant personal debt which may affect its ability to repay the
loan under the Loan Agreement (2019), (iv) Huihuang Company or its
designee exercises in full its option to purchase all the Existing PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities interests to the extent permitted by
PRC laws and regulations, or (v) any of the Existing PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities commits any breach of any obligations under
the New Structured Contracts, or any warranties provided by any
of the Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities under the New
Structured Contracts is proved incorrect or inaccurate. As advised
by the PRC Legal Advisors, interest-free loans granted by Huihuang
Company to Yun Ai Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC
laws and regulations.
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BUSINESS ACTIVITIES OF THE PRC OPERATING SCHOOLS AND
THE SCHOOL SPONSORS

The PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities of the Group are Yunnan School,
Guizhou School, Central China School, Northeast School, Luoyang School,
Guangxi Schools, Gansu School and Zhengzhou School, their respective
school sponsors, and other schools and other investment holding
companies which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured
Contracts, as amended from time to time. Their business activities are
primarily engaged in higher education services. All of the School Sponsors
are investment holding companies.

SIGNIFICANCE AND FINANCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE PRC
CONSOLIDATED AFFILIATED ENTITIES TO THE GROUP

Pursuant to the new Structured Contracts and the various supplemental
agreements in relation thereto, the Group obtains control over and derives
the economic benefits from the PRC Operating Schools and the School
Sponsors. The table below sets out the financial contribution of the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the Group:

HEASBENWEEER BB E R
Significance and financial contributions to the Group
WA A E EEHLE
Revenue Net profit Total Assets
HZE2024 % BZE2024% R 2024 F
8A3BLEE B8ANBLEFE 8A31H
For the year ended For the year ended As at

31 August 2024

31 August 2024 31 August 2024

HAEBENEEZH R Significance and financial contributions
B 5 E R to the Group 100% 125% 96%
HEBEESHNFSHRAREE E. REVENUE AND ASSETS INVOLVED IN THE NEW STRUCTURED
CONTRACTS
T RETNEE2024F8 A3 HIEFEF The table below sets out (i) revenue; and (i) total assets involved in the PRC

BB B K BRI E PSR A () WA (i)
EELE FRARAREESRENEEG
AHUMEEBENZNEABEHALNEE
BB 5 3Rk

Operating Schools and the School Sponsors for the year ended 31 August
2024, which would be consolidated into the Group’s financial statements
pursuant to the New Structural Contracts and the various supplemental
agreements in relation thereto:

RE W E

PRC Operation Schools and School Sponsors

PN BE
Revenue Assets
AREET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2,411,710 10,616,677
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F.  REGULATORY FRAMEWORK

1.

Higher Education

Pursuant to Special Administrative Measures for Access of Foreign
Investment (Negative List) (2024 Edition) (the “Negative List”), the
provision of higher education in the PRC falls within the “restricted”
category. In particular, the Negative List explicitly restricts higher
education to Sino-foreign cooperation, which means the foreign
investor shall be an educational institution and shall operate higher
education in the PRC through cooperation with a PRC educational
institution in compliance with the Sino-Foreign Regulation. In
addition, the Negative List also provides that the domestic party
shall play a dominant role in the Sino-foreign cooperation, meaning
that (a) the principal or chief executive officer of the school shall be
a PRC national; and (b) the representatives of the domestic party
shall account for no less than half of the total members of the board
of directors, the council or the joint administration committee of
the Sino-foreign cooperative educational institution (the “Foreign
Control Restriction”). We had fully complied with the Foreign
Control Restriction in respect of the PRC Operating Schools on
the basis that (a) the principals and the chief executive officers of
the aforementioned schools are all PRC nationals; and (b) all the
members of the board of directors are PRC nationals.

In relation to the interpretation of Sino-foreign cooperation, pursuant
to the Sino-Foreign Regulation and its Implementation Regulations,
if we were to apply for any of the schools to be reorganized as a
Sino-foreign joint venture private school for PRC students (a “Sino-
Foreign Joint Venture Private School”), the foreign investor in
the Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School must be a foreign
educational institution with relevant qualification and high quality
education (the “Qualification Requirement”). Furthermore, pursuant
to the Implementation Opinions, the foreign portion of the total
investment in a Sino-Foreign Joint Venture Private School should
be below 50% (the “Foreign Ownership Restriction”) and the
establishment of these schools is subject to approval of education
authorities at the provincial or national level.

Our PRC Legal Advisors have advised that as at the date of this
annual report, there are no implementing measures or specific
guidance on the Qualification Requirement in accordance with
the existing PRC laws and regulations and therefore it is currently
uncertain as to what specific criteria must be met by a foreign
investor (such as length of experience required and form and extent
of ownership in the foreign jurisdiction) in order to demonstrate to
the relevant educational authority that it meets the Qualification
Requirement. Accordingly, as a matter of policy, due to the lack of
implementing measures or specific guidance on the Sino-Foreign
Regulation and its Implementation Regulations, including the
Qualification Requirement, the relevant education authorities will not
accept an application to convert the PRC Operating Schools or the
schools to be newly established or invested by us into Sino-Foreign
Joint Venture Private Schools.
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2. Plan to Comply with the Qualification Requirement

The foreign investor in a Sino-foreign Joint Venture Private School
must be a foreign educational institution with relevant qualification
and high quality of education (the “Qualification Requirement”).
Foreign portion of the total investment in a Sino-foreign Joint
Venture Private School should be below 50% and the establishment
of these schools is subject to approval of education authorities
at the provincial or national level. We are committed to working
towards meeting the Qualification Requirement. We have adopted a
specific plan and taken concrete steps which the Company believes
are meaningful endeavors to demonstrate compliance with the
Qualification Requirement.

As advised by the Company’s PRC Legal Advisors, there have been
no updates to the implementation rules in relation to the Qualification
Requirement since the Listing Date and up to the date of this annual
report.

Please also refer to the section headed “Structured Contracts” in the
Prospectus and the annual report for the year ended 31 December
2018 for the Group’s efforts and actions undertaken to comply with
the Qualification Requirement. As at the date of this report, we are
still waiting for approval from the BPPE to establish the new school
in the State of California.

3. Recent Development

For details, please refer to section headed “Recent Developments of
Regulatory Framework” in Management Discussion and Analysis of
this annual report.

RISKS ASSOCIATED WITH THE ARRANGEMENTS AND THE ACTIONS
TAKEN TO MITIGATE THE RISKS

We entered into a series of agreements in which our wholly-owned
subsidiaries, Huihuang Company, Shenzhen Yuangqi, Hainan Pusen and
Nanjing Jingyuming (as the case may be) receive economic benefits
from the PRC Operating Schools pursuant to relevant clauses under the
agreements.

Foreign investment in the education industry in China is extensively
regulated and subject to numerous restrictions. We have been and are
expected to continue to be dependent on the new Structured Contracts to
operate our education business.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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If the new Structured Contracts that establish the structure for operating
our China business are found to be in violation of any PRC laws or
regulations in the future or fail to obtain or maintain any of the required
permits or approvals, the relevant PRC regulatory authorities, including the
MOE, which regulates the education industry, would have broad discretion
in dealing with such violations, including:

revoking the business and operating licenses of our PRC subsidiaries;

discontinuing or restricting the operations of any related-party
transactions among our PRC subsidiaries;

imposing fines or other requirements with which we or our PRC
subsidiaries may not be able to comply;

requiring us to restructure our operations in such a way as to compel
us to establish new entities, re-apply for the necessary licenses or
relocate our businesses, staff and assets;

imposing additional conditions or requirements with which we may
not be able to comply; or

restricting the use of proceeds from our additional public offering or
financing to finance our business and operations in China.

If any of the above penalties are imposed on us, our business, financial
condition and results of operations may be materially and adversely
affected.

The Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of the Group with the implementation of the new Structured
Contracts and our compliance with the new Structured Contracts:

(@)

major issues arising from the implementation and compliance with
the new Structured Contracts or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary,
for review and discussion on an occurrence basis;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with
the new Structured Contracts at least once a year;

the Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance
with the new Structured Contracts in its annual reports and interim
reports to update the Shareholders and potential investors;

the Company will engage external legal advisors or other
professional advisors, if necessary, to assist the Board to review
the implementation of the new Structured Contracts, review the
legal compliance of Huihuang Company and the PRC Consolidated
Affiliated Entities to deal with specific issues or matters arising from
the new Structured Contracts.
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In addition, notwithstanding that our executive Director, Mr. Li is also the
sole shareholder of Songming Dexue, we believe that our Directors are able
to perform their roles in the Group independently and the Group is capable
of managing its business independently after the Listing under the following
measures:

(@)  the decision-making mechanism of the Board as set out in the
Articles includes provisions to avoid conflict of interest by providing,
amongst other things, that in the event of conflict of interest in such
contract or arrangement which is material, a Director shall declare
the nature of his or her interest at the earliest meeting of the Board
at which it is practicable for him or her to do so, and if he or she
is to be regarded as having material interest in any contracts or
arrangements, such Director shall abstain from voting and not be
counted in the quorum;

(b)  each of our Directors is aware of his or her fiduciary duties as a
Director which requires, amongst other things, that he acts for the
benefits and in the best interests of the Group;

(c)  we have appointed three independent non-executive Directors,
comprising over one-third of our Board, to provide a balance of
the number of interested and independent Directors with a view to
promoting the interests of the Company and our Shareholders as a
whole; and

(d)  we will disclose in our announcements, circulars, as well as annual
and interim reports in accordance with the requirements under the
Listing Rules regarding decisions on matters reviewed by our Board
(including independent non-executive Directors) relating to any
business or interest of each Director and his or her associates that
competes or may compete with the business of the Group and any
other conflicts of interest which any such person has or may have
with the Group.

MATERIAL CHANGES

On 26 August 2019, pursuant to termination of the Existing Structured
Contracts, a series of agreements comprising of the new Structured
Contracts were entered into between the New Registered Shareholders, the
Existing PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and Huihuang Company.

On 6 December 2019, a supplemental agreement to the new Structured
Contracts was entered into among Pai Dui Pai, Ba Mu Pu, Songming Dexue,
Zhongyi Company, Shanghai Taifu and Huihuang Company, pursuant
to which, among other things, all the rights and obligations attached to
Shanghai Taifu’s equity interests in Yun Ai Group will be transferred to
Songming Dexue (the “First Supplemental Agreement”).

On 8 May 2020, Henan Rongyu, Luoyang School, the newly appointed
director of Luoyang School and Beijing Daai Gaoxue entered into a
supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, the then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the
Group’s further acquisition of interest in the Luoyang School (the “Second
Supplemental Agreement”).

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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On 29 July 2020, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju, the Guangxi School
Sponsor and Guangxi Schools entered into a supplemental agreement to
the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, the
then Registered Shareholders, to reflect the Group’s further acquisition of
interest in the Guangxi Schools (the “Third Supplemental Agreement”).

On 27 August 2020, Songming Gaoxue, Beijing Fangzhi, the school
sponsor of Yunnan Vocational School, Yunnan Vocational School and the
newly appointed director of the Yunnan Vocational School entered into a
supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group,
to reflect the acquisition of the Yunnan Vocational School (the “Fourth
Supplemental Agreement”).

On 4 February 2021, Songming Gaoxue and Beijing Lianhe entered into a
supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang
Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group,
to reflect the acquisition of 100% equity interest in Beijing Lianhe (the “Fifth
Supplemental Agreement”).

On 20 April 2021, Bei Ai Company, the Gansu School and the newly
appointed directors of the Gansu School designated by Bei Ai Company
entered into a supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts
with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders
of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s acquisition of 100% interest in the
Gansu School (the “Sixth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 25 May 2021, Daai Shuren, Songming Xinju, the Guangxi School
Sponsor, and the Guangxi Schools entered into a supplemental agreement
to the new Structured Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and
the registered shareholders of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s further
acquisition of interest of the Guangxi Schools (the “Seventh Supplemental
Agreement”).

On 28 September 2021, Zhengzhou New Higher Education, Beijing New
Higher Education (the company holding 100% equity interest of the school
sponsor of the Zhengzhou School and a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun
Ai Group), the Zhengzhou School and the newly appointed directors of
the Zhengzhou School designated by Zhengzhou New Higher Education
entered into a supplemental agreement to the new Structured Contracts
with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group, and the registered shareholders
of Yun Ai Group, to reflect the Group’s acquisition of 100% interest in the
Zhengzhou School (the “Eighth Supplemental Agreement”).

0On 19 November 2021, Haxuan Company, the Northeast School and the
newly appointed directors of the Northeast School designated by Haxuan
Company entered into a supplemental agreement to the new Structured
Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group and the registered
shareholders of Yun Ai Group to reflect the Group’s further acquisition of
interest in the Northeast School (the “Ninth Supplemental Agreement”).

On 20 December 2024, Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing
Jingyuming entered into a supplemental agreement to the new Structured
Contracts with Huihuang Company, Yun Ai Group and the New Registered
Shareholders to reflect the latest arrangement in the provision of the
consulting services under the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024) and
the Exclusive Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement
(2024) (the “Tenth Supplemental Agreement”).
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Save as the principal terms of the First Supplemental Agreement, the
Second Supplemental Agreement, the Third Supplemental Agreement, the
Fourth Supplemental Agreement, the Fifth Supplemental Agreement, the
Sixth Supplemental Agreement, the Seventh Supplemental Agreement, the
Eighth Supplemental Agreement, the Ninth Supplemental Agreement and
the Tenth Supplemental Agreement, the clauses of the new Structured
Contracts remained unchanged.

UNWINDING OF THE STRUCTURED CONTRACTS

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding of
any Structured Contracts, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Structured Contracts when the restrictions that led to the adoption of
the Structured Contracts are removed. For more details, please refer to
the section headed “Structured Contracts — Operation of the Structured
Contracts — Termination of the Structured Contracts” of the Prospectus
and the section headed “Unwinding of the New Structured Contracts” of
the announcement of the Company dated 26 August 2019. In the event
that the PRC regulatory environment changes and all of the Qualification
Requirement, the Foreign Ownership Restriction and the Foreign Control
Restriction are removed (assuming there are no other changes in the
relevant PRC laws and regulations), Huihuang Company will exercise the
Equity Call Option in full to unwind the contractual arrangements so that
the Company will be able to directly operate the schools without using
the Structured Contracts, as permitted by the applicable PRC laws and
regulations at the relevant time.

Confirmation of independent non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the aforesaid
Structured Contracts and confirmed that, during the relevant financial year:

(i) the Structured Contracts have been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of the Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts are on normal commercial terms; and

(il the Structured Contracts have been entered into in accordance with
relevant agreements governing them on terms that are fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

Confirmation of auditor of the Company

Ernst & Young, the Company’s auditor, was engaged to report on the
Group’s Continuing Connected Transactions in accordance with Hong Kong
Standard on Assurance Engagements 3000 “Assurance Engagements
Other Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and with
reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing Connected
Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
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The auditor of the Company has performed certain pre-determined audit
procedures regarding the Structured Contracts and confirmed that:

(i) the transactions carried out during the year ended 31 August 2024
have been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of
the Structured Contracts, and have been operated so that the profit
generated by the PRC Operating Schools and the School Sponsors
have been substantially retained by the Group;

(i)~ no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group;

(i) the Structured Contracts and if any, any new contracts entered into,
renewed or reproduced between the Group and the PRC Operating
Entities and the School Sponsors during the relevant financial period
are fair and reasonable, or advantageous, so far as the Group is
concerned and in the interests of the Shareholders as a whole; and

(iv)  no dividends or other distributions have been made by the PRC
Operating Schools and the School Sponsors to the holders of its
school sponsor’s interest which are not otherwise subsequently
assigned or transferred to the Group.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the related party transactions entered into by the Group during the
year ended 31 August 2024 are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

None of the related party transactions constitutes a connected transaction as
defined under the Listing Rules that is required to be disclosed, except for
those described in the section headed “Connected Transactions and Continuing
Connected Transactions” of this report, in respect of which the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have been
complied with.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the Share Option Scheme on 20 March 2017
(“Adoption Date”) for the purpose of giving the eligible persons an opportunity
to have a stake in the Company and help motivate them to optimize their future
contributions to the Group and/or to reward them for their past contributions.

PURPOSE

The Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain or otherwise maintain on-
going relationships with eligible persons, to facilitate the performance, growth or
success of the Group. In addition, in the case of executives (as defined below), the
Share Option Scheme may enable the Group to attract and retain individuals with
experience and ability and/or to reward them for their past contributions.
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ELIGIBLE PERSONS

Eligible persons include (a) any executive director, manager, or other employee
holding an executive, managerial, supervisory or similar position in any member
of the Group (“Executive”), any proposed employee, any full-time or part-time
employee, or a person for the time being seconded to work full-time or part-time
for any member of the Group (“Employee”); (b) a director or proposed director
(including an independent non-executive director) of any member of the Group;
(c) a direct or indirect shareholder of any member of the Group; (d) a supplier
of goods or services to any member of the Group; (e) a customer, consultant,
business or joint venture partner, franchisee, contractor, agent or representative
of any member of the Group; (f) a person or entity that provides design, research,
development or other support or any advisory, consultancy, professional or other
services to any member of the Group; (g) an associate of any of the persons
referred to in paragraphs (a) to (f) above; and (h) any person involved in the
business affairs of the Company whom the Board determines to be appropriate to
participate in the Share Option Scheme.

MAXIMUM NUMBER OF SHARES AVAILABLE FOR ISSUANCE

The maximum number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all options
to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and any other schemes of the
Group shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the Shares in issue as of the Listing
Date, which is 143,110,000 Shares, representing approximately 9.28% of the
issued shares as at the date of this annual report.

MAXIMUM ENTITLEMENT OF EACH PARTICIPANT

Unless approved by the Shareholders, the number of shares subscribed by an
eligible person upon exercise of options, plus the total number of shares issued
and to be issued upon exercise of all options (including options exercised,
cancelled and outstanding) granted to such eligible person in the 12-month period
up to and including the date of such grant shall not exceed 1% of the shares in
issue at that date, failing which separate approval of the Shareholders shall be
obtained and such eligible person and his or her close associates (or his or her
associates if such eligible person is a connected person) shall abstain from voting.

Where any grant of options to a substantial shareholder or an independent non-
executive Director of the Group (or any of their respective associates) would result
in the number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
already granted and to be granted to him (including options exercised, cancelled
and outstanding) in the 12-month period up to and including the date of such
grant:

(i) representing in aggregate over 0.1% (or such other higher percentage as
may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange) of the Shares in
issue; and

(i) having an aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Shares as
stated in the daily quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the
date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million (or such other higher amount as
may from time to time be specified by the Stock Exchange), such grant
must be first approved in a general meeting.
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VESTING AND EXERCISE PERIOD

At any time within 10 years from the Adoption Date, the Group may propose to
the Board, in its absolute discretion, to grant options to any eligible person to
subscribe at the subscription price for (subject to the terms of the Share Option
Scheme) such number of Shares as determined (provided the same shall be a
board lot for dealing in the Shares on the Stock Exchange or an integral multiple
thereof).

Subject to such terms and conditions as the Board may determine (including such
terms and conditions in relation to their vesting, exercise or otherwise), there is no
minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised and
no performance target which must be achieved by the grantee before the option
can be exercised.

The Share Option Scheme shall be valid and effective for a period of 10 years
from the Adoption Date, after which no further options will be granted or offered
but the provisions of the Share Option Scheme shall remain in force and effect in
all other respects. All options granted prior to such expiry and not then exercised
shall continue to be valid and exercisable subject to and in accordance with the
Share Option Scheme. The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme, which will
expire on 19 March 2027, is approximately two years and four months from the
date of this annual report.

AMOUNTS PAYABLE FOR APPLICATION OR ACCEPTANCE OF SHARE
OPTIONS

An eligible person can accept an option within 28 days from the date of the
offer of grant of the option, sign the offer letter comprising acceptance of the
option and submit it to the Company, and pay a remittance of HK$1.00 (as the
consideration for the grant of the option) in favor of the Company.

EXERCISE PRICE

The amount payable for each Share to be subscribed for under an option shall be
determined by the Board but shall not be less than whichever is the highest of:

(@  the nominal value of a Share;

(b)  the closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheet on the offer date; and

(c)  the average closing price of a Share as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily
quotations sheets for the 5 business days (as defined in the Listing Rules)
immediately preceding the offer date.

OTHERS

At the beginning and at the end of the Reporting Period, the Company had
13,363,620 and 5,512,270 outstanding share options (granted and vested but
not yet exercised), representing 0.86% and 0.36% of the issued Shares of the
Company at the beginning and at the end of the Reporting Period, respectively.

The number of share options available for grant under the Share Option Scheme
was 93,874,850 and 101,726,200 at the beginning and at the end of the
Reporting Period, respectively.

The total number of shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
103,615,170 Shares and representing 6.72% of the issued Shares as at the date
of this report.
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The fair value of all the share options granted by the Company during the year
ended 31 August 2024 was RMBO, comprising of RMBO and RMBO, being the
value of the share options granted to the Directors and employees (excluding
Directors and chief executives) respectively.

There were no share options granted by the Company during the Reporting Period.
Details of the movement of share options granted under the Share Option Scheme
during the Reporting Period are as follows:

SR SERY RABE R4 E RABE R2024F
@ AMAKHE 918 AME  AMM  ANM  ASE  8A3A  9AIAZ  8AMAZ
SHEALER R Ao (B7) (B7) e R AT Rt EBOR i S HATHE ABBRRE RKBEBBRE
Closing price Unvested Unvested
Exercise immediately share options  share options
price  beforethedate  Qutstanding at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding at asat asat
Category of per share of grant 1 September during during during during 31 August 1 September 31 August
participants Date of grant (HKS) (HKS) 2023 thePeriod  thePeriod  thePeriod  the Period 2024 2023 2024
Bz
Directors
FEH 018F9A3H 59 5.66 709,300 - - - 709,300 - - -
Li Xiaoxuan 3 September 2018
019F10A21 3N 292 122,900 - - - - 122,900 - -
21 October 2019
020%7723H 533 522 620,300 - - - - 620,300 - -
23 July 2020
il 018F10A26H 4202 39 680,500 - - - 680,500 - - -
Zhao Shuai 26 October 2018
019F481H 364 384 114,400 - - - 114,400 - - -
1 April 2019
019F 108218 3N 292 72,700 - - - - 72,700 - -
21 October 2019
00%7723H 533 522 148,900 - - - - 148,900 - -
23 July 2020
BERE 018107261 4202 393 114,400 - - - 114,400 - - -
Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 26 October 2018
019F471H 364 384 57,200 - - - 57,200 - - -
1 April 2019
019108218 KA 292 12,100 - - - - 12,100 - -
21 October 2019
020%7 72308 533 522 40,300 - - - - 40,300 - -
23 July 2020
TR 019108218 31 292 135,600 - - - - 135,600 - -
Pang Tsz Kit Peter 21 October 2019
00%7 82308 533 522 33,600 - - - - 33,600 - -
23 July 2020
S} 19510721 A 311 29 135,600 - - - - 135,600 - -
Chan Tung Hoi 21 October 2019
00%F7 82308 533 522 33,600 - - - - 33,600 - -
23 July 2020
T#H" 018107268 4202 393 240,250 - - - 240,250 - - -
Ding Yu* 26 October 2018
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EE BHAIRHE 9818  AHM  AHE BB FHH 8A31A 981A2 8A3AZ
SHALER Rt o (%7 (B7) R R EOf i P HATE ABEBERE AREBRE
Closing price Unvested Unvested
Exercise immediately share options  share options
price  heforethedate  Qutstanding at Granted  Exercised  Cancelled Lapsed  Outstanding at asat asat
Category of per share of grant 1 September during during during during 31 August 1 September 31 August
participants Date of grant (HKS) (HKS) 2023 thePeriod  thePeriod  thePeriod  the Period 2024 2023 2024
EXR™ 018108268 4.202 393 57,200 - - - 57,200 - - -
Wong Man Chung 26 October 2018
Francis™
i 018F10 268 4202 393 114,400 - - - 114400 - - -
Hu Jianbo™* 26 October 2018
019F471H 364 384 57,200 - - - 57,200 - - -
1 April 2019
019108218 311 292 8,700 - - - - 8,700 - -
21 October 2019
X0%7723H 533 522 29,800 - - - - 29,800 - -
23 July 2020
mEg N0F7A2H 533 522 350,000 - - - - 350,000 - -
Shen Chunmei™** 23 July 2020
E&
Employee
& (REENRL  018F10/2%H 4.202 393 2,841,560 - - - 2841560 - - -
RRFMALING 26 ctober 2018
HitE&A)
Employee (Other grantees 201811 A2 H 4320 381 19,700 - - - 19,700 - - -
excluding Directorsand 2 November 2018
five highest paid individuals)
019F471H 364 384 1,688,430 - - - 1688430 - - -
1 April 2019
019F 108218 KA 292 1,359,880 - - - 205510 1,134,370 - -
21 October 2019
WNETA2AB 533 522 2,316,900 - - - 208,100 2,108,800 - -
23 July 2020
LEBREMAL (FEFES) 1,248,200 - - - 723,200 525,000 - -
Five highest paid individuals (excluding Directors)****
HBE Total 13,363,620 - - - 7851350 5512270 - -
* R2019F4 308 B TEE * Ceased to be a director on 30 April 2019
* R2019F 12 A6 HETES > Ceased to be a director on 6 December 2019
R2023F4 A2 AT ES i Ceased to be a director on 25 April 2023
o JR2024F2 A28 HIRIEES **** Retired as a director on 28 February 2024

ek KBEHENTIEZESFMATEEEPRELREHRITE ™ The five highest paid individuals for the Reporting Period included two of the existing executive
= OHENBREREOL - Directors, whose options are disclosed above.

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT &3 85



EEEHRE
0

REPORT F DIRECTORS

it - Notes:

86

FLR2018FOASHEEMEREMS ZEBBREHE () For share options granted on 3 September 2018, all of them are with the same exercise period

BRERTES BEBESEEBEE2023F9A2H 1 :

commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 2 September 2023:

BEAY

“FHEE2

ERAEH BREBS L
Percentage of

the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested
201949 A3H 20239 H2H 50%
3 September 2019 2 September 2023
20209 A3 H 20239 A 2H 30%
3 September 2020 2 September 2023
20219 A3H 20239 A2H 20%
3 September 2021 2 September 2023

FLR2018F 10 A26 AR M BEREM T
ERERBEBZITES  FIRMAT

=R =k ) For share options granted on 26 October 2018, the exercise period commencing from the

relevant vesting date and ending date are shown as follows:

719,692,100 17 i A% 1 & & + 5,726,300 10 i A 4 (B & T Among the 19,692,100 share options, 5,726,300 share options (including 343,200 share options
AN 2 343,200 17 BE AR 4 - 1% T BDE (5 2 114,400 15 BE AR 4 - granted to Zhao Shuai, 114,400 share options granted to Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, 114,400 share
WP 21144000 BRE - BF T @~ Z 480, 5001’7} options granted to Hu Jianbo***, 480,500 share options granted to Ding Yu* and 114,400 share
ERELETEXRT 211440000 BRE) AZ options granted to Wong Man Chung Francis**) shall be subject to a vesting period as followings:
HAFT AR

HFREZ
FEAS “RAWY BRERSLL

Vesting date

Percentage of
the share options
Ending date to be vested

20193 A1 H
1 March 2019

20203 A1 H
1 March 2020

202163 A1H
1 March 2021

202310 A25H 50%
25 October 2023

202310 A 25 H 30%
25 October 2023

2023410 A 25H 20%
25 October 2023
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719,692,100 17 BE A% # & & » 1,319,100 BEAS 4 (B IE & T Among the 19,692,100 share options, 1,319,100 share options (including 137,300 share
B 2 137,30017 BE AR A R 1R F T #* 2 22,900 17 B8 AR 42 & options granted to Zhao Shuai and 22,900 share options granted to Ding Yu* and 114,400 share
PRI 2 114,400 BERRAE) B A T 5F @ ABATARIR - options granted to Chen Shuo**) shall be subject to a vesting period as followings:

BTFEBZ
HEAH HRBEH BRETS L

Vesting date

Ending date

Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

201949 A3H
3 September 2019

20209 A3 H
3 September 2020

20219 A3H
3 September 2021

202310 A 25 H
25 October 2023

2023410 A 25H
25 October 2023

2023410 A 25H
25 October 2023

50%

30%

20%

719,692,100 12 B BE 4 & R+ 600,000 17 B A4 (BB % T #8
B 2 200,000 {7 B A% 4 )

AT HBHRR

Among the 19,692,100 share options, 600,000 share options (including 200,000 share options
granted to Zhao Shuai) shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

BEAM

Vesting date

HRAM

Ending date

HFHEE2
BREBSH
Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

201949 A3H
3 September 2019

202059 A3 H
3 September 2020

20219 A3H
3 September 2021

202249 A3H
3 September 2022

202346 A3 H
3 June 2023

2023410258
25 October 2023

202310 A25H
25 October 2023

2023410 A25H
25 October 2023

2023410 A 25H
25 October 2023

2023410 H25H
25 October 2023

20%

20%

20%

20%

20%
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719,692,100 17 f& Ak 1 & & -
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12,000,000 7 B A% 4 7

FEHMARE (LD BRER LR

AT Among the 19,692,100 share options, 12,000,000 share options shall be subject to a vesting

period as follows (provided such part of the share option has lapsed):

FEAY

Vesting date

ERAEH

Ending date

BFERZ
BRERSL
Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

201949 A11H
11 September 2019

20209 A11H
11 September 2020

2023410 A 25H
25 October 2023

2023410 A 25H
25 October 2023

20%

20%

2021F9 A 11 H 2023410 A 25H 20%
11 September 2021 25 October 2023

20229 A11H 202310 A 25 H 20%
11 September 2022 25 October 2023

202346 A11H 2023410 A 25 H 20%
11 June 2023 25 October 2023

F#R 46,700 D ERREZ AT HEIBAARR : The remaining 46,700 share options shall be subject to a vesting period as follows:

HFHEE2

HEAH ERAEW BREBSH

Percentage of

the share options

Vesting date Ending date to be vested

2019410 A 26 8
26 October 2019

202010 A 26 A
26 October 2020

2021410 A 26 H
26 October 2021

2023410 A 258
25 October 2023

202310 A25H
25 October 2023

2023410 A25H
25 October 2023

50%

30%

20%

MR2018F 11 AR EMEREMS
BHERTES B 6HESBEBREE2023F11 A1HLE:

CREBERESAE Q)

For share options granted on 2 November 2018, all of them are with the same exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 1 November 2023:

FEAY

Vesting date

ERAEH

Ending date

BFERZ
EBRERS L
Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

2019411 A2H
2 November 2019

2020411 A2H
2 November 2020

2021911 A28
2 November 2021

2023411 A1H
1 November 2023

2023411 A1H
1 November 2023

2023411 A1H
1 November 2023

50%

30%

20%

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHfESXEESGRA T
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BRR2019F4ATBRENERENS  ZSEREHE @ For share options granted on 1 April 2019, all of them are with the same exercise period
BHERTES B6MEERHBE2024F3A31BIE: commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 31 March 2024:

FEAY

Vesting date

ERAEH

Ending date

BFERZ
EBRETSL
Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

20204F 4 A1 A
1 April 2020

2021F4 A1 H
1 April 2021

2022F 4 A1H
1 April 2022

20243 A31H
31 March 2024

20243 A 318
31 March 2024

20243 A 31 H
31 March 2024

50%

30%

20%

FLR2019F 10 21 BRI M ERER S -
BHRATES B6BREERHEZ2024F10A208 1t :

ZEBREY A (5) For share options granted on 21 October 2019, all of them are with the same exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 20 October 2024:

BEAS

Vesting date

ERAEM

Ending date

BFEE2
BREBSH
Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

202010 A 21 H
21 October 2020

202110 A 218
21 October 2021

2022410 A 21H
21 October 2022

202410 A20H
20 October 2024

202410 A20H
20 October 2024

2024410 A 20 H
20 October 2024

30%

30%

40%

FR2020F7 A3 BB HMEREMmS
BHRTES BEMEBABRBRE20255F7 A28 1E ¢

CREBRESAE (6 For share options granted on 23 July 2020, all of them are with the same exercise period
commencing from the relevant vesting date and ending on 22 July 2025:

BEAM

Vesting date

ERAM

Ending date

HFHEEZ
BREBS L
Percentage of
the share options
to be vested

202147 B 23 H
23 July 2021

202247 A 238
23 July 2022

202347 A23H
23 July 2023

202547 B 22
22 July 2025

20257 A 228
22 July 2025

20257 A 22 H
22 July 2025

30%

30%

40%

* MR2019F 4 A30 B BT ESE

** R20196F 12 A6 HEITES

o A2023F4 A AR TES

ek

Ceased to be a director on 30 April 2019

Ceased to be a director on 6 December 2019

Ceased to be a director on 25 April 2023
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The Share Options granted shall vest to the proposed grantees in accordance with
the above timetable, each with an exercise period commencing from the relevant
vesting date and ending 5 years after the date of grant.

Save as disclosed above, no share option was granted, exercised, lapsed, or
cancelled during the Reporting Period.

Exercise of the share options is conditional upon the achievement of certain
performance targets during the relevant exercise period.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the section headed “Share Option Scheme” of this annual
report, during the year ended 31 August 2024, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had entered into any equity-linked agreement that will or may result
in the Company issuing Shares.

CONFIRMATION OF INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Each independent non-executive Director should inform our Company as soon
as possible if there is any change of circumstances which may affect his/her
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. No such notification
was received during the Reporting Period. Meanwhile, the Company has received
an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing
Rules from each of the independent non-executive Directors and the Company
considers each independent non-executive Director to be independent since his/
her appointment and remain so as of the date of this annual report as they were
free from any business or other relationship which could affect their ability to
discharge their duties independently.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S
LISTED SECURITIES

During the Reporting Period, the Company repurchased a total of 10,964,000
Shares on the Stock Exchange for an aggregate consideration of HK$19,703,437
before expenses, of which 5,628,000 Shares were cancelled on 22 August 2024
and 5,336,000 Shares were subsequently cancelled on 4 November 2024.

Details of the Shares repurchased during the Reporting Period and up to the date
of this report are as follows:

90

BmE R G5 B AT BT Fifd

A EafE REE BRE

Highest Lowest Aggregate

No. of Shares price paid price paid  consideration

BE A5 Month of repurchase repurchased per Share per Share paid

(BTT) (B7T) (&)

(HK$) (HK$) (HK$)

20247 A July 2024 1,032,000 1.98 1.85 1,952,630

2024 8 A August 2024 9,932,000 1.98 1.51 17,750,807

M Total 10,964,000 19,703,437

2024F 9 A September 2024 1,552,000 1.78 1.52 2,507,030
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEFi=ZEEERA
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The Directors believe that such Shares repurchased would increase the net asset
value per Share and/or earnings per Share and increase the long-term value to
the Shareholders, which is in the interest of the Company and its Shareholders as
a whole.

As at 31 August 2024, the Company did not hold any treasury shares.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s securities listed on the Stock
Exchange (including selling treasury shares) during the Reporting Period.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There were no significant events affecting the Group which have occurred since
the end of the Reporting Period up to the date of this report.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of Association
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer new
Shares on a pro rata basis to existing Shareholders.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Group’s customers are mainly students. For the year ended 31 August 2024,
the Group’s five largest customers accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s
revenue and none of single customer accounted for more than 5% of the Group’s
revenue.

For the year ended 31 August 2024, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted
for 44.8% of the Group’s total purchases and the Group’s single largest supplier
accounted for 25.8% of the Group’s total purchases.

As at 31 August 2024, none of the Directors or any of their close associates
or any Shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more
than 5% of the number of issued shares of the Company) had any interest in the
Group’s five largest suppliers.

RELATIONSHIP WITH EMPLOYEES, SUPPLIERS AND
CUSTOMERS

The Group maintains a good relationship with employees, suppliers and customers
and understands that maintaining a good relationship with such stakeholders is
critical to the Group’s sustainable development in long term. During the Reporting
Period, there was no material and significant dispute between the Group and its
employees, suppliers and/or customers.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, the Directors or other officers etc. for the
time being of the Company shall be indemnified out of the assets and profits of
the Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by or by reason of any act done,
concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty, or supposed duty,
in their respective offices or trusts, provided that this indemnity shall not extend to
any matter in respect of any fraud or dishonesty which may attach to any of said
persons.

During the Reporting Period, the Company and its subsidiaries have maintained
director liability insurance to provide the Directors and other officers of the
Company and the Group’s subsidiaries with adequate security.

BANK LOANS AND OTHER BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at 31 August 2024
are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Group’s results, assets and liabilities for the last five financial
years is set out on pages 224 to 225 of “Financial Summary” of this annual
report. This summary does not form part of the audited consolidated financial
statements.

RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFITS SCHEME

Details of the retirement and employee benefits scheme of the Company are set
out in notes 3 and 7 to the consolidated financial statements.

PENSION SCHEME

Mainland China — The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension scheme managed
by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The
Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond the annual
contributions. The contributions are charged to profit or loss as they become
payable in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.

Hong Kong — The Group participates in the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
established under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance of Hong
Kong (the “MPF Scheme”) since December 2000. The assets of the schemes
are held, separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of
independent trustees. For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes
a percentage of 5% of employees’ basic payroll to the MPF Scheme, which is
the same as the employees’ contributions. The maximum monthly amount of
contributions is limited to HK$1,500 per employee.

The Group’s contributions to the schemes are simultaneously and fully vesting
to the employees. Accordingly, there were no forfeited contributions under
the Schemes which may be used by the Group to reduce its existing level of
contributions during the year ended 31 August 2024, and there was no forfeited
contribution available as at 31 August 2024.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH =X EEERA T
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HUMAN RESOURCES AND REMUNERATION POLICY

As of 31 August 2024, the Group had a total of 10,080 employees (9,755 as of
31 August 2023). The increase was mainly due to the Group’s insistence on high-
quality development and continues to introduce high-quality talents. As required
by the PRC laws and regulations, the Group participates in various employee social
security plans for our employees that are administered by local governments,
including housing, pension, medical insurance, maternity insurance, work injury
insurance, and unemployment insurance. The Group maintains a good working
relationship with employees, and the Group did not experience any material labor
disputes during the Reporting Period.

The Group follows the remuneration policy of “contribution-driven, fair and
competitive in the market” for employees. The remuneration policy is designed
according to the different position sequences of the Group and its schools, and
the salary is determined with reference to the capability, job responsibilities and
contribution of its employees. At the same time, the Group has been actively
cultivating the capabilities of its employees and has been providing external and
internal training programs for employees to build a quality team to meet the
development requirements of the Group.

ENVIRONMENT, HEALTH AND SAFETY

The business of the Group is not in violation of the applicable PRC Environmental
laws and regulations in any material aspects.

The Group is dedicated to protecting the health and safety of the students. The
Group has on-site medical staff or healthcare personnel at each of the schools,
which is operated by the Group, in order to handle routine medical situations for
students. In case of certain serious and emergency medical situations, the Group
will promptly send the students to the local hospitals for treatment. With respect to
school safety, the Group has engaged a qualified property management company
to provide property security services at the school premises of the Group.

As far as the Board and management of the Company are aware, the Group has
complied in all material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group. During the
Reporting Period, there was no material breach of or non-compliance with the
applicable laws and regulations by the Group.

SIGNIFICANT LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

During the year ended 31 August 2024, the Company was not engaged in any
litigation or arbitration of material importance and no litigation or claim of material
importance is known to the Directors to be pending or threatening against the
Company.

COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

During the year ended 31 August 2024 and up to the date of this annual report,
the Group has complied with the relevant laws and regulations that have a
significant impact on the Company.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE AND REVIEW OF ANNUAL RESULTS

The audit committee of the Company (the “Audit Committee”) has reviewed
and discussed with the management in relation to the accounting principles and
practices adopted by the Company, the internal controls and financial report
matters, and the Company’s policies and practices on corporate governance. The
annual results of the Group have been reviewed by the Audit Committee. There is
no disagreement by the Audit Committee with the accounting treatment adopted
by the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining high standards of corporate governance
practices. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 95 to 115 of
this annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information publicly available to the Company and to the best knowledge
of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s total issued shares, the
prescribed minimum percentage of public float approved by the Stock Exchange
and permitted under the Listing Rules, was held by the public at all times during
the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young was appointed as the auditor for the year ended 31 August 2024.
The accompanying financial statements prepared in accordance with HKFRSs have
been audited by Ernst & Young.

Ernst & Young shall retire at the 2025 annual general meeting and, being eligible,
will offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution for the re-appointment of Ernst &
Young as auditor will be proposed at the 2025 annual general meeting.

During the preceding three years, there was no change of the auditor of the
Company.

RECOMMENDATION TO CONSULT PROFESSIONAL TAX
ADVICE

If the Shareholders of the Company are not sure about the tax effect on the
purchase, holding, sale, trading or exercise of any rights attached to the relevant
shares of the Company, they are recommended to consult independent experts for
advice.

On behalf of the Board

Li Xiaoxuan
Chairman

China, 28 November 2024
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CORPORATE GOVERNANC

b

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE CODE

The Group is committed to the establishment of good corporate governance
practices and procedures with a view to being a transparent and responsible
organization which is open and accountable to the Shareholders. The Board strives
for adhering to the principles of corporate governance and has adopted sound
corporate governance practices to meet the legal and commercial standards,
focusing on areas such as internal control, fair disclosure and accountability to
all Shareholders to ensure the transparency and accountability of all operations of
the Group. The Group believes that effective corporate governance is an essential
factor to create more value for its Shareholders. The Board will continue to review
and improve the corporate governance practices of the Group from time to time to
ensure that the Group is led by an effective Board in order to optimize return for
the Shareholders.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has complied with all applicable code
provisions set out in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix C1 to
the Listing Rules.

As of 31 August 2024, the Group has two executive Directors (including Mr.
Li) and three independent non-executive Directors, who have brought a wide
spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and professionalism to
the Board for its efficient and effective functioning as well as a fairly strong
independence element in the composition of the Board.

CORPORATE CULTURE

With the mission of “enabling every student to achieve career success and
life fulfillment”, New Higher Education Group adheres to its corporate social
responsibilities, creates value for students, employers, government, faculties,
partners, investors and other stakeholders, advocates the values of “Student-
oriented”, “Contribution-driven” and “Adhering to Long-term Principles”, and
insists on the education philosophy of “Strengthen Moral Education and Cultivate
Talents, Teach Students in Accordance with Their Aptitude, Apply What One Has
Learned”, and is committed to building the most student-oriented university with a
century-long vision.

The Group is committed to promoting corporate culture, disseminating and driving
it from the Board, senior management, middle management, and employees, in a
top-down approach. The Board’s oversight of the corporate culture encompasses
a range of measures and tools, including employee engagement, talent retention
and training, solid financial reporting, whistleblowing, risk management and legal
and regulatory compliance, as well as staff safety, well-being and support. Taking
into account the corporate culture in a range of contexts, the Board considers that
the culture, purpose, values and strategy of the Group are aligned.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has implemented various initiatives
to promote corporate culture and will continue to monitor and strengthen the
Company’s cultural framework. Details of relevant initiatives are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report of this annual report and the 2023/2024
Environmental, Social and Governance Report.
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DEVELOPMENT STRATEGY

The Group adheres to the high-quality development strategy, actively responds
to national policies, and focuses on the strong demand for application-oriented,
technical and skilled talents in national economic and social development
during the “14th Five-year Plan” period. With building of the Party as the guide,
strengthening moral education and cultivating talents as the fundamental
task, serving development as the purpose and high-quality employment as the
orientation, the Group will constantly optimize the structure of majors and the
model of talent cultivation.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
RESPONSIBILITIES AND CONTRIBUTIONS OF THE BOARD

The overall management of the operations of the Group is vested in the Board. The
Board is responsible for the leadership of the Group and is collectively responsible
for guiding and monitoring the affairs of the Group.

The Board leads and gives guidance to the management directly and indirectly
through committees, including formulating overall strategies for the Group’s
development and monitoring their implementation, approving major policy issues,
overseeing and controlling the Group’s operational and financial performance,
internal control and risk management systems, and overseeing the performance of
senior management. The Directors are required to make objective decisions in the
interests of the Company.

The Board delegates the day-to-day management, administration and operations
to the Company’s senior management, and reserves the final approval authority
for major decisions of the Group.

All Directors (including independent non-executive Directors) bring to the Board
extensive and valuable business experience, knowledge and expertise that
contribute to the efficient operation of the Board. The independent non-executive
Directors are responsible for ensuring that the Company maintains a high standard
of governance, balancing the powers of the Board and exercising effective and
independent judgment on corporate actions and operations. During the year ended
31 August 2024, all Directors have devoted sufficient time and attention to the
affairs of the Group. Biographical details of the Directors are set out in the section
headed “Directors and Senior Management” in this annual report.

To the best knowledge of the Company, there are no other financial, business or
family relationships among the members of the Board.
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MECHANISMS FOR THE BOARD TO OBTAIN INDEPENDENT VIEWS AND
OPINIONS

The Company has established a mechanism for the Board to obtain independent
views and opinions (including but not limited to the Articles of Association, terms
of reference of Board committees) to ensure the Board has a relatively strong
independent element as a key measure to improve the efficiency of the Board.
The mechanism covers the channels for the Directors to seek advice from external
professional advisors; the right for Directors to obtain further information and
documents from the management in connection with the matters to be discussed
at the Board meetings; the procedures and criteria for election of Directors
(including independent non-executive Directors); and the number of independent
non-executive Directors and their time commitments contributed. The Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the aforementioned mechanism
and believed that the aforementioned mechanism can ensure the Board to obtain
the independent views and opinions.

Poﬁiﬁ $1TE= Executive Directors B JE511TEZ Independent Non-executive Directors
3B & Directors 3B E=E Directors
471
Gender 2% Female 5% Male
1&E = Director 5%& &= Directors
Age Group S
3ZE = Directors
. EEALREENFH
Directorship with the Company 0-3 4-5
(Number of years) 18 EE Director 2% = Directors
FEREEEMLEE LT ARNESHS

Other Hong Kong Listing Company
Directorship(s) (not including the Group)
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board of Directors consists of six
Directors, and the list of Directors is as follows:

Executive Directors

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Zhao Shuai (Chief Executive Officer)

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (re-designated from an independent non-executive Director to
an executive Director on 10 December 2024)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

As of the date of this annual report, for the latest information of Directors and
chief executive of the Company, please refer to the section headed “Directors
and Senior Management”. Save for the disclosed, there was no other change in
information which was required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) and
Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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In compliance with Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules, Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada was
appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 10 December 2024 and
obtained the legal advice referred to in Rule 3.09D of the Listing Rules as regards
the requirements under the Listing Rules that are applicable to her as a Director
and the possible consequences of making a false declaration or giving false
information to the Stock Exchange on 9 December 2024. Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada has
confirmed that she understood her obligations as a Director.

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has arranged appropriate
insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against its Directors and
officers, and has renewed the liability insurance for Directors and officers.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

Each of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, Mr. Zhao Shuai and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi, executive
Directors of the Company, has entered into a service contract with the Company
for a specific term of three years, which is automatically renewable. The service
contracts of Mr. Li Xiaoxuan and Mr. Zhao Shuai have commenced on the Listing
Date and the service contract of Mr. Chan Tung Hoi has commenced on 10
December 2024. They may be automatically terminated by either party by giving
not less than three months’ notice in writing to the other party and such notice
shall be valid until the expiry of the fixed term.

Each of Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter and Ms. Wang Ka
Ki Ada, the independent non-executive Directors, has entered into a letter of
appointment with the Company for an initial fixed term of one year commencing on
the Listing Date, 26 August 2019 and 10 December 2024 respectively, which is
automatically renewable until terminated by not less than three months’ notice in
writing by the independent non-executive Directors to the Company or immediately
upon written notice by the Company to the independent non-executive Directors.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, the Directors of the above service
contracts are subject to the rotation and re-election of Directors at least every
three years at the annual general meeting. Meanwhile, any Director appointed by
the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office until the first general meeting
of the Company after his/her appointment and shall then be eligible for re-election
at that meeting, and any Director appointed by the Board as a new member of the
existing Board shall hold office only until the next annual general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at that meeting.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Independent non-executive Directors have played a significant role in the Board
since their appointments. They bring impartial views on issues of the Group’s
strategy, performance and control, exercise their independent judgment at
the Board meetings and scrutinize the Group’s performance. Their views carry
significant influence to the Board’s decision. All independent non-executive
Directors possess extensive academic, professional and industry expertise
and management experience. They provide independent advice on the Group’s
business strategy, results and management so that Shareholders’ interests can
be taken into account as a whole, and the interests of the Company and its
Shareholders can be protected.
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As of the Latest Practicable Date, more than one-third of the Board of the
Company (3 out of 6 Directors) are independent non-executive Directors. In
addition, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson, the Chairman of the Audit Committee and
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter, a member of the Audit Committee, possess the relevant
professional qualifications and accounting and related financial management
expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules.

The Company has received confirmations of independence from all independent
non-executive Directors in accordance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
Based on the contents of such confirmations, the Company considers that all
the independent non-executive Directors are independent and that they meet the
specific independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

BOARD MEETINGS

The Board holds on-site or online Board meetings from time to time to discuss
the overall strategies, operations and financial performance of the Group. In
accordance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code, Board
meetings are required to be held at least four times a year and the above
requirement was met during the Reporting Period.

The Board undertakes to ensure that all Directors are provided with relevant
materials on the matters before any Board meeting is held and to provide sufficient
time for the Directors to review the materials and make their judgment. In addition,
Directors may individually contact the senior management of the Company or
the office of the Board in accordance with the “Procedures for Directors to Seek
Independent Professional Advice” to make requests for independent professional
advice on major proposals requiring approval at the Company’s expenses. Where
queries are raised by Directors, steps would be taken to respond as promptly and
fully as possible.

For regular Board meetings, notices of Board meetings will be given to the
Directors at least 14 days prior to such meetings and Board procedures comply
with the Articles of Association, as well as relevant rules and regulations.

Minutes of all Board meetings and Board committee meetings are completed,
recording full details of the matters considered by the Board and Board
committees, the process by which decisions were reached and any matters raised
by the Directors. Draft minutes were sent to the Directors for their comments
within a reasonable period of time after the date of the meeting.

In addition to the Board meetings, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, the Chairman, also held one
meeting with three independent non-executive Directors during the Reporting
Period without the presence of other Directors.
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The attendance record of each Director at the meetings of the Board and general
meeting during the year ended 31 August 2024 is set out below:
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Attendance/ Number of

Number of General

EENA Name of Directors Board Meeting(s) Meeting(s)

HITES Executive Directors

TEE A Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 4/4 1/1

HEED 5 A4 Mr. Zhao Shuai 4/4 1/1

BAEEZE (R2024F2 A28 HIEMT) Ms. Shen Chunmei (retired on 28 February 2024) 1/1 1/1
BIYFHITES Independent non-executive Directors

BEELE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 4/4 1/1

BRZEEE Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 4/4 1/1

T HREL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 4/4 1/1
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Note:  Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada was appointed as an independent non-executive Director on 10 December
2024, and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi was re-designated from an independent non-executive Director to
an executive Director on 10 December 2024.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, including Audit Committee,
remuneration committee and nomination committee. The chairmen of Audit
Committee and remuneration committee are independent non-executive Directors.
Through appointment and authority granted by the Board, each committee
operated in accordance with its terms of reference. And the terms of reference
and member list of each committee are available on the website of the Company at
www.xingaojiao.com and the website of the Stock Exchange at www.hkexnews.hk.

The Board committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge their
duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek independent professional
advice and other assistance in appropriate circumstances, at the Company’s
expenses.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established an Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution of the
Directors passed on 20 March 2017. Its composition and written terms of
reference are in line with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary duties of
the Audit Committee are to review the financial statements and material advice
in respect of financial reporting, and oversee the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment and removal of external auditors. As of 31 August 2024, the Audit
Committee comprised three independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwong Wai
Sun Wilson (being the chairman of Audit Committee), Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter and
Mr. Chan Tung Hoi. Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is a member of the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants; and Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter is a fellow of
CPA Australia.
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The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s unaudited financial results for the
six months ended 29 February 2024 and the audited financial results for the year
ended 31 August 2024, and is of the opinion that the preparation of the relevant
financial statements complied with the applicable accounting standards and
requirements and that adequate disclosure has been made. In addition, the Audit
Committee has also reviewed the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, and selection and appointment of the external auditors. In addition, the
Audit Committee reviewed the internal control of the Group and oversaw the risk
management and internal control systems of the Group during the year ended 31
August 2024.

During the year ended 31 August 2024, five meetings were held by the Audit
Committee. The attendance record of each member of the Audit Committee at the
meetings is set out below:
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Committee

EENA Name of Directors Meeting(s)

BB {ES 5L Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 5/5

PR E A Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 5/5

TrHEL Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 5/5
Wit ERBLLTR2024FE 12 10 EZEABEEZEE@RKE - Note:  Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada was appointed as a member of the Audit Committee on 10 December 2024,

MEAEGEER2024F12 A0 BT BETEZZES and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi ceased to be a member of the Audit Committee on 10 December 2024.
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The finance department is responsible for the preparation of the financial
statements of the Company and the Group for this financial year which shall give
a true and fair view of the financial position, performance and cash flow of the
Company and its subsidiaries for that period.

Upon appropriate enquiries, the Directors believe that the Company has adequate
resources to continue as a going concern in the foreseeable future, therefore it
is appropriate for the Group to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements.

Directors’ responsibility in respect of the financial statements

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial
statements of the Company for the year ended 31 August 2024. The management
has provided to the Board such explanation and information as are necessary to
enable the Board to carry out an informed assessment of the financial and other
information put before them by the Group for approval. The management provides
all members of the Board with monthly updates on the Company’s performance,
position and prospects.
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Appointment of external auditors

The Audit Committee is responsible for making recommendations to the Board on
the appointment, re-appointment and removal of external auditors and approving
the remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditors, and any
questions of resignation or dismissal of the external auditors. The Company has
engaged Ernst & Young as its external auditor since its listing.

Details of the fees paid/payable to Ernst & Young during the year ended 31 August
2024 are as follows.
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Audit services 4,500
Non-audit services 1,280
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Non-audit services included remuneration consulting services provided to the
Group.

Risk management and internal control

The Group’s risk management and internal control systems are featured with a
defined management structure with limits of authority and well-rounded policies
and procedures, and are designed to facilitate legal, compliant and effective
operation of schools, to ensure reliability of financial reporting and compliance
with applicable laws and regulations, to identify and manage potential risks,
and to safeguard assets of the Group. The risk management and internal control
systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance against material misstatement or loss. The Board also recognizes
its overall responsibility for the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems and reviews their effectiveness on an ongoing basis. In addition, the Audit
Committee also has the responsibility for reviewing and assessing the Group’s
risk management and internal control systems. During the Reporting Period, the
Group has adopted the following policies and procedures and taken the following
measures to improve the risk management and internal control systems of the
Group.

In order to ensure the effectiveness of our risk management and internal control
systems, with the integration of the actual situation of the Group and various
applicable laws and regulations, the management develops solutions towards the
risks with an aim to organize the business operation systematically, and monitor
and mitigate possible risks. The Group also requires all staff to comply with
certain internal risk management and internal control standards so as to build a
regulatory environment of risk control and standardized operation. In addition,
the Group has also established policies and procedures applicable to each of its
operating units with clear segregation of duties and continuous improvement to
ensure the effectiveness of risk management and internal controls.
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Meanwhile, with the assistance of the professional auditor, the Audit Committee
supervises the Group’s revenue and expenditure for the financial and economic
activities, to further strengthen the functions of risk management, to ensure the
effective implementation of risk management and internal control systems and
the Group’s standardized operation and healthy development. In order to comply
with the relevant requirements under the Corporate Governance Code in relation
to the risk management and internal controls, the Group has established an
internal audit department (compliance management department) for the purposes
of simultaneous updates between its governance and the Corporate Governance
Code and continuously improving the effectiveness of the risk management and
internal controls, and also conducts objective evaluation on the effectiveness
of the Company’s risk management and internal control systems and reports
the results to the Audit Committee on, at least, an annual basis. The Board
acknowledges its responsibility to ensure that sound and effective internal control
systems are maintained so as to safeguard the Group’s assets and the interests of
the Shareholders.

The Group’s senior management in charge of the internal audit function attends
regular meetings of the Audit Committee to report on the risk management and
internal control reports as well as the summary report of internal audit findings,
and to respond to questions from members of the Audit Committee. The report
on risk management and internal control, the summary report on the results of
internal audit and the annual audit plan are presented to the Audit Committee,
and are reported to and approved by the Board after being approved by the
Committee. All Directors are informed of the results of the internal audit.

During the Reporting Period, the Board, with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, has conducted review of the risk management and internal control
systems and considered that the risk management and internal control systems of
the Company are adequate, appropriate and effectively implemented. Such review
covered all material controls, financial, compliance and operational controls as
well as risk management mechanisms. The Board, with the assistance of the Audit
Committee, also reviewed and was satisfied with the adequacy of the Company’s
resources, the staff’s qualifications and experience, the training courses and the
related budgets in accounting, internal review and financial reporting functions.
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PRINCIPAL RISKS AND RESPONSES

The Group has always attached importance to the review of the risk environment
in which it operates, and has focused on strategic responses by incorporating
ESG risk assessment into the review of internal risks. Considering the likelihood
of occurrence of risks and the severity of their impact, the four principal risks that
have the most significant impact on the Group are as follows:

1. Staff turnover risk: the quality of teachers in the education industry will
affect the reputation of a school. Any significant loss in qualitied teachers
may result in a decline in the overall reputation and ranking of the school,
and the cost of personnel recruitment in the future will also increase.

2. Brand and reputation risk: any negative publicity about the Company may
adversely affect its reputation, business, growth prospects and ability to
recruit qualified teachers and staff.

3. Risk of student data privacy: If the Group has not established a
sound confidentiality mechanism and a confidentiality accountability
system for confidential personnel/a rating and protection system for
sensitive information/an information protection mechanism for external
communications at this stage, there is a potential risk of theft or leakage of
business secrets. This could result in the loss of competitive advantage and
harm to the corporate interests.

4, Teaching quality risk: The teaching quality of a company impacts customer
satisfaction and confidence to the company. If its teaching quality fails
to meet the standards and lacks a sound internal improvement program
in place, it may result in customers attrition and adversely affect the
performance of the company.

The Group is of the view that the aforementioned major risks are intrinsically
related, and that the control of the teaching quality risk is the main constraint on
the occurrence of other risks, and that the fundamental measures to cope with
these risks lie in adhering to the strategy of high-quality development to lead the
Group’s work in the areas of connotative construction, teaching, employment and
students’ and teachers’ experience, so as to consolidate the competitiveness
of the Group by means of excellent quality of education and to fundamentally
enhance the ability of the Group to cope with the risks of uncertainties in the
external environment and internal governance.

In response to the staff turnover risk, the Group has issued and widely promoted
the core values of the Group’s culture, clarifying its mission, vision and values
to cohesively unify all staff under a shared culture. The Group has developed the
“Performance Assessment Management Measures” to establish a scientific and
predictable employee performance assessment system, effectively motivating
employees to enhance their engagement. The Group has comprehensively carried
out the “Strengthening the Frontline” initiative to enhance the working experience
of frontline staff and improve their efficiency. The Group regularly reviews the
remuneration and benefits packages to foster a greater sense of fulfillment among
employees. It has refined the internal selection and reserve mechanism, expanded
the scope of cross-departmental communication, and created more development
opportunities for employees.
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In response to the brand and reputation risk, the Group has continuously
strengthened its professionalism in brand marketing and publicity management
within its departments for both the Group and its schools, as well as establishing
public relations channels. The Group maintains close communication with
government authorities, industry associations, media and other organizations, and
actively promotes brand through various channels to build a good brand image.
The Group optimizes its sharing platform, messages from the principal and the
internal forum to open up internal channels for staff and students to express their
opinions. This approach enables a timely and constructive response to feedback
and concerns from all staff and students, enhancing the experiences of both
students and teachers while effectively managing potential public opinion risks.

The Group addresses student data privacy risks in the following three aspects: (1)
the institutions have established the “Information Data Confidentiality System”, the
“Information Security Management System”, the “Network and Information Security
Emergency Response Plan”, and the “Personal Information Protection System”.
These systems standardize the management of the information data operations
and enhance the protection of the data security environment. Meanwhile, it has
strengthened the supervision and inspection efforts, improved the implementation
of the systems, enhanced the institutions’ capacity to handle network and
information security incidents, and prevented and mitigated losses and harm from
network and information security emergencies. The Group maintains the security
and stability of the schools to safeguard the internet and information system and
prevents data loss and leakage from the usage and maintenance of the network
and information system, effectively protecting intellectual property rights of
the schools and students’ personal data; (2) the Group strictly implements the
hardware and software investment requirements for campus network security
protection level, and employs multiple security strategies for different scenarios
of data transmission, storage and application to ensure the integrity of data and
network security; (3) the Group strictly adheres to the provisions of the “Civil Code
of the People’s Republic of China” and the “Personal Information Protection Law
of the People’s Republic of China” regarding the protection of personal privacy. It
has formulated and implemented the “Confidentiality System”, which requires all
employees to sign confidentiality agreements upon joining the Group. Those who
participate in classified special projects are specifically required to sign additional
confidentiality agreements, requiring them to keep confidential and refrain from
disclosing any private information and student data encountered in the course of
their work.
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The Group addresses teaching quality risks in the following three aspects: (1)
the Group strengthens the development of its teaching team and prioritizes the
recruitment of high-level talents, increases the investments in teacher training
and exchange programs, and offers preferential policies for further training and
academic advancement to teachers. These initiatives aim to enrich the teaching
staff in terms of quantity and quality, and solidifying the talent foundation
necessary to ensure teaching quality; (2) the Group strengthens the monitoring and
guarantee of teaching quality through the aspects of target guarantee, resource
guarantee, process guarantee and management guarantee. It has established the
“One Center, Four Guarantees” teaching quality monitoring and guarantee system
that involves the participation of students, school leaders, functional department
management personnel, teaching supervisors, teaching supervisors, faculty
management personnel, and peer teachers, to realize the systematic, scientific
and standardized operation and provide a strong assurance to improve the overall
teaching quality across the Group; (3) the Group’s closed-loop quality assurance
mechanism of “led by teaching decision making — teaching quality as an
objective — guarantee of teaching input — management of teaching operations —
teaching monitoring and evaluation — teaching quality information feedback and
improvement” operates effectively, with a focus on “student development, student
learning, and learning impact”. From these, the university has built up a quality
assurance system that combines internal and external evaluation by students,
teachers, supervisors, employers, alumni, industry and enterprise experts,
teaching experts, assessment and certification experts, etc., centred around the
classrooms, courses, majors, experimental and practical laboratories, examination
and assessment, thesis and internship, the quality of training of graduates, and
the truthfulness and quality of employment. There is continuous improvement in
the quality of education and teaching in order to meet the requirements of the
relevant teaching quality assessment, evaluation and inspection regulations.

The Group has integrated risk management into internal control and implemented
risk management projects in the areas of asset management, procurement
and supply, and infrastructure and logistics, strengthening the identification,
assessment and management of micro risks, and continuously improving the
continuity, professionalism and timeliness of risk management at the corporate
governance level.

On the other hand, the internal control systems of the Group include a sound
organizational structure with clearly defined lines of responsibility and power. The
principal is responsible for the daily management of each school and the vice
principal assists in different operation areas. Each school has established the
board of directors to be responsible for the overall management and decision-
making on important matters of the school. The board of directors, the principal
and the vice principal of the school shall manage the operation of the school within
the scope of authorization, and implement and strictly execute the strategies and
policies formulated by the Group. The schools are required to report regularly on
the implementation of the policies and strategies developed by the Group and to
inform the Group immediately of any significant development. The schools also
assign personnel to oversee ongoing compliance with relevant PRC laws and
regulations that regulate the business operations, and oversee the implementation
of any necessary measures. The schools have established emergency response
mechanisms to clarify emergency management methods for significant incidents.
The Group has arranged insurance that is in line with the usual coverage of the
education industry in the PRC.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Company established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) on 20 March 2017. Its composition and written terms of reference
are established in accordance with the Corporate Governance Code. The primary
duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of all executive Directors and senior management,
including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments (including
any compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment),
and to review and/or approve matters relating to share schemes under Chapter
17 of the Listing Rules. As at 31 August 2024, the Remuneration Committee
comprised three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an executive Director, and
two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson and Dr. Pang
Tsz Kit Peter. Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson is the chairman of the Remuneration
Committee. During the Reporting Period, the Remuneration Committee reviewed
the remuneration packages of the Directors and the senior management; and no
material matters relating to the share schemes under Chapter 17 of the Listing

Rules were reviewed and/or approved by the Remuneration Committee.

During the year ended 31 August 2024, one meeting was held by the
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REF - SHFMNEESRENHELEHIOT Remuneration Committee. The attendance record of each member of the
Remuneration Committee at the meeting is set out below:
HERE,
ZE®
BEIE
Attendance/
Number of
Committee
EEHE Name of Directors Meeting(s)
BB E Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 1/1
FEHTAE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 1/1
TFEELT Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter 1/
B E Remuneration policy
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The Group follows the remuneration policy of “contributor-based, fairness,
competitiveness”. The remuneration policy designs structure for remuneration
based on different position of the Group and its schools. Emolument is determined

with reference to staff capacities, position responsibilities and contribution.

The Remuneration Committee regularly reviews the Group’s remuneration policy
and structure for all remuneration of the Directors and senior management of the
Group, having regard to the Group’s operating results, individual performance of

the Directors and senior management and comparable market practices.

Meanwhile, the Group is actively committed to training employees’ abilities
actively and providing employees with external and internal training plans with the

aim of building up a quality team suitable for the Group’s development.
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Remuneration of Directors and senior management

As of 31 August 2024, the Company had five Directors and five members of
senior management, and details of their remuneration by band are set out below.

During the Reporting Period, no amounts were paid or received by any Director,
non-Director and non-chief executive highest paid employees of the Company
as an inducement to join or upon joining the Company, and there was no
compensation paid or receivable by any Director, former Director, non-Director
and non-chief executive highest paid employees of the Company for loss of office
as a director of any member of the Group or of any other office in connection with
the management of the affairs of any member of the Group.

FHEE (AR%T) A
Remuneration band (RMB) Number of individual
0-500,000 4
500,001-1,500,000 5
>1,500,000 1
REZES NOMINATION COMMITTEE

RARIR2017F3F20HBRAEEREEXTIES
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EEYVECABENESAZERNESSRHEERR
EZE OHLERZITEmEEMREA BEETER
HEF Bk NERBETENLCRMBEE
EREERG HE20024F8A31E  1EELZLEE
HMZZKEAK —ZBHTEFE (=L L)
MREBBYIENITES (BEELENRLBRE) -
TEZH AL ABRBETESEFE - RAREHNRN - 18
FZELZECERVESTSHRE  HERKAK -
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The Company established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
on 20 March 2017 pursuant to resolutions of the Directors. Its composition and
written terms of reference are established in accordance with the Corporate
Governance Code. The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and to
recommend to the Board the suitable candidates for Directors after consideration
of the nominees’ independence and qualification in order to ensure the fairness
and transparency of all nominations. In identifying suitable director candidates
and making such recommendations to the Board, the Nomination Committee
would also take into account various aspects of a candidate, including but not
limited to his/her educational background, professional experience, experience
with the relevant industry and past directorships. As of 31 August 2024, the
Nomination Committee comprises three members, namely, Mr. Li Xiaoxuan, an
executive Director, and two independent non-executive Directors, Mr. Kwong
Wai Sun Wilson and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi. Mr. Li Xiaoxuan is the chairman of the
Nomination Committee. The Nomination Committee reviewed the structure, size
and composition of the Board, during the Reporting Period.

During the year ended 31 August 2024, one meeting was held by the Nomination
Committee. The attendance record of each member of the Nomination Committee
at the meeting is set out below:
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Attendance/

Number of

Committee

EEfE Name of Directors Meeting(s)
TEHILE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan 11
BB (E Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 11
PR R A& Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 11

Wit TRBLETR2024FE 12 AI0BEZTAREZESKE -
MEAEEER2024F12A10HRTBETIREZZE
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Note:  Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada was appointed as a member of the Nomination Committee on 10 December
2024, and Mr. Chan Tung Hoi ceased to be a member of the Nomination Committee on 10

December 2024.
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GOVERNANCE POLICIES

The Group emphasizes the ethical and professional conduct of Directors and
employees. All employees are required to comply with various Group policies that
reflect the Group’s core values and corporate culture. The Group has adopted
and implemented a number of governance policies that require Directors and
employees to act in compliance with applicable laws, rules and regulations in
order to improve the standard operation level and ensure the healthy development
of the Group. The Group reviews these policies from time to time to ensure
that they are in line with the Group’s business, development strategies and
stakeholders’ expectations.

The major governance policies and systems of the Group published on the Group’s
website include:

ANTI-CORRUPTION AND WHISTLEBLOWING MANAGEMENT REGULATIONS

In order to strengthen the governance and internal control of the Group and its
schools, strictly comply with laws and regulations, and prevent corruption and
bribery in the course of business, the Group provides reporting channels and
guidelines for employees or partners who have dealings with the Group to report
suspected misconduct, fraud and violations. At the same time, the compliance
management department of the Group will strengthen the handling of reports,
complaints and appeals of the Group’s faculty and promote the integrity and self-
discipline of the Group and all units directly under the Group.

INSIDE INFORMATION MANAGEMENT MECHANISM

In order to further regulate the inside information management of the Group,
clarify the responsibility for disclosure and confidentiality of inside information
and adhere to the principles of openness, fairness and impartiality of information
disclosure, pursuant to the relevant laws, regulations and guidelines such as
the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information and the SFO promulgated
by the Securities and Futures Commission of Hong Kong, as well as various
internal reporting requirements, and subject to the requirements of the securities
regulators in Hong Kong, the Group has formulated the Inside Information
Management Mechanism, taking into account the actual situation of the Group,
and has consistently implemented the principles of confidentiality and timely
disclosure of inside information.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company sees enhancing diversity at the Board level as an essential
element in supporting the attainment of its strategic objectives and sustainable
development. In designing the Board’s composition, Board diversity has been
considered from a wide range of aspects, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service, and any other factors that the Board
may consider relevant and applicable from time to time. This policy sets out the
approach to achieve diversity on the Board.
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As at 31 August 2024, the Company did not fulfill the gender diversity
requirement on the Board, as all the Directors are male Directors. According to
Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules, the Stock Exchange will not consider diversity to
be achieved for a single gender board. The Board recognises the importance and
benefits of gender diversity at the Board level and has taken initiatives to identify
female candidate(s) to enhance the gender diversity among the Board members.
On 10 December 2024, the Board has appointed a female Director to achieve
an appropriate balance of gender diversity and comply with the gender diversity
requirement under Rule 13.92 of the Listing Rules. We will also ensure that there
is gender diversity when recruiting staff at mid to senior level and provide more
suitable on-job training to them, so that we will have a pipeline of female senior
management and potential successors to our Board in near future.

As of 31 August 2024, the ratio of male and female employees (including senior
management) of the Company was 40.43% and 59.57% respectively. The Board
is satisfied with the current gender diversity across the workforce (including
senior management) of the Group. The Company is committed to creating a fair,
unbiased, equal and diversified recruitment and working environment. Information
about the diversity, including the gender diversity, in the workforce during the
Reporting Period are set out in the section headed “People-oriented Collaborative
Development” in the 2023/2024 Environmental, Social and Governance Report of
the Company.

NOMINATION POLICY

This policy is about the main selection criteria, principles and relevant nomination
process used by the nomination committee in nominating suitable candidates
to the Board and advising the Board on the appointment of directors and the
succession plan of directors.

SHAREHOLDER COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Group is committed to maintaining a high degree of transparency to ensure
that the investors and the Shareholders receive accurate, clear, comprehensive
and timely information of the Group by the publication of annual reports,
announcements and circular. The Company also publishes all corporate
correspondence on the Company’s website at www.xingaojiao.com. The Board and
senior management of the Company maintain regular dialogues with institutional
investors and analysts from time to time to keep them informed of the Group’s
strategy, operations, management and plans. Members of the Board and the
Board committees will also attend the annual general meeting of the Company
and answer questions raised during the meeting. Separate resolutions would be
proposed at the general meeting on each substantially separate issue.

During the Reporting Period, the Company has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the Shareholders’ communication policy. The Board is of the
view that the Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company has facilitated
sufficient Shareholders’ communication and considered the policy is effective and
adequate.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE
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TRAINING AND SUPPORT FOR DIRECTORS

Directors need to keep abreast of the changes of business and regulatory
environment to help them perform their responsibilities effectively and to ensure
that they continue to make informed and appropriate contributions to the Board.
Directors are aware of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code
relating to the requirement on continuous professional development, and have
participated in appropriate continuous professional development training to update
and develop their knowledge and skills. During the Reporting Period, the Company
arranged external training for Directors and provided Directors with written
materials on the latest compliance information from the regulatory authorities.

According to the records maintained by the Company, the Directors received the
following training in compliance with the requirement of the Corporate Governance
Code on continuous professional development for the year ended 31 August 2024:

EEERHAREG - it MK EER
RAREROER HiE R &

Corporate Governance/
Updates on Laws,
Rules and Regulations

Accounting/Financial/
Management or
Other Professional Skills

HEBE S HEBE,

B AR Ik 4= B E MR Ik

Attending Attending

Reading Seminars/ Reading Seminars/

EEHE Name of Directors materials Briefings materials Briefings

BITESE Executive Directors

FERELE Mr. Li Xiaoxuan Y Y Y Y

i B 55 A Mr. Zhao Shuai Y Y Y Y
BIAIKHITES Independent non-executive

Directors

BEEEE Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson Y Y Y Y

PR &85 & Mr. Chan Tung Hoi Y Y Y Y

ZFHRIELT Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter Y Y Y Y
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code set out in Appendix C3 to the Listing
Rules as its code of conduct regarding securities transactions by the Directors.

Having made specific enquiry with all Directors, each of the Directors has
confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code throughout the Reporting
Period.

Furthermore, senior management of the Group and the staff of the headquarters
who are involved in the core work of release of results are subject to a two-month
black-out period prior to the release of the Company’s annual results and a one-
month black-out period prior to the release of interim results.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board adopted a revised policy on the payment of dividends (the “Dividend
Policy”) on 30 November 2021. The Dividend Policy aims to set out the principles
and guidelines that the Board intends to apply in relation to the declaration,
payment and distribution of dividends to the Shareholders. Details are disclosed
as follows:

1. PRINCIPLES AND GUIDELINES

1.1 Subject to the Cayman Islands Companies Act and the Articles of
Association, the Board of the Company has absolute discretion on
whether to declare and pay dividends. Declaration or payment of
dividends by the Company is also subject to applicable laws and
regulations including the laws of the Cayman Islands and the Articles

of Association.

Dividend Policy of the Group

1.2 The Board determines the form, frequency and amount of dividends
based on the Company’s financial results, general financial
conditions, future operations and earnings, capital requirements,
capital adequacy, statutory fund reserve requirements, cash flows,
contractual restrictions, future business prospects, statutory and
regulatory restrictions on the payment of dividends, interests of the
Shareholders of the Company and any other factors that the Board
considers relevant.

1.3 The Board currently intends to recommend an annual dividend of not
less than 30% of the profits available for distribution earned by the
Company in each financial year.

1.4 In any event, a dividend may only be declared and paid out of the
profits and reserves of the Company that are lawfully available for
distribution (including share premium), and in no circumstances may
a dividend be paid if this would result in the Company being unable
to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of business in
the future.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH =X EEERA T
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1.5 Shareholders may declare dividends by ordinary resolution in a
general meeting, but no dividend may be declared in excess of the
amount recommended by the Board.

1.6 Any future dividend payments to the Shareholders will also depend

upon the availability of dividends received from the subsidiaries of
the Company. Regulations in China may restrict the ability of the
Company’s PRC subsidiaries to pay dividends to the Company.

2. REVIEW OF THE POLICY

The Dividend Policy reflects the Board’s current views on the Company’s
financial and cash flow position. The Board will continue to review the
Dividend Policy from time to time and there can be no assurance that
dividends will be paid in any particular amount, if at all, for any given
period. During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report, there
was no arrangement under which a shareholder of the Company has waived
or agreed to waive any dividends.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

In order to update and bring the Articles of Association in line with the latest
regulatory requirements in relation to the expanded paperless listing regime and
the electronic dissemination of corporate communications by listed issuers and
the relevant amendments made to the Listing Rules which took effect from 31
December 2023, and to make some house-keeping amendments, Shareholders
has passed a special resolution for the adoption of the third amended and restated
Articles of Association at the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28
February 2024, which took effect on the same date.

The third amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the
Company are available on the website of the Stock Exchange and the website of
the Company.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND INVESTORS

The Board understands the importance of maintaining clear, timely and effective
communication with Shareholders and investors. The Company has established a
shareholders’ communication policy and the Board reviews it on a regular basis to
ensure its effectiveness. The Company communicates with the Shareholders and/
or potential investors mainly in the following ways:

1. the holding of annual general meetings or extraordinary general meetings
(if any, which may be convened for specific purposes), which provide
opportunities for the Shareholders to communicate directly with the Board.
Members of the Board attend the Company’s annual general meetings to
answer relevant questions at the meetings; in order to protect the interests
and rights of Shareholders, separate resolutions are proposed at general
meetings for each major individual issue, including the election of individual
directors. Resolutions will be voted on by poll in accordance with the Listing
Rules and the results of the poll will be posted on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange after the general meeting;

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT F 3k

113



114

X B
CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

no

REBELTRAUZRETNERS  FH -+
HEMBE RARESHER ZHER
BEFRERE  BRERR REEREE
EECERE BR  2EMEBHNREER

/B &E

3. R A2 B 48 ik www.xingaojiao.com FI) B AN &
LEMER &

4. EHEREEROMEBEFE BRBREER
HR2MREERBEE RARER X
BEREEREAKSERRE  2&E B8
Kiatdl - BUOIRER MR EEBBEARAB U
FBEBARAIREEMEREEILENR » %
Flz Bt sE BRI M A R R R VA ER]

RMEE EE5eCEZMRREBBRONEERE
A - EEBEREINSEERREE  BEE
MR RBEF R ERTHRIE PR EIEE Z= 2024 F 8
AEBLEFERNMBINER(INE)  EEEE
MR ERBCRBEEEEERT AN -

iR R #E R

BREMBIRRAERARRASLREES
MR F

RIFAMBNZESS G RABEM—BHALERIESR
EREAFATINRARFTEHRBRA (B #F
EARBBRAERE) o2 — (BAQFRAE
Bh-—ENEEFE)NBRRTAIZREFARRE
BIRE - EHEREAEASTARNESREL  TH
Wit PEIERTHERBEAAEFRSREEE
WEGFE0E WEKEZRETAEFNIHK
BRBRAMESHZZERZERAERIRASR
BRBREHAE - BERSEHRNIEL ERENE
AABH HWRELEABERRABARNEZTRE
ETLZHARARAS  RIREHEZBROALER—
AXrEeZMHARRSEZ MELERALHE
EEREZREBFAAEMEEN — A ERK
HARAAREEZERLKALTRE - REBRKALAR
IRANRSE B8 IR BN IR A G HZEIZPIBIVRZER ©

2. the publication of announcements, annual reports, interim reports and
circulars as required under the Listing Rules and press releases on the
latest information of the Group, maintaining a high level of transparency
and ensuring that Shareholders and/or potential investors receive accurate,
clear, comprehensive and timely information about the Group;

3. the publication of all the latest information of the Group on the Company’s
website at www.xingaojiao.com; and

4, regular dialogue with investors and analysts, organizing investor roadshows,
and attending investor conference to inform Shareholders and/or potential
investors of the Group’s strategy, operations, management and plans.
Shareholders and investors are welcome to visit the Company’s website
and make enquiries through the Company’s Investor Relations Management
Department, whose contact details are available on the Company’s website.

During the Reporting Period, the Board has reviewed the implementation and
effectiveness of the shareholders’ communication policy. Having considered
the multiple channels of communication in place, including steps taken at the
annual general meeting and the handling of queries received (if any) which were
conducted during the year ended 31 August 2024. The Board is satisfied that
the shareholders’ communication policy has been properly implemented and is
effective.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

PROCEDURES FOR SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY
GENERAL MEETING AND PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT
SHAREHOLDERS’' MEETING

Pursuant to Article 58 of the Articles, any one or more Shareholder(s) holding, at
the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital
of the Company having the right of voting at general meetings of the Company on
a one vote per share basis in the capital of the Company may request to convene
extraordinary general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to
the Directors by mail at 20/F, Tower F, Phoenix Place, 5A Shuguang Xili Street,
Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC, for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting to be called by the Directors for the transaction of any business
or resolution specified in such requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit,
the Directors fails to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only one location which
will be the principal meeting place, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors shall be reimbursed to
the requisitionist(s) by the Company. The requisitionist(s) may add resolutions to
the agenda of a general meeting requisitioned under Article 58 of the Articles.
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PROCEDURES FOR THE SHAREHOLDERS TO PROPOSE A PERSON FOR
ELECTION AS A DIRECTOR

If a shareholder (who is eligible to attend and vote at a general meeting of the
Company) wishes to propose a person other than a retiring director for election
as a director at a general meeting, a written notice to that effect must be lodged
with the Company’s branch share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited, at Rooms 1712-1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong. The notice must include (i) a notice
of the shareholders’ intention to propose the person to be elected; (i) a notice
signed by the person of his or her willingness to be elected as a director of the
Company and a written consent to the publication of his or her particulars; and
(iii) the biographical details of the proposed candidate as required to be disclosed
under Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules.

The minimum period for lodging such written notice shall be at least seven days
commencing on the day after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting at
which the election is to be held and ending no later than seven days prior to the
date of such general meeting.

If the Company receives such notice after the publication of the notice of general
meeting, the Company will issue an announcement or a supplementary circular
to the shareholders containing the particulars of the proposed candidates in
accordance with the Listing Rules (as applicable) prior to the general meeting.

PROCEDURES BY WHICH ENQUIRIES MAY BE PUT TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may send their enquiries and concerns to the Board by addressing
them to the Board of Directors of the Company by mail at 20/F, Tower F, Phoenix
Place, 5A Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing, the PRC, or by email
to ir@xingaojiao.com. The office of the Board is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board’s direct responsibilities to
the Board and communications relating to ordinary business matters, such as
recommendations and inquiries, to the senior management of the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company is Ms. Wong Wai Ling, whose biographical
details are set out in the section headed “Directors and Senior Management”
in this annual report. Ms. Wong Wai Ling has informed the Company that she
has taken at least 15 hours of training covering corporate governance during
the Reporting Period to comply with the requirements under Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. Her principal contact person of the Company is Mr. Zhao Shuai, an
executive Director.
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To the shareholders of
China New Higher Education Group Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China New Higher
Education Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set
out on pages 121 to 223, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 August 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss,
the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement
of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including material
accounting policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of
the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 August 2024, and of
its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
("HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
(“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing
(“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are
further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the
“Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with
the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon,
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that
context.
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Impairment of gooawill
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The Group recognised goodwill in an aggregate of RMB751.5
million as at 31 August 2024 arising from a series of
acquisitions, which were supported by an annual impairment
review required by Hong Kong Accounting Standard 36
“Impairment of Assets”. Management’s assessment process
involved significant estimates and judgements, including:
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FRANERAREAEERRE  BREERE
RIBEENE &

° the assumptions of the expected cash flow growth
used in the Group’s most recent budgets for the next
five years approved by management including growth
rates and budgeted gross margin; and

° Lﬁﬁﬁf\ﬂixfﬁﬁ/mgmﬁuﬁ—'—&Eﬁﬁiﬁﬁf °©
° the discount rates and long term growth rate applied to
future cash flow.

BEE A A5 0 B R S 2R BT B R A 17
EFREBERYBIHEN T3 (EX S5 HEFRIGE —
BEERE) ARIF16 (&) -

Information about the accounting estimates and disclosures
related to the impairment assessment of goodwill were
disclosed in Note 3 (Significant accounting judgements and
estimates — Impairment of goodwill) and Note 16 (Gooawill) to
the financial statements.

B2 B RS
INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report, including
in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance
of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of our audit
procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

EENETNMNEERREHFETER

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

B REFBEATEIE
The audit procedures, among others, included the following:

e HEBEEEMRKREeRETENRESIFEBIE
° Evaluated management’s future cash flow forecasts and the process by
which they were drawn up;

e BBYHRBATBINGHARER:
° Assessed the key assumptions by checking against the historical trends;

e HRIFEBMENMAFENERRE - UalMiBETEB %
T

° Assessed the actual performance of current year against the prior year
budgets to evaluate historical forecasting accuracy;

o HTEABETTRRRE DI
° Performed sensitivity analyses on the forecasts;

s HBFEABHREZERABREETERNITEMAERLEGRE
EENEANGE FTEXRRPERE K

° Involved our internal valuation specialists to assist us in evaluating the
methodologies, the discount rate and long term growth rate used by
comparing to those of the industry for selected schools; and

e Mt EEEUEAHERERBEANRBEEENTOM -
° Evaluated the adequacy of the Group’s disclosures regarding the
impairment testing of goodwill.
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Annual Report, other than
the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other
information and we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether
the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the Company
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going
concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do
S0.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in discharging
their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion.
Our report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHfESXEESGRA T
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement
and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk
of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal
control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but
not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Group’s internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by
the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,
whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that
may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying
transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.
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We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any
significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence and to communicate with
them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear
on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or
safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes
public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report
is Lawrence K.W. Lau.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong

28 November 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT
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A

EF

H b Was K38 &
HERDHFAX
TR XX
H A 5 <
BEKA

BR Bt Al 2
GIEEEAGE3

F A A

BT AL :
BRBHER A

BRAEBRERR
BiEERER

ERN#E(ARET)
—F R A

REVENUE

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other income and gains

Selling and distribution expenses
Administrative expenses

Other expenses

Finance costs

PROFIT BEFORE TAX
Income tax expense

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

Basic and diluted (RMB)
— For profit for the year

2024 2023 £
2024 2023
oka AREFT T AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
5 2,411,710 2,119,140
(1,535,575) (1,313,136)
876,135 806,004
5 423,447 407,778
(40,613) (35,828)
(113,365) (95,712)
(104,676) (92,823)
6 (127,868) (143,576)
7 913,060 845,843
10 (156,986) (142,554)
756,074 703,289
756,074 703,289
756,074 703,289

12
0.49 0.45
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TEETHEWER BZ2024F8831ALEE
NSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME YEAR ENDED 31

AUGUST 2024

2024 2023 £
2024 2023
AR¥ET T AREFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
FRER PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 756,074 703,289
Hith2mhsE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
REZBESTEEHFIEZE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME THAT WILL
BEapPHMEZEKE - NOT BE RECLASSIFIED TO PROFIT OR LOSS
IN SUBSEQUENT PERIODS:
HEPRKRANEY =5 Exchange differences on translation of
financial statements (9,702) 3,234
FrREBAMBTEETHES Net other comprehensive income that will not be
;Lg HOEMETE KR FRE reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods (9,702) 3,234
FRAHME2EWE - MBRBHIE OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR,
NET OF TAX (9,702) 3,234
FRAZEKEHAE TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 746,372 706,523
BT ALTEWS : Attributable to:
(SE/NEIE TSN Owners of the parent 746,372 706,523
746,372 706,523
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH =X EEERA T



AR ER 2024585318
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 AUGUST 2024

2024 & 2023 &
2024 2023
k2 ARET R ARET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
ME - BE NRE Property, plant and equipment 13 5,949,729 5,440,611
WEME Investment properties 14 393,364 402,447
FTREEE Right-of-use assets 15(a) 1,100,718 1,078,491
Ha Goodwill 16 751,505 752,021
HihEmREEE Other intangible assets 17 88,771 83,346
3 R % PR 1 2 Pledged and restricted deposits 21 100,000 101,000
HMERBEE Other non-current assets 18 293,244 192,164
ERBEELE Total non-current assets 8,677,331 8,050,080
REBEE CURRENT ASSETS
B S REIEIE - FASFIE « Trade receivables, prepayments,
HihEWRIBER H & ZE  other receivables and other assets 19 118,244 142 513
BAFETAEZN SR Financial assets at fair value through
BE profit or loss 20 - 48,789
2R RS 17 Pledged and restricted deposits 21 831,389 146,557
TFHFEZ Time deposits 21 10,669 -
HENRIREEEY Cash and cash equivalents 21 1,379,606 855,060
MEVEERE Total current assets 2,339,908 1,192,919
REEE CURRENT LIABILITIES
aaE Contract liabilities 22 1,690,074 1,356,250
Efh BN EST B A Other payables and accruals 23 953,483 976,314
PTESBMIA Derivative financial instruments 24 16,169 -
STERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 1,486,108 1,153,554
HEaE Lease liabilities 15(b) 4,100 6,414
IRIE W 25 Deferred income 26 15,003 14,632
FET B8 Tax payable 168,298 149,304
BB EERE Total current liabilities 4,333,235 3,656,468
REBEEFE NET CURRENT LIABILITIES 2.1 (1,993,327) (2,463,549)
EERAEBERRBES TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 6,684,004 5,586,531
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GEMBMRREK 202487318
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 31 AUGUST 2024

2024 2023 &
2024 2023
k3 ARET R AREFIT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
FRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
STERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 25 2,013,331 1,554,954
HEEBRE Lease liabilities 15(b) 1,297 3,331
IEIE W 2 Deferred income 26 362,856 310,118
FEERIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 27 194,759 185,317
ERBaEEE Total non-current liabilities 2,572,243 2,053,720
BEEFEAE Net assets 4,111,761 3,532,811
e EQUITY
NEER AELEZ Equity attributable to owners of the parent
R& A Share capital 28 1,063 1,067
B I1FRR 5 Treasury shares (8,050) -
% Reserves 30 4,118,748 3,531,744
BrER Total equity 4,111,761 3,532,811
2Bt izl
Li Xiaoxuan Zhao Shuai
EZE EZE
Director Director
CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE¥=XEBERLT
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GERERER HE204F8A31ALEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

2024 F 2023 4
2024 2023
iz AR® T ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
KREZBAERENE CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 25 A s A Profit before tax 913,060 845,843
AT ZIBRE Adjustments for:
& AR AR Finance costs 6 127,868 143,576
RITH B R Bank interest income 5 (20,590) (21,612)
B = Donation income (48,856) (48,097)
B EMES Gain on wealth investment products 5 (637) 677
HEWE  WEREKER Loss on disposal of items of property,

ER:0) ] plant and equipment 7 1,159 2,991
NF{E (#25) E8)F58 . Fair value (gains)/losses, net:

EAFEFAERD Financial assets at fair value through

TR EE profit or loss 7 888 (1,142)

PMETHE-THEER Derivative instruments — transactions not

B RHRZ 5 qualifying as hedges 7 16,169 -
HETRHEHEEMm Revision of a lease term arising from a change in

BYMEEER] the non-cancellable period of a lease 15(c) - (92)
ME  BMENMKREEEH Depreciation of items of property,

e plant and equipment 13 236,774 200,583
BREMERE Depreciation of investment properties 14 9,083 9,860
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15(a) 36,566 34,111
IE AE U 25 5 Amortisation of deferred income 26 (24,515) (18,018)
H b A e Amortisation of other intangible assets 17 27,888 25,680
B REWEIE - JBIE - Impairment allowance for trade receivables,

Humlzm g HEmE prepayments, other receivables and other assets

EREEB 19 1,027 942
BEREE Impairment of goodwill 16 516 -
LA RS #8 S 5 2 B PR A B 2 Equity-settled share option expense 29 - 1,969

1,276,400 1,175,917

2 & TR %17 20/ Decrease in pledged and restricted deposits 14,669 5,094
B 5 REWGRIE - TEfT 718 - Decrease/(increase) in trade receivables, prepayments,

HthREURIB & H & E  other receivables and other assets

B, (3G n) 8,262 (27,275)
HuENZBELESSER Increase/(decrease) in other payables and accruals

#m, Cr4) 12,166 (32,015)
SHBREEN Increase in contract liabilities 333,824 382,915
REXBRESERS Cash generated from operations 1,645,321 1,504,636
= U F B Interest received 26,076 27,640
EAfFTEH Income tax paid (128,550) (109,429)
REFEPISHSMEFHE  Net cash flows from operating activities 1,542,847 1,422,847
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HEHERER HE20UESANBIEEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
iz AR® TR ARETT
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
REZBAERERE CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
BEMX  MEMNZRMHEHR Purchases of items of property, plant and equipment (688,406) (615,350)
HEWE  WEREEIEE  Proceeds from disposal of items of property,

Fr 58 508 plant and equipment 3,377 6,623
BEFRAEEE Purchase of right-of-use assets (133,861) (47,184)
DU EYE - R NERE Receipt of government grants for property,

BT plant and equipment 26 77,624 12,074
NEEMEBEEEE Additions to other intangible assets (33,313) (32,604)
U B BT B8 2 A Acquisition of subsidiaries - (40,000)
FEADEME SR EI7F5 Placement of pledged and restricted deposits (2,337) (2,760)
T8 B 2 R Increase in wealth investment products 48,538 (42,793)
REVE BiIER Withdrawal of time deposits (10,669) 130,000
KEEHFTAIE S MEF%  Net cash flows used in investing activities (739,047) (631,994)
BMEESERESRE CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
& B JNE B #E Purchases of foreign exchange options - (1,647)
iR T R EMER New bank and other borrowings 2,439,897 1,506,659
EEIRITREME R Repayment of bank and other borrowings (1,656,317) (2,144,591)
HENTH ARSI D Principal portion of lease payments (6,711) (5,507)
255 & Interest paid (155,813) (145,035)
BB IR TR Payment on purchase of shares (18,118) (21,400)
Ui B JE TR BR A 25 Acquisition of non-controlling interests = (165,000)
2R E Dividends paid (185,820) (145,175)
2R TR 17 (Increase)/decrease in pledged and restricted deposits

(gm) R (696,164) 104,274
RMETEBMARSME/FEE  Net cash flows used in financing activities (279,046) (1,017,422)
e RBESEBEmEm NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH AND

CRL) 58 CASH EQUIVALENTS 524,754 (226,569)
FYIRESNRRESEEY Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 855,060 1,081,449
SNPERE R B AL - JFEE  Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net (208) 180
FRBGRASEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF YEAR 21 1,379,606 855,060

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED FE#HSXEBERAT



HEHERER HE20UESAZNBILEEE
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

2024 & 2023 &
2024 2023
k3 AR¥T ARET T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
SRS LB S EEWEEE  ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

RAE VKRR RE Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
HWENIREEEY consolidated statement of financial position 1,379,606 855,060

RAERERERATHN Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
HWENIREEEY consolidated statement of cash flows 1,379,606 855,060
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Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd. * E R H B
HRABEEEMAY - AR HZREIERBR
BEEEEE ([FEE])

B A I B 4 7 10
AAREEMBARFBENT :

M RMEE Bz2024E8 831 ALEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

The Company was incorporated as an exempted company with limited
liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands on 8 July 2016.
The registered office address of the Company is Cricket Square, Hutchins
Drive, P.0. Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
Company was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 19 April 2017.

The Company is an investment holding company. During the year, the
Company and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) were
principally engaged in rendering private education services in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC").

In the opinion of the directors, the parent company and the ultimate parent
company of the Company is Aspire Education Management Co., Ltd.,
which is incorporated in the British Virgin Islands. The ultimate controlling
shareholder of the Company is Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (“Mr. Li").

INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as follows:

WAL ERK
4 BEBERAS
Place and date of
incorporation/
registration
Name and operation
BRAZBEESMEERRA(BEAF]) 201658 A5H -
(e mEe) HE/RERL
Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and Technology Co., Ltd. 5 August 2016,
("Huihuang Company”) (Notes (@), (b) and (¢)) PRC/Mainland China

EHEARHEREERERARAWHHRY) 205558198 -
RE/RE R

Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., Ltd. 19 May 2005,

(Notes (@) and () PRC/Mainland China

EHIHSR (M) 200548 A118 -
RE/RE R

Yunnan Technology and Business University (\ote (@) 11 August 2005,
PRC/Mainland China

EMTIEBESR (Hite) 01247A38
RE/RE R

Guizhou Technology and Business Institute (ote () 3July 2012,
PRC/Mainland China

BRTER/ KRR ER
HMBAEE REBAL FEES
Nominal value
of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registered interest attributable
share capital to the Company Principal activities
=k B
Direct Indirect
1,000,000 7 - 100%  FRfERT R E R R%
(E3);
United States dollar - 100%  Rendering of technical and
(USD") 1,000,000 management consultancy
Services
AR #34900,959 7 - 100% REER
RMB34,900,959 - 100%  Investment holding
AR 16,000,000 - 100% REHERS
RMB16,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
AR 64,240,000 - 100% REHERS
RMB64,240,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
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ARAIREEEHR (&) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
BRMEARNER (&) INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
WAL/ ERK BRTER/ KRR ER
£ BEBERAS MR AEE REBDL TEES
Place and date of Nominal value
incorporation/ of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
BE B
Direct Indirect
BREERSER ((RILER]) (Hitw) 2003F5A 28 - AR# 213720007 - 100% REHERS
B/ hERM
Harbin Huade University (“Northeast School”) (Note (2)) 22 May 2003, RMB21,372,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
PRC/Mainland China
RENBEBESR (DRHER]) (Hite) 013%7R198 - AR 100000007 - 100% REHERS
B/ hERM
Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College 19 July 2013, RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
(“Luoyang School’) (Note () PRC/Mainland China
ERAZERBESR (HiteR0) 20065 1A208 - AR 330000007 - 100% REHERS
B/ hERM
Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College 20 January 2006, RMB33,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
(Notes (a) and () PRC/Mainland China
ERAZERBESRMERE WZeRke) 2006548108 ARH5,0000007C - 100% REHERS
B/ hERM
Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation Middle School 10 April 2006, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
(Notes (a) and () PRC/Mainland China
BERSMNEZRRBERMER (Wit Le) 209F10A8268 - ARH5,0000007C - 100% REHERS
B/ hERM
Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation and 26 October 2009, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
Technology School (Notes (@) and (1) PRC/Mainland China
Bk ([ZHER]) (Hite) 201051818 ARHE3,0000007C - 100% REHERS
B/ hERM
Hubei Enshi College (“Central China School”) (Aote (3)) 1 January 2010, RMB3,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
PRC/Mainland China
B EERERER ((HEER)) (HiHe) 02F11 A28 AR 800000007 - 100% REHERS
B/ hERM
Lanzhou College of Information Science and Technology 22 November 2002, RMBB30,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
(“Gansu School”) (Note (z)) PRC/Mainland China
EREERHAERBERRA (R BE]) 2014F6A17H AR#100000007C - 100% RERMRS
(Wit k) B/ hERM
Beijing Union Open Education Technology Co., Ltd. 17 June 2014, RMB10,000,000 - 100%  Provision of technology services
(“Beijing Lianhe”) (Notes (a) and () PRC/Mainland China
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ARAIREEEHR (&) 1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION (CONTINUED)
BERHNEBEARNER (&) INFORMATION ABOUT SUBSIDIARIES (CONTINUED)
BMRL ERE BRTER/ KARER
£ BEBERAS SfRAHEE REBDL TEES
Place and date of Nominal value
incorporation/ of issued ordinary/ Percentage of equity
registration registered interest attributable
Name and operation share capital to the Company Principal activities
BE B
Direct Indirect
ERTRNEERARYERIERERRE  ANF12ANE ARHE5,0000007C - 100% REHERS
(TEmBEER]) (Witaky) RE/RE R,
Kunming High Tech Zone Einsun Education and Training 31 December 2011, RMB5,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
School Co., Ltd. (“Yunnan Vocational School”) PRC/Mainland China
(Notes (a) and (b))
B mRESR (BMNER)) (i e) 20098 A108 - A 123,000,000 - 100% REHERS
B/ hERM T
Zhengzhou City Vocational College (“Zhengzhou School’) 10 August 2009, RMB123,000,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
Note (a) PRC/Mainland China
ERXLBEERDA (W ZARY) N0F4F248 - AR 1,000,000 - 100% HEEX
B/ hERM
Yunnan Wenxin Books Co., Ltd. (Votss (@) and (b)) 24 April 2020, RMB1,000,000 - 100%  Sale of textbooks
PRC/Mainland China
ERERAGHETEREER 014F108 258 - AR 4000007 - 100% REHERS
(IERPEREER]) Wite) e/ RE R,
Kunming Einsun Technology Secondary Vocational School 25 October 2014, RMB400,000 - 100%  Rendering of education services
(“Yunnan Secondary Vocational School’) (Note (3)) PRC/Mainland China

Bt

Notes:

(@) MRZEARTETCERE HEXAT - Bt
ERAMNEXEBAARAEEERS NP LR
HEBEMAK -

(b) ERBEEARNRPEARANMBERT
© WRAR R HAREFEAREMOIEBELE -

@ ZEBRABAIEASER] -

ERIPEER/IETEFAXEALBEK
AEEEEFEIERD ZARANMER
Al -EERARHEMMBRRNFRERKE
HREEANTTE -

(a) The English names of these companies represent the best effort made by the
management of the Company to directly translate the Chinese names as the companies
do not register any official English names.

(b) Limited liability companies established in the People’s Republic of China.
(c) Huihuang Company is registered as a wholly-foreign-owned enterprise under PRC law.

(d) These schools are collectively named “Guangxi Schools”.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion
of the directors, principally affected the results for the year or formed a
substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of
excessive length.
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BB

ZEMBHRRDBREEFRGOAE ([FE
A BEANEBRBERELEL ([F
BHMBERELER ] BEMEETBMBERELE
Al - BEGEN(TEAGHEL]) k)
AREBBRAGHOEBERERE - ZFH
BRERIDRBEELRAEHRE (ZRFER
ENRATFEFARENEREERTES
BTAKRIN) - ZEFUBRERAAREZS
ABRZEHEPEIN MEBENBRERED
BT ALEL

ANEBR20024FE8 A3 BB RE A B F
% AR #1,993,327,000 7T (20234 : AR
2,463,549,0007T) + E A B #E 2024 F 8 A 31
A& LB EARKE1,690,074,000 7T (2023 4F
AR #1,356,250,000 7T) °

EREFRDABRI RABREAEEIEH
ARETREKENARUBKERY EF
EREZEAEENRRABDESRRAR
HufmERE -

REBFRALENREAAN  EFEMNLE
BAENRARRRYBECH N2 HE
THRBAET  AREASEAEEENE
MRBHERHE  ANEED B AEFEEM B
BRESEARTEENRNSIHANEE -

it EEZRA BFELLEEEREVB
BRAAE - WMASERERFEEELE
AIREH AR UM EEEEE A REI S5
AR A e HBR M E BB EELEE -
RZEHENTELERRNFEHRRA -

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) (which include all Hong
Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASs”) and Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared under the historical
cost convention, except for financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and derivative financial instruments which have been measured at fair
value. These financial statements are presented in RMB and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

The Group recorded net current liabilities of RMB1,993,327,000 as at
31 August 2024 (2023: RMB2,463,549,000), included in which were
contract liabilities of RMB1,690,074,000 as at 31 August 2024 (2023:
RMB1,356,250,000).

In view of the net current liabilities position, the directors have given careful
consideration to the future liquidity and performance of the Group and
its available sources of finance in assessing whether the Group will have
sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern.

Having considered the cash inflow from operations, the directors are
satisfied that the Group is able to meet in full its financial obligations as
they fall due for the foreseeable future. To mitigate any liquidity issues that
might be faced by the Group, the Group has obtained adequate banking
facilities from reputable financial institutions to meet its obligations as and
when they fall due.

Accordingly, the directors are of the opinion that it is appropriate to prepare
the financial statements on a going concern basis. Should the Group be
unable to operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made
to write down the value of assets to their recoverable amounts, and to
provide for any further liabilities which might arise. The effect of these
adjustments has not been reflected in the financial statements.
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21 WMREE (&)

REEE

HRAETBRREEARAMENBRAREHZ
20248 A3THIEFENHBHRE - WE A
RIEAAREEXEERINER (BELE
{tEEE) - FALEEBBLHEEHRNMERH
EBMAEATZEBNRARKEREZE A
B3 BB NERHKREHSNED (A
SAEEBENARNTEREHSNMEREE
BRIRISER) 22 LD R - BES L
T o

R—REBER T FES BIREETRIE B
ZHE - BEARABELIRBREHRKZH
MFORESEUEN  EFHERTHBY
REUSROBENIR AEESEEMBERHA
EEMBR - B

(@) HEREBEHREMRREFAEENGAOZR
BE

b)) HMEHLHEENEN: &
(€ AEERRRENEBLERREE -

MEBARIMMBEREAEAEARR —BHE
AR EA - REHRGRRE - WEBARNE
RERARERSTHEE AR ALZARE
W AGERE EZENRELLEERRL -

BaEhEME2ERENSEAKSD FBER
AEBEBGRANEEARFERER - BIfE
RS EHFERED A BA SR ARE
RERRRARZEROMASBEARRRRE
EEEE #a W FAXEREAED
IS IR= Ny e IR I

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of
the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31 August 2024. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the Group is exposed,
or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and
has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability to direct the
relevant activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results
in control. When the Company has less than a majority of the voting
or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts
and circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of the
investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and
(c)  the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the same
reporting period as the Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until the date that such
control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive income are
attributed to the owners of the parent of the Group and to the non-
controlling interests, even if this results in the non-controlling interests
having a deficit balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HFEHESHEEERAT
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)
BASIS OF CONSOLIDATION (CONTINUED)

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and
circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or more of the three
elements of control described above. A change in the ownership interest
of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as an equity
transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related
assets (including goodwill), liabilities, any non-controlling interest and
the exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair value of any
investment retained and any resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The
Group’s share of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as appropriate, on
the same basis as would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following new and revised HKFRSs for the first
time for the current year’s financial statements.
HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendment to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single
Transaction

International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules

Amendments to HKAS 12
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BEZFEIAR - HZFETAHAR
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2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

The nature and the impact of the new and revised HKFRSs that are
applicable to the Group are described below:

(@)

(b)

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their significant accounting
policies. Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements make
on the basis of those financial statements. Amendments to HKFRS
Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements provide non-
mandatory guidance on how to apply the concept of materiality
to accounting policy disclosures. The Group has disclosed the
material accounting policy information to the financial statements.
The amendments did not have any impact on the measurement,
recognition or presentation of any items in the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between changes in
accounting estimates and changes in accounting policies. Accounting
estimates are defined as monetary amounts in financial statements
that are subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques and inputs
to develop accounting estimates. Since the Group’s approach and
policy align with the amendments, the amendments had no impact
on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.2 CHANGES

IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(©

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception in HKAS 12 so that it no longer applies to
transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary
differences, such as leases and decommissioning obligations.
Therefore, entities are required to recognise a deferred tax asset
(provided that sufficient taxable profit is available) and a deferred tax
liability for temporary differences arising from these transactions. The
Group has applied the amendments on temporary differences related
to leases as at 1 January 2022, and the amendments did not have
any impact on the balance of retained profits or other component of
equity as appropriate at that date. In addition, the Group has applied
the amendments prospectively to transactions other than leases that
occurred on or after 1 January 2022, if any.

Amendments to HKAS 12 International Tax Reform — Pillar Two
Model Rules introduce a mandatory temporary exception from
the recognition and disclosure of deferred taxes arising from the
implementation of the Pillar Two model rules published by the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development. The
amendments also introduce disclosure requirements for the affected
entities to help users of the financial statements better understand
the entities’ exposure to Pillar Two income taxes, including
the disclosure of current tax related to Pillar Two income taxes
separately in the periods when Pillar Two legislation is effective
and the disclosure of known or reasonably estimable information
of their exposure to Pillar Two income taxes in periods in which the
legislation is enacted or substantively enacted but not yet in effect.
The Group has applied the amendments retrospectively. Since the
Group did not fall within the scope of the Pillar Two model rules, the
amendments did not have any impact to the Group.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised HKFRSs, that have
been issued but are not yet effective, in these financial statements. The
Group intends to apply these new and revised HKFRSs, if applicable, when

they become effective.

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 21

HKFRS 18

HKFRS 19

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or Joint
Venture®

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current (the “2020
Amendments”)" ¢

Non-current Liabilities with Covenants
(the “2022 Amendments’)" ¢

Supplier Finance Arrangements’

Lack of Exchangeability?

Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements?

Subsidiaries without Public
Accountability. Disclosures*

Amendments to the Classification and
Measurement of Financial Instruments?

Annual Improvements to HKFRS  Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7,

Accounting Standards —
Volume 11

HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7°

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025

8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026

4 Effective for annual/reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027

5 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for adoption

6 As a consequence of the 2020 Amendments and 2022 Amendments, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification by the Borrower
of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment on Demand Clause was revised to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be applicable
to the Group is described below:

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an inconsistency between
the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale
or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint
venture. The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
resulting from a downstream transaction when the sale or contribution of
assets constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets that do
not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The amendments
are to be applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date
of amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA.
However, the amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the requirements that a seller-lessee
uses in measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and leaseback
transaction to ensure the seller-lessee does not recognise any amount of
the gain or loss that relates to the right of use it retains. The amendments
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024 and
shall be applied retrospectively to sale and leaseback transactions entered
into after the date of initial application of HKFRS 16. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements for classifying liabilities
as current or non-current, including what is meant by a right to defer
settlement and that a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting
period. Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement. The amendments also
clarify that a liability can be settled in its own equity instruments, and
that only if a conversion option in a convertible liability is itself accounted
for as an equity instrument would the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further clarify that, among covenants
of a liability arising from a loan arrangement, only those with which an
entity must comply on or before the reporting date affect the classification
of that liability as current or non-current. Additional disclosures are required
for non-current liabilities that are subject to the entity complying with future
covenants within 12 months after the reporting period. The amendments
shall be applied retrospectively with early application permitted. An entity
that applies the 2020 Amendments early is required to apply simultaneously
the 2022 Amendments, and vice versa. The Group is currently assessing
the impact of the amendments and whether existing loan agreements may
require revision. Based on a preliminary assessment, the amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the characteristics of
supplier finance arrangements and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the amendments are
intended to assist users of financial statements in understanding the
effects of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s liabilities, cash
flows and exposure to liquidity risk. Earlier application of the amendments
is permitted. The amendments provide certain transition reliefs regarding
comparative information, quantitative information as at the beginning of
the annual reporting period and interim disclosures. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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BMEHRRMET HE20024F8A3MBILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 21 specify how an entity shall assess whether a
currency is exchangeable into another currency and how it shall estimate
a spot exchange rate at a measurement date when exchangeability is
lacking. The amendments require disclosures of information that enable
users of financial statements to understand the impact of a currency
not being exchangeable. Earlier application is permitted. When applying
the amendments, an entity cannot restate comparative information. Any
cumulative effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening balance of retained profits or to the
cumulative amount of translation differences accumulated in a separate
component of equity, where appropriate, at the date of initial application.
The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on the
Group’s financial statements.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements. While a
number of sections have been brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited
changes, HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for presentation within
the statement of profit or loss, including specified totals and subtotals.
Entities are required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five categories: operating,
investing, financing, income taxes and discontinued operations and to
present two new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures about
management-defined performance measures in a single note and
introduces enhanced requirements on the grouping (aggregation and
disaggregation) and the location of information in both the primary financial
statements and the notes. Some requirements previously included in
HKAS 1 are moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting
Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation
of Financial Statements. As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18,
limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made to HKAS 7 Statement
of Cash Flows, HKAS 33 Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential amendments to other
HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the consequential amendments to other HKFRSs
are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027
with earlier application permitted. Retrospective application is required.
The Group is currently analysing the new requirements and assessing the
impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation and disclosure of the Group’s
financial statements.

HKFRS 19 allows eligible entities to elect to apply reduced disclosure
requirements while still applying the recognition, measurement and
presentation requirements in other HKFRSs. To be eligible, at the end of
the reporting period, an entity must be a subsidiary as defined in HKFRS 10
Consolidated Financial Statements, cannot have public accountability and
must have a parent (ultimate or intermediate) that prepares consolidated
financial statements available for public use which comply with HKFRSs.
Earlier application is permitted. As the Company is a listed company, it is
not eligible to elect to apply HKFRS 19. Some of the Company’s subsidiaries
are considering the application of HKFRS 19 in their specified financial
statements.
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2.3

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date on which a financial
asset or financial liability is derecognised and introduce an accounting
policy option to derecognise a financial liability that is settled through
an electronic payment system before the settlement date if specified
criteria are met. The amendments clarify how to assess the contractual
cash flow characteristics of financial assets with environmental, social
and governance and other similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying financial assets
with non-recourse features and contractually linked instruments. The
amendments also include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
and financial instruments with contingent features. The amendments shall
be applied retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained profits
(or other component of equity) at the initial application date. Prior periods
are not required to be restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the amendments at the same time
or only the amendments related to the classification of financial assets is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any significant impact
on the Group’s financial statements.

Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards — Volume 11 set out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and HKAS 7. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are as follows:

HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures: The amendments have
updated certain wording in paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs
IG1, 1G14 and 1G20B of the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7 for the
purpose of simplification or achieving consistency with other paragraphs
in the standard and/or with the concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify that the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 does not necessarily illustrate all the requirements
in the referenced paragraphs of HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional
requirements. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments clarify that when a lessee
has determined that a lease liability has been extinguished in accordance
with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS
9 and recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or loss. In addition,
the amendments have updated certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of
HKFRS 9 and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove potential confusion. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (CONTINUED)

HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements: The amendments clarify
that the relationship described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just one
example of various relationships that might exist between the investor and
other parties acting as de facto agents of the investor, which removes the
inconsistency with the requirement in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The amendments replace the term “cost
method” with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7 following the prior
deletion of the definition of “cost method”. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES
BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition method.
The consideration transferred is measured at the acquisition date fair value
which is the sum of the acquisition date fair values of assets transferred
by the Group, liabilities assumed by the Group to the former owners of
the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets.
All other components of non-controlling interests are measured at fair
value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the acquired
set of activities and assets includes an input and a substantive process that
together significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial assets
and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and designation in
accordance with the contractual terms, economic circumstances and
pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date. This includes the separation
of embedded derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously held equity
interest is measured at its acquisition date fair value and any resulting gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss or other comprehensive income, as
appropriate.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer is recognised
at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent consideration classified
as an asset or liability is measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as
equity is not remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the aggregate of
the consideration transferred, the amount recognised for non-controlling
interests and any fair value of the Group’s previously held equity interests
in the acquiree over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is lower than the
fair value of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,
recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any accumulated
impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for impairment annually or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
value may be impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 August. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date, allocated
to each of the Group’s cash-generating units, or groups of cash-generating
units, that are expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group are assigned
to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit (group of cash generating units) to which the goodwill
relates. Where the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit (group
of cash-generating units) is less than the carrying amount, an impairment
loss is recognised. An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not
reversed in a subsequent period.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

BUSINESS COMBINATIONS AND GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit (or group of
cash-generating units) and part of the operation within that unit is disposed
of, the goodwill associated with the operation disposed of is included in the
carrying amount of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion of the
cash-generating unit retained.

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT

The Group measures its wealth investment products and foreign exchange
options at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value is the
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability
in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the
transaction to sell the asset or transfer the liability takes place either
in the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a
principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability.
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the
assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the asset
or liability, assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account
a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits by using
the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market
participant that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the
circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to measure fair
value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the
use of unobservable inputs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENT (CONTINUED)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in
the financial statements are categorised within the fair value hierarchy,
described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for
identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest level
input that is significant to the fair value measurement is

unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements on
a recurring basis, the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a
whole) at the end of each reporting period.

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual impairment
testing for non-financial asset is required (other than deferred tax assets,
investment properties and non-current assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the
asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value less costs
of disposal, and is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset
does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying
amount of a corporate asset (e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to
an individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis or, otherwise, to the smallest group of cash-generating
units.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount of an asset
exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value in use, the estimated
future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of
money and the risks specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged
to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as to whether
there is an indication that previously recognised impairment losses may
no longer exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists, the
recoverable amount is estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss
of an asset other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change
in the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would have
been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to profit or loss in the period in which it arises.

RELATED PARTIES

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s family and
that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(i) is a member of the key management personnel of the Group
or of a parent of the Group;

or
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MERRMT HE2004F8A31HILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
RELATED PARTIES (CONTINUED)

(b)  the party is an entity where any of the following conditions applies:

0)

(i

(i)

(iv)

(viii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or
of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same third
party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit
of employees of either the Group or an entity related to the
Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the
entity or is a member of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part,

provides key management personnel services to the Group or
to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
When an item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for sale
or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not
depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to its working condition
and location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment have
been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is normally
charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period in which it is
incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria are satisfied, the
expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of
the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property, plant and
equipment are required to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises
such parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates
them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis to write off the cost of
each item of property, plant and equipment to its residual value over its
estimated useful life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

1.9% 10 12.1%

Over the shorter of the
lease term and 10%
12.1% t0 19.4%
4.9% t0 19.4%
19.4% t0 32.3%

Buildings
Leasehold improvements

Motor vehicles
Furniture and fixtures
Electronic devices

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different
useful lives, the cost of that item is allocated on a reasonable basis among
the parts and each part is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful
lives and the depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate,
at least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any significant part
initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in
the year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the net sales
proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant asset.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HFEHESHEEERAT



BB RMETE B E2024F8A31BILFEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

2.4 EXEFHE(#)

ME BERREBEARFE (&)

ERITRERERRABEMREESERIIKED
*”%% EREIBRRRIVAHERARE

DEEVE BELARBNEEER -
REWE
REVEDRFHIERDES WG R HER

BENTHMETORD (BEEREEE) °
LEMERRAATTE - EFBIBERHKA
MiaHEREK NEMERAELZRANBER
SRTEMEMEENRERBNSEGE -
FTENEREREE BREVEZRAR
H50F At AIEBEMRIRB T HAMES
HRSpEEE -

BB M EERZIE R BEORKEEMNR
RATEERAREE I HZEB KRR
EEREAERENREME: B X
HEEELEEFNEENER -

HWEREMEXRRETER  MREFORE
Eﬂﬁﬁﬁﬁfﬁﬂé’rﬁixﬁ DERME BB LR

AERENME HEEBRTEREERA -
W= - BB R& ﬁm%MEEIE%$&
BMRASRENE B EWEMNS &%

EREYENEMERMENREE  TEX
BZMER A o

HEIHEREMENTAREHE BN R
BEHILEEFNRERTER -

2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND DEPRECIATION
(CONTINUED)

Construction in progress is stated at cost less any impairment losses, and
is not depreciated. It is reclassified to the appropriate category of property,
plant and equipment when completed and ready for use.

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings (including right-
of-use assets) held to earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation.
Such properties are measured initially at cost, including transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, investment properties are measured
at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and provision for any
impairment in value. Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis
to write off the cost of an investment property to its residual value over its
estimated useful life of 50 years or over the remaining lease term.

Subsequent expenditure is capitalised in the asset’s carrying amount only
when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item
will flow to the Group and the costs of the item can be measured reliably;
otherwise, the expenditures are recognised in profit or loss in the year in
which they are incurred.

If an investment property becomes owner-occupied, it is reclassified
as property, plant and equipment at its carrying amount at the date of
reclassification and such transfer does not change its cost for accounting
purposes. If an item of property, plant and equipment becomes an
investment property because its use has changed, the transfer does not
change the carrying amount of the property transferred, nor does it change
the cost of that property for measurement or disclosure purposes.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment

property are recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the year of the
retirement or disposal.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INTANGIBLE ASSETS (OTHER THAN GOODWILL)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial recognition
at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a business combination
is the fair value at the date of acquisition. The useful lives of intangible
assets are assessed to be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with
finite lives are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the intangible
asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the amortisation
method for an intangible asset with a finite useful life are reviewed at least
at each financial year end.

Software

Purchased software is stated at cost less any impairment losses and
amortised on the straight-line basis over its estimated useful life of five to
ten years.

Client relationship

Client relationship acquired through the acquisition of a subsidiary is stated
at cost less any impairment losses and amortised on the straight-line basis
over its estimated useful life of five years.

Research and development costs

All research costs are charged to the statement of profit or loss as incurred.

Expenditure incurred on projects to develop new products is capitalised and
deferred only when the Group can demonstrate the technical feasibility of
completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale,
its intention to complete and its ability to use or sell the asset, how the
asset will generate future economic benefits, the availability of resources
to complete the project and the ability to measure reliably the expenditure
during the development. Product development expenditure which does not
meet these criteria is expensed when incurred.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
LEASES

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or contains,
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right
to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all
leases, except for short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments and right-of-use
assets representing the right to use the underlying assets.

@)

b)

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets
includes the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct costs
incurred, and lease payments made at or before the commencement
date less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows:

Leasehold land
Office premises

40 to 50 years
1.5t0 5 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end of
the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date of the
lease at the present value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and
amounts expected to be paid under residual value guarantees. The
lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease term reflects the
Group exercising the option to terminate the lease. The variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised as
an expense in the period in which the event or condition that triggers
the payment occurs.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(b)  Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group
uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced
for the lease payments made. In addition, the carrying amount of
lease liabilities is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in
the lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate) or a
change in assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

(c)  Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption to its
short-term leases of staff dormitories and office premises (that is
those leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).

Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception (or when
there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either an operating lease
or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each component on a
relative stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on
a straight-line basis over the lease term and is included in other income
and gains in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature.
Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over
the lease term on the same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are
recognised as other income in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LEASES (CONTINUED)
Group as a lessor (Continued)

When the Group is an intermediate lessor, a sublease is classified as a
finance lease or operating lease with reference to the right-of-use asset
arising from the head lease. If the head lease is a short-term lease to which
the Group applies the on-balance sheet recognition exemption, the Group
classifies the sublease as an operating lease.

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as subsequently
measured at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the
financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. The Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at fair value
through profit or loss, transaction costs.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised
cost, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal amount outstanding. Financial assets
with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and measured at fair value
through profit or loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers to how it
manages its financial assets in order to generate cash flows. The business
model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual
cash flows, selling the financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified
and measured at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual cash flows,
while financial assets classified and measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income are held within a business model with the objective
of both holding to collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned business models are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets
within the period generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the
Group commits to purchase or sell the asset.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INVESTMENTS AND OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using
the effective interest method and are subject to impairment. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in the
statement of financial position at fair value with net changes in fair value
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

This category includes wealth investment products and foreign exchange
options. Interest income from wealth investment products classified as
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is also recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of
a group of similar financial assets) is primary derecognised (i.e., removed
from the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired; or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the
asset, or has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows
in full without material delay to a third party under a “pass-through”
arrangement; and either (a) the Group has transferred substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the
asset, but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from an
asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and
to what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the
assets. When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an
associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated liability are
measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount
of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses (“ECLS”")
for all debt instruments not held at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs
are based on the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group
expects to receive, discounted at an approximation of the original effective
interest rate. The expected cash flows will include cash flows from the
sale of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to the
contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for which there
has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
ECLs are provided for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit
exposures for which there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing
of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk on a
financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition.
When making the assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with the risk
of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable information that is
available without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-
looking information. The Group considers that there has been a significant
increase in credit risk when contractual payments are more than 30 days
past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full before taking into account any credit
enhancements held by the Group. A financial asset is written off when there
is no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT OF FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED)
General approach (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to impairment under the
general approach and they are classified within the following stages
for measurement of ECLs except for trade receivables which apply the
simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not increased
significantly since initial recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition but that are not credit-
impaired financial assets and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the reporting date
(but that are not purchased or originated credit-impaired) and
for which the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal
to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or when the Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the Group applies the simplified
approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group
does not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss
allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has
established a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings, or payables as
appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in the case of
loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly attributable transaction
costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include other payables and accruals,
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES (CONTINUED)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their
classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (trade and other payables, and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and interest-bearing
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are
recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or
premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral part of the
effective interest rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is included in
finance costs in the statement of profit or loss.

DERECOGNITION OF FINANCIAL LIABILITIES

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is
discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same
lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a
derecognition of the original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and
the difference between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

OFFSETTING OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount
is reported in the statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an
intention to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously.

DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group uses derivative financial instruments, such as forward currency
contracts and interest rate swaps, to hedge its foreign currency risk and
interest rate risk, respectively. Such derivative financial instruments are
initially recognised at fair value on the date on which a derivative contract
is entered into and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives
are carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities when
the fair value is negative.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

TREASURY SHARES

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the Company or
the Group (treasury shares) are recognised directly in equity at cost. No
gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the statement of financial position comprise
cash on hand and at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are readily convertible into
known amounts of cash, subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value
and held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash
equivalents comprise cash on hand and at banks, and short-term deposits
as defined above, less bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and
form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

INCOME TAX

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax relating to items
recognised outside profit or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either
in other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount expected to
be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and
tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all temporary
differences at the end of the reporting period between the tax bases of
assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial reporting
purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences,
except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill or an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss and does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries where the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences can be controlled and it is probable that the
temporary differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses. Deferred
tax assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible temporary differences,
and the carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

° when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible temporary
differences arises from the initial recognition of an asset or liability
in a transaction that is not a business combination and, at the time
of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable and deductible
temporary differences; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated with
investments in subsidiaries, deferred tax assets are only recognised
to the extent that it is probable that the temporary differences will
reverse in the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each
reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that
sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the deferred
tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed
at the end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it
has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are
expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised or the liability
is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and only if the
Group has a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the
same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either to settle
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in which
significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are expected to be
settled or recovered.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where there is
reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attaching
conditions will be complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis over the periods that
the costs, for which it is intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited to a deferred
income account and is released to the statement of profit or loss over the
expected useful life of the relevant asset by equal annual instalments.

REVENUE RECOGNITION
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when control of
services is transferred to the customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange for
those services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount, the
amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will be entitled
in exchange for transferring the services to the customer. The variable
consideration is estimated at contract inception and constrained until
it is highly probable that a significant revenue reversal in the amount
of cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which provides the
customer with a significant benefit of financing the transfer of services to
the customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at the present
value of the amount receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract contains a
financing component which provides the Group with a significant financial
benefit for more than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract liability under the
effective interest method. For a contract where the period between the
payment by the customer and the transfer of the promised services is
one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the effects of a
significant financing component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.

Tuition and boarding fees received by colleges are generally received in
advance prior to the beginning of each academic year, and are initially
recorded as contract liabilities. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised
proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable program. The
portion of tuition and boarding payments received from students but not yet
recognised is recorded as a contract liability and is reflected as a current
liability as such amount represents revenue that the Group expects to earn
within one year. The academic year of the Group’s colleges is generally
from September to June of the following year.
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2.4 MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)

REVENUE RECOGNITION (CONTINUED)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

The Group does not expect to have any contracts where the period between
the transfer of the promised services to the customer and payment by the
customer exceeds one year. As a consequence, the Group does not adjust
any of the transaction prices for the time value of money.

Other income

Service income is recognised at a point in time when the services are
rendered.

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Donation income is recognised at a point in time when the ownership of
assets has been transferred.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the effective
interest method by applying the rate that exactly discounts the estimated
future cash receipts over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial
asset.

CONTRACT LIABILITIES

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a payment
is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the Group transfers
the related goods or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e., transfers control of the
related services to the customer).

SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS

The Company operates a share option scheme. Employees (including
directors) of the Group receive remuneration in the form of share-based
payments, whereby employees render services in exchange for equity
instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees is measured by
reference to the fair value at the date at which they are granted. The fair
value is determined by an external valuer using a binomial model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee benefit
expense, together with a corresponding increase in equity, over the period
in which the performance and/or service conditions are fulfilled. The
cumulative expense recognised for equity-settled transactions at the end
of each reporting period until the vesting date reflects the extent to which
the vesting period has expired and the Group’s best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or credit to the
statement of profit or loss for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning and end of that period.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENTS (CONTINUED)

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken into account
when determining the grant date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of
the conditions being met is assessed as part of the Group’s best estimate
of the number of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value.
Any other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions. Non-
vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award and lead to
an immediate expensing of an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market performance
and/or service conditions have not been met, no expense is recognised.
Where awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the transactions
are treated as vesting irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting
condition is satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as a minimum
an expense is recognised as if the terms had not been modified, if the
original terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense is recognised
for any modification that increases the total fair value of the share-based
payments, or is otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the
date of modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as if it had vested
on the date of cancellation, and any expense not yet recognised for the
award is recognised immediately. This includes any award where non-
vesting conditions within the control of either the Group or the employee are
not met. However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is granted,
the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were a modification of
the original award, as described in the previous paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as additional share
dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

OTHER EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension scheme

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which operate in Mainland
China are required to participate in a central pension scheme managed by
the local municipal government. The subsidiaries are required to contribute
a certain percentage of the payroll costs to the central pension scheme.
The Group has no obligation for the payment of retirement benefits beyond
the annual contributions. The contributions are charged to the statement of
profit or loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HFEHESHEEERAT
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
BORROWING COSTS

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction
or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that necessarily take a
substantial period of time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of such
borrowing costs ceases when the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the period
in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other
costs that an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

If the Group receives information after the reporting period, but prior to
the date of authorisation for issue, about conditions that existed at the
end of the reporting period, it will assess whether the information affects
the amounts that it recognises in its financial statements. The Group will
adjust the amounts recognised in its financial statements to reflect any
adjusting events after the reporting period and update the disclosures
that relate to those conditions in light of the new information. For non-
adjusting events after the reporting period, the Group will not change the
amounts recognised in its financial statements, but will disclose the nature
of the non-adjusting events and an estimate of their financial effects, or a
statement that such an estimate cannot be made, if applicable.

DIVIDENDS

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are approved by the
shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed
in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared, because the
Company’s memorandum and articles of association grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are
recognised immediately as a liability when they are proposed and declared.

FOREIGN CURRENCIES

These financial statements are presented in RMB because the Group’s
principal operations are carried out in Mainland China. The functional
currency of the Company and certain subsidiaries incorporated outside
Mainland China is the Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) and the functional currency
of the subsidiaries established in Mainland China is RMB, which is the
currency of the primary economic environment in which those entities
operate. Foreign currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency
rates of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONTINUED)
FOREIGN CURRENCIES (CONTINUED)

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at the dates of the
initial transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when the
fair value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-
monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss is recognised in
other comprehensive income or profit or loss is also recognised in other
comprehensive income or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the related
asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-monetary asset
or non-monetary liability relating to an advance consideration, the date of
initial transaction is the date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising from the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the
Group determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the
advance consideration.

The functional currencies of the Company and certain overseas subsidiaries
are currencies other than RMB. As at the end of the reporting period,
the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated into RMB at the
exchange rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
statements of profit or loss are translated into RMB at the exchange rates
that approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the transactions.

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated in the exchange fluctuation reserve, except to
the extent that the differences are attributable to non-controlling interests.
On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount in the reserve
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation and any fair
value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising
on acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the foreign operation
and translated at the closing rate.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES

The preparation of the financial statements requires management to make
judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their accompanying
disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about
these assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or
liabilities affected in the future.

JUDGEMENTS

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management
has made the following judgements, apart from those involving estimations,
which have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
financial statements:

Contractual arrangements

Certain subsidiaries are engaged in the provision of education services,
which falls in the scope of “Catalogue of Restricted Foreign Investment
Industries”. Foreign investors are restricted from investing in such business.

The Group exercises control over these subsidiaries and enjoys all economic
benefits of these subsidiaries through contractual arrangements (“Structured
Contracts”).

The Group considers that it controls these subsidiaries, notwithstanding
the fact that it does not hold direct equity interests in these subsidiaries,
as it has power over the financial and operating policies of these
subsidiaries and receives substantially all of the economic benefits from the
business activities of these subsidiaries through the Structured Contracts.
Accordingly, these subsidiaries have been accounted for as subsidiaries
during the year.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on its investment
property portfolio. The Group has determined, based on an evaluation of
the terms and conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the commercial property
and the present value of the minimum lease payments not amounting to
substantially all the fair value of the commercial property, that it retains all
the significant risks and rewards incidental to ownership of these properties
which are leased out and accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND
ESTIMATES (CONTINUED)

JUDGEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Classification between investment properties and owner-occupied
properties

The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an investment
property, and has developed criteria in making that judgement. Investment
property is a property held to earn rentals or for capital appreciation or
both. Therefore, the Group considers whether a property generates cash
flows largely independently of the other assets held by the Group. Some
properties comprise a portion that is held to earn rentals or for capital
appreciation and another portion that is held for use in the production or
supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately or leased out separately under a finance lease, the
Group accounts for the portions separately. If the portions could not be sold
separately, the property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods or services or
for administrative purposes. Judgement is made on an individual property
basis to determine whether ancillary services are so significant that a
property does not qualify as an investment property.

ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of
estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that have a
significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year, are described below:

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least on an annual
basis. This requires an estimation of the value in use of the cash-generating
units to which the goodwill is allocated. Estimating the value in use requires
the Group to make an estimate of the expected future cash flows from
the cash-generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. The carrying
amount of goodwill at 31 August 2024 was RMB751,505,000 (2023:
RMB752,021,000). Further details are given in note 16 to the financial
statements.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade receivables.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings that have
similar loss patterns.

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group’s historical observed
default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to adjust the historical
credit loss experience with forward-looking information. For instance, if
forecast economic conditions are expected to deteriorate over the next
year which can lead to an increased number of defaults in the education
sector, the historical default rates are adjusted. At each reporting date, the
historical observed default rates are updated and changes in the forward-
looking estimates are analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed default
rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a significant estimate.
The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances and forecast
economic conditions. The Group’s historical credit loss experience and
forecast of economic conditions may also not be representative of a
student’s actual default in the future. The information about the ECLs
on the Group’s trade receivables is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.
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OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group is principally engaged in the provision of education services in
the PRC.

HKFRS 8 Operating Segments requires operating segments to be identified
on the basis of internal reporting about components of the Group that are
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker in order to allocate
resources to segments and to assess their performance. The information
reported to the directors of the Company, who are the chief operating
decision-makers, for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment
of performance, does not contain discrete operating segment financial
information and the directors reviewed the financial results of the Group as
a whole. Therefore, no further information about the operating segment is
presented.

GEOGRAPHICAL INFORMATION

During the year, the Group operated within one geographical location
because all of its revenues were generated in the PRC and all of its long-
term assets/capital expenditures were located/incurred in the PRC.
Accordingly, no geographical information is presented.

INFORMATION ABOUT MAJOR CUSTOMERS

No revenue from sales to a single customer amounted to 10% or more of
the total revenue of the Group during the year.

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

WADHTAT - An analysis of revenue is as follows:
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
ARBT T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000

KEEFE#ZIMA Revenue from contracts with customers

= Tuition fees 2,147,778 1,897,582
EEE Boarding fees 263,932 221,558
@I Total revenue 2,411,710 2,119,140
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5. WA Hittrzm kg (F) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)
REEFEHNZHWA REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS
() WAZEEZEH (i)  Disaggregated revenue information
2024 F 2023
2024 2023
ARET ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
fRAsEa Type of services
BB KRB Education services 2,411,710 2,119,140
ih & 5 Geographical market
AR A HE Mainland China 2,411,710 2,119,140
WA R ERE Timing of revenue recognition
BE B R RN RS Services transferred over time 2,411,710 2,119,140
TRINRAERR S BREEROMA SRR The following table shows the amount of revenue recognised in the
ZECHETAREHYANEE current reporting period that was included in the contract liabilities at

the beginning of the reporting period:

2024 F 2023 4F

2024 2023

ARET T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

FARESHVALHEMER  Revenue recognised that was included in contract
ERERUA - liabilities at the beginning of the reporting period:
HE R Education services 1,356,250 973,335
(i) BHEFR (i) Performance obligations

BAEBRIRGIZEREELK BES The performance obligation is satisfied over time as services are
MEBEBERNEBEFY) ZAITELUE rendered and tuition and boarding fees are generally received in

advance prior to the beginning of each academic year.

168 CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEHSHEEERATE



MERRMT HE2004F8A31HILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

5. WA -Hittzm kg (F) 5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS (CONTINUED)
REEFEFEHNZWA (&) REVENUE FROM CONTRACTS WITH CUSTOMERS (CONTINUED)

(i) BREZ (E)

(i) Performance obligations (Continued)

R2024F8A31TH  -FMBHRENERE At 31 August 2024, all amounts of transaction prices related to
BRXSERSHEERAER —FRAER performance obligations are expected to be recognised as revenue
BlA - MBEEBMEREERFES within one year and as permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction

SRR WEEED

(HEBD REK) &L

IEZERENX price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts (or partially unsatisfied)

RGEE ° is not disclosed.

2024 & 2023 &
2024 2023
AR%ET R ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Hfh i 32 & 18 3% Other income and gains
AR 7% U 25 Service income 177,153 162,957
el Rental income 135,124 125,164
Bt (A3t @) Donation income (Note (3)) 49,827 57,982
B 48 B Government grants 30,871 22,479
HRITH B W A= Bank interest income 20,590 21,612
NFEEWESFE Fair value gains, net:
RAFEFAERSN Financial assets at fair value through
THEE profit or loss - 1,142
PE 5 2= Foreign exchange gain 1,040 -
B EMES Gain on wealth investment products 637 677
Hih Others 8,205 15,765
H it U ok R 10 25 458 Total other income and gains 423,447 407,778
Wit@  Z2BEE2RRBATREELARMEREE Note (2): The amount primarily consists of external donations of electronic devices and
EFESX RN I 258 EEME software related to teaching activities to promote integration between industry
AR B o and education and cooperation between enterprises and colleges.
6. ®ERK 6. FINANCE COSTS
RERADTLT : An analysis of finance costs is as follows:

RITERREMEFFE
HEABHNE

I FEE A FE AR
TRBENTE AR
o BAEHE

mEt

2024 2023 &

2024 2023

AR¥ TR ARBTT

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest on bank loans and other loans 159,489 177,140

Interest on lease liabilities 289 565
Total interest expense on financial liabilities

not at fair value through profit or loss 159,778 177,705

Less: Interest capitalised (31,910) (34,129)

Total 127,868 143,576
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7.

BR Bt A% R 7. PROFIT BEFORE TAX
AEEBRBEADER &R GFA) LT The Group’s profit before tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting):
HBE
2024 F 2023 4F
2024 2023
iz ARET T ARETF T
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000
B R AR BB AR Cost of services provided 1,535,575 1,313,136
EERMNAXZ Employee benefit expense
(TEREER&ERTR (excluding directors’ and chief executive’s
ANBE M (H528)) - remuneration (note 8)):
TERE® Wages and salaries 871,680 767,560
AR HE 2 A 2 B AR i ) =2 Equity-settled share option expense = 1,697
BRIKEET IR Pension scheme contributions
(EFBEERETED (defined contribution scheme)* 66,828 58,314
Bt Total 938,508 827,571
W BEREETE Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment 13 236,774 200,583
WEYERE Depreciation of investment properties 14 9,083 9,860
FREEERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 15(a) 36,566 34,111
H A BN Amortisation of other intangible assets 17 27,888 25,680
R FT Ak A Research costs 2,311 3,869
ez Rental income 5 (135,124) (125,164)
I 7 B Government grants 5 (30,871) (22,479)
KT AHEBEFEZ Lease payments not included in the
HEFRE measurement of lease liabilities 15(c) 199 167
2% S Bl 37 A Auditor’s remuneration 4,500 4,500
1T HE W e Bank interest income 5 (20,590) (21,612)
EHZ% - F8 Foreign exchange differences, net (1,040) 24,951
B S rEEE - FaFR0E Impairment allowance for trade receivables,
H b JE Y3018 & prepayments, other receivables and
Hab & ER ARG other assets 19 1,027 942
EESNEAE] Impairment of goodwill 516 -
NFE W) EEFE Fair value (gains)/losses, net:
EAFEFAEENSR Financial assets at fair value through
BE profit or loss 888 (1,142
PTETE-THEERE Derivative instruments — transactions not
HANZ 5 qualifying as hedges 16,169 -
HEWE BMEREZEEER Loss on disposal of items of property, plant
ki and equipment 1,159 2,991

HHOKF -

WL WK AT RARE (EREX) ANBLIRE

reduce the existing level of contributions.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HFEHESHEEERAT
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EERESTHRAEEHM

B MR FHERDRESGIE 383(1)@) ~ (b)
OFOEAR AR (BEESFTER) RHI
FORWEZFRNEEREETHRABEH BN
T

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), (c) and (f) of the Hong
Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of
Information about Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2024 & 2023 4F

2024 2023

AR¥T R ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

we Fees 842 980
H b R B - Other emoluments:

He - EEITREWEF Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,751 3,759

FRIFMEREEA Performance related bonuses 2,829 2,581

ARG #E S 1~ 2 BE AR HE R =2 Equity-settled share option expense = 272

RREFTEIHR Pension scheme contributions 141 124

Net Subtotal 5,721 6,736

st Total 6,563 7,716

RBEFE BREAXTDBERETE 5T
Bt R F AAN S B AR R B A
ERE—PHBEARYBHRRME29 - %F
BRENQAFERRLAMEE  DREB
HAERGERTHER Mt ARKNFEMB
BERNBEBRELLAEERESTHRAR
FMEEA -

During the past years, certain directors were granted share options, in
respect of their services to the Group, under the share option scheme of
the Company, further details of which are set out in note 29 to the financial
statements. The fair value of such options, which has been recognised in
the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period, was determined as
at the date of grant and the amount included in the financial statements for
the current year is included in the above directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration disclosures.
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8. EERBSITHAEHM (&) 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)

A BIFHITES (A) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
REAZNTFEILIERNTESNERS W The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during the year
Nk were as follows:

2024
2024
2 DU
EER &3] X2 Bike
e ENEA HETA BRERX HE L2 Azt
Salaries,
allowances  Performance  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
ARBTRT AR%BTR ARBTR ARETx AR%TR AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BEMEELE  Mr Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 316 - - - - 316
¥FHEL D Pang Tsz Kit Peter 263 - - - - 263
BRLESAE  Mr Chan Tung Hoi 263 - - - - 263
842 - - - - 842
20236
2023
e AR 12
2R ) S3ppd RIKE
ik BN BBEEL  BRERX SRR m@at
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense contributions Total
ARETT AREFT ARETRT AR®TT ARBTE ARET:
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
BEEHLAE  Mr Kwong Wai Sun Wilson 316 - - 8 - 324
BEREES M Hu Jianbo* 138 - - 6 - 144
BRAE%4E  Mr. Chan Tung Hoi 263 - - 9 - 272
¥T{E+  Dr Pang TszKit Peter 263 - - 9 - 272
980 - - 32 - 1,012
IR e A B 20234 4 H25 BB (E B L 3 * Mr. Hu Jianbo resigned as an independent non-executive director with effect
HITESE - from 25 April 2023.
FR BERNBEIIIENTESHEM There were no other emoluments payable to the independent non-
BN (2023 4F : &) executive directors during the year (2023: Nil).
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EERESTRAEHM (&) 8. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S REMUNERATION
(CONTINUED)
HITES (B) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
2024 %
2024
¢ BARR A
)= 4954 . 30) Tz Bike
ne ENEF HEEL BREMX FTEIMR @
Salaries,
allowances  Performance  Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees in kind bonuses expense  contributions Total
ARETRE AR®Tr AR%®Tn AR%Tn AR%¥Trn AR¥Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HITES Executive directors
ZZH5E M LiXiaoxuan® = 1,324 1,710 - 57 3,091
AL L Mr. Zhao Shuai - 817 792 - 68 1,677
BEMgL L™ Ms. Shen Chunmei* - 610 327 - 16 953
- 2,751 2,829 - 14 5,721
2023 F
2023
E2 ARk 1
AR ) SRR BiRkE
we EMEH HEEL  BRERS Bl @it
Salaries,
allowances Performance Equity-settled Pension
and benefits related share option scheme
Fees inkind bonuses expense contributions Total
ARETLT ARETRT ARETT AR®TR ARETFT AR®T:R
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HTEZ Executive directors
AZHF5E ML Xiaoxuan* - 1,088 1,000 126 42 2,256
Ha L& Mr. Zhao Shuai - 692 600 44 65 1,401
&L+ Ms. Shen Chunmei™ - 1,979 981 70 17 3,047
- 3,759 2,581 240 124 6,704
FEHEE((FREDBERARRARTES Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (“Mr. Li”), who acts as an executive director of the Company, is
FREFTSER - also the chairman of the board.
AEMLZLTBH024FE2 28R EEEHITE - Ms. Shen Chunmei resigned as an executive director with effect from 28
Fo February 2024.

FA YELHBEEEREHITEA
ERELRBRETMHH

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during the
year.
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IEBEHMES

TR IEREFMNEEBEMEE S (2023
F:ZREER)  EHEMFBIHN EXHIFES -
BT =% (2023F : WA) IEARARNREETS &
STTBRAENBRSFTMEES 2FNHENFE
I

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included two directors
(2023: three directors), details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8
above. Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining three (2023:
two) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief executive
of the Company are as follows:

2024 2023 4F

2024 2023

AR T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

®e - iﬂé_‘,ﬁ\ﬂi&?%?ﬁfrlj Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind 2,411 1,320
FIAEREIEA Performance related bonuses 1,169 1,180
LA B # 52 ﬁZ 5 M e B 32 Equity-settled share option expense - 63
RIKEETEIERR Pension scheme contributions 156 103
#aEt Total 3,736 2,666

FHNFATHRENFEERFESTERA
EMsmFMESHBNT

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest paid employees
whose remuneration fell within the following bands is as follows:

EEHE
Number of employees
2024 & 2023 &
2024 2023
1,000,001 % 7T £ 1,500,000 7% 7T HKD1,000,001 to HKD1,500,000 2 1
1,500,001 7% 7T £ 2,000,000 7% 7T HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1 1
@t Total 3 2

RBEFE CRAZFFEERIERSTR
ABESFMEERE AR EIRHERBE R
hERE  ERE - SHBEARMBREM
HOMBEEFEEAN - ZEFBRENDIFER
RHAHEE HTREBRAEREaRPER
Mt ARRNFEFHHEROSBERELE LA
FEELFERSTRABHFHMEENA -

During the past years, share options were granted to the non-director and
non-chief executive highest paid employees in respect of their services to
the Group, further details of which are included in the disclosures in note
29 to the financial statements. The fair value of such options, which has
been recognised in the statement of profit or loss over the vesting period,
was determined as at the date of grant and the amount included in the
financial statements for the current year is included in the above non-
director and non-chief executive highest paid employees’ remuneration
disclosures.
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BB RMETE B E2024F8A31BILFEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

FRrE#H

ARABRBERSFERARERFAESHSEMN
RILBEHRRBREMERT - Bk B82S
Prig®i »

HRAEBERFALBEEFAREFTERNE
BREREERTOEN  RIL B EENFH
FHREHE -

RIER20165F11 A7HBEH R 2017F9 A1
HEBR(ERARREREEBZEZER
BR<RBHEREE>HRE) (12016 F R
) RBERTHIEASEREBNEEXK
/S & IR B WM SRk 2R E T E K
BAEREMNER -BR  EMERMNER
BMENABEREERAEFERMIERK
FEEMERMER  HRENLFEBFHREN
BRWNERBIEE FIERR N

202145 A14 8 - B B (R BR R
BREEE GG ([2021 FFHEiEHl]) -
B2021F9 A1 HIEAER - 2021 FE K5 A
(PERPHEREE) OFEEEED - B
E2016 F R E M 2021 FEHIEH - R P2
0] A8 B BT RS IR TE R B B UOBUR (R
2016 F R E R 2021 FEMEIEFIIE THRE R
TE) 0 MIEE FI I B AT 2 2 H A B AR R
B B UK o

REZEMBHRRLEAS  REBRBEA
RAMBENERDER D EEMBRES -

R CRIR RN E i 78 20 K F S B A B B TR AR
BEBENBN  AEEEZEE BN E
moHE Bt E AR R EFBE
EBMETAERER BRAUZHE15%H
BELEMSHHEE - HE2024F8H31H
EFE REAFRBRRERRERK 18
BAFIEZRINN R EHMP BB - B
ETHERETESFAEAMARE ZEERK
RONRBEETHNETHEB AR ZX9%H
BELEMBHRBME - NEBEEP ALK
VHEMER SBRARSOEMATMATSE
B9 25% BN T SEFT1S 8

10.

INCOME TAX

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and accordingly is not subject to income tax.

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group had no
assessable profits derived from or earned in Hong Kong during the year.

According to the Decision of the Standing Committee of the National
People’s Congress on Amending the Private Schools Promotion Law,
which was promulgated on 7 November 2016 (the “2016 Decision”),
and came into force on 1 September 2017, private schools are no longer
being classified as either schools for which the school sponsor(s) require
reasonable returns or schools for which the school sponsor(s) do not require
reasonable returns. Instead, the school sponsor(s) of a private school may
choose for the school to be a for-profit private school or a non-profit private
school, with the exception that schools providing nine-year compulsory
education must be non-profit.

On 14 May 2021, the State Council released the Implementation Rules
for the Law for Promoting Private Education of the PRC with an effective
date of 1 September 2021 (the “2021 Implementation Rules”). The 2021
Implementation Rules are the detailed implementation rules of the Law for
Promoting Private Education of the PRC. Pursuant to the 2016 Decision and
the 2021 Implementation Rules, a private school may enjoy the preferential
tax policies, which are not defined under the 2016 Decision nor the 2021
Implementation Rules, as stipulated by the related government authorities
and a non-profit school may enjoy the same tax policies as enjoyed by a
public school.

As at the date of approval of these financial statements, the Group’s
schools in the People’s Republic of China are still in the process of
classification registrations.

According to the Circular on Issues Concerning Tax Policies for the In-depth
Implementation of Western Development Strategies, certain qualifying
entities/schools of the Group that are located in Yunnan, Guizhou, Guangxi,
Gansu, Hubei Province and the Tibet Autonomous Region engaged in the
encouraged business are entitled to a preferential corporate income tax
rate of 15%. Huihuang Company was subject to the PRC income tax at 9%
under the Tibet Autonomous Region’s preferential investment policies for
the year ended 31 August 2024. According to the Preferential Policies for
Key Pilot Zone of Development and Opening Up (“ Z& B 58 2% B ik &, B
[& ") in Ruili City, Yunnan Province, certain subsidiaries located in Ruili are
entitled to a preferential corporate income tax rate of 9%. Other entities/
schools of the Group established in Mainland China are subject to corporate
income tax at a rate of 25% on their respective taxable income.
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BMEHRRMET HE20024F8A3MBILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

10. PR (&) 10. INCOME TAX (CONTINUED)
Efth i [ B R A R T B IB AR IR AN & Bl & Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated at the rates of
ERMEREEBEMNIRITREE - tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which the Group operates.
2024 F 2023 4F
2024 2023
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Bl & Current
FRAXH Charge for the year 147,544 179,015
B (K at27) Deferred (note 27) 9,442 (36,461)
FARBEZ LBRE Total tax charge for the year 156,986 142,554
BARRIRERIE M B ARG MERE#ERER A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax at the
B9 A FE B R 5T E A bR B AT s B A 89 B 18 statutory rates for the jurisdictions in which the Company and the majority
YHZERBMEFENHIERIHERNAT ¢ of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the effective tax rates
is as follows:
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
ARET ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
B 35 A& 7 Profit before tax 913,060 845,843
REEMERGHEOBIA Tax at the statutory tax rate 228,265 211,461
BEFEMKEMEETITH Lower tax rates for specific provinces or enacted
B = by local authority (92,838) (88,166)
BB A RE L R TEHE S Effect of withholding tax on earnings remitted and
BRZzBEMREE anticipated to be remitted by subsidiaries 19,002 17,638
HEMBFAX Expenses not deductible for tax 6,162 2,388
RN bR AP BB B A BB Tax credit arising from additional deduction of
THEENTIEES research and development expenditures of
the PRC subsidiaries (1,938) (2,561)
EERATHEREREE Tax losses utilised from previous periods (6,540) (4,820)
AR RIAER Tax losses not recognised 4,873 6,614
BREEBERENEFEDY Tax charge at the Group’s effective rate
MIE X H 156,986 142,554
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=\

FREBRPUREAFARBBRRERERK
RBEXGEHERTAFE  XHAAR
A EBRROFREBRNRERSIKE

2023 F R EI R REAR B W AR £ E (T -

BRAEERRRELAERER

EREABNCEDNIRBEFRNEARETER
% B2 4 55 FI B2 4R 9 1,554,250,963 A% (2023 £F ¢
1,557,025,630 %) E 877 % 18 A% hi#E 19 BT
=

EREFRENSEIREFAG AR EAK
BREGEMNFE (WER) (RTX) - 58
BT EBRENEFSRBFEEREN
BNAAOFARTEINNEBREE - A
REBERMEAEEENNE BEIRGIFET
BB EBRED BEZRTHEBRDN
IHEF L -

11.

12.

DIVIDENDS

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval of the
Company’s shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting and
will be payable in form of new fully paid scrip shares of the Company in lieu
of cash.

The interim and final dividend for 2023 was settled in cash.

EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT

The calculation of the basic earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent, and
the weighted average number of ordinary shares of 1,554,250,963 (2023:
1,557,025,630) in issue during the year.

The calculation of the diluted earnings per share amount is based on the
profit for the year attributable to ordinary equity holders of the parent where
applicable (see below). The weighted average number of ordinary shares
used in the calculation is the number of ordinary shares outstanding during
the year, as used in the basic earnings per share calculation, and the
weighted average number of ordinary shares assumed to have been issued
at no consideration on the deemed exercise or conversion of all dilutive
potential ordinary shares into ordinary shares.

BREARAREBESRAFNTEDER The calculations of basic and diluted earnings per share are based on:
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
AR®ET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
&H Earnings
HEGRERABFAAZ AT Profit attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
58 A% A% BR PB4 g A parent, used in the basic earnings per share
calculation 756,074 703,289
2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT ¥R
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12. BATIEERBRERELESRKRERTR (&) 12. EARNINGS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY

EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE PARENT (CONTINUED)

Bt
S SRR R I 2
(TS B BRI
Fay-

BEYE L RBINE

FIH -
B

wEt

Shares

Weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the year used in the basic
earnings per share calculation™

Effect of dilution — weighted average number of

ordinary shares:
Share options**

Total

®RHEAE
Number of shares
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
ARMT T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000

1,554,250,963

1,557,025,630

1,554,250,963

1,557,025,630

ety i FOBEF RAFEREFERNNOTZE -

The weighted average number of shares was after taking into account the effect of
treasury shares held.

= HZE2024F8A31H LFE REE2023F8A31H
LHFE RIAESREERNSC 2ARBREYS
BEARNNZE RESHRTEBRESMZ
JEBRERRNCHEABREFTE -

The effect of share options on the basic earnings per share for the year ended 31 August
2024 and year ended 31 August 2023 were ignored in the calculation of diluted earnings
per share as the impact of the share options outstanding had an anti-dilutive effect on
the basic earnings per share amounts presented.
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20248 A 31 H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BBHERMET #E2024F8 431 B IEEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

31 AUGUST 2024

BF HE#EE RE  BEREE ETHE  EBRIR @t
Leasehold Motor  Furniture and Electronic  Construction
Buildings  improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT AR¥Tn AR%TR ARTr AR¥ETn AR®Tn ARET:R
R2023F9/1H At 1 September 2023:

R Cost 4,996,586 48,439 12,835 575,290 264,852 380,003 6,278,005

2EME Accumulated depreciation (454,566) (16,021) (9,752 (222,680) (134,375) - (837,394)

EEFE Net carrying amount 4,542,020 32,418 3,083 352,610 130,477 380,003 5,440,611
R03FIA1H At 1 September 2023,

"MB2AE net of accumulated depreciation 4,542,020 32,418 3,083 352,610 130,477 380,003 5,440,611
NE Additions 10,630 4,789 61 57,690 32,768 644,490 750,428
He Disposals - - (1,536) (2,528) (312) (160) (4,536)
FRFRNE Depreciation provided during the year (109,639) (8,627) (764) (73,829) (43,915) - (236,774)
EREHRIR Transfer from construction in

progress 414,006 453 995 49,738 11,907 (477,099) -
H204EANE - At31 August 2024,

"G 2 E net of accumulated depreciation 4,857,017 29,033 1,839 383,681 130,925 547,234 5,949,729
P2024E8 A3 E - At3T August 2024:

KA Cost 5,421,222 53,681 11,726 668,365 301,046 547,234 7,003,274

2EE Accumulated depreciation (564,205) (24,648) (9,887) (284,684) (170,121) - (1,053,545)

RREE Net carrying amount 4,857,017 29,033 1,839 383,681 130,925 547,234 5,949,729
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13. % - BERKE (&)

202348 A 31 H

13. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (CONTINUED)
31 AUGUST 2023

R2022F9/18 ¢
XA
i
REFE
R202E9/18
BB REIE
RE
&
FERFHRITE
EEgERIRE

BRARENE

R2023%8 318 ¢

BMBRTE

R2023F8A318 :

RN
Rt E

REFE

At 1 September 2022:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

At 1 September 2022, net of
accumulated depreciation

Additions

Disposals

Depreciation provided during the

year

Transfer from construction in
progress

Transfer from investment
properties

At 31 August 2023, net of
accumulated depreciation

At 31 August 2023:
Cost
Accumulated depreciation

Net carrying amount

BF HEEE B REREE EBETHRE  EEIR m@Et
Leasehold Motor  Furniture and Electronic ~ Construction
Buildings  improvements vehicles fixtures devices in progress Total
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETT ARETT ARBTI AR®ETT ARBTT ARBTT ARETRT
4,376,103 34,567 15,008 450,493 199,173 465,869 5,541,213
(354,008) (9,322 (10,599) (177,522) (106,690) - (658,141)
4,022,095 25,245 4,409 272,971 92,483 465,869 4,883,072
4,022,095 25,245 4,409 272,971 92,483 465,869 4,883,072
47,280 3,183 425 124,390 65,522 517,397 758,197
- - (1,632 (6,360) (1,621) - (9,613)
(100,558) (8,499) (119) (59,667) (31,740) - (200,583)
563,665 12,489 - 21,276 5,833 (603,263) -
9,538 - - - - - 9,538
4,542,020 32,418 3,083 352,610 130,477 380,003 5,440,611
4,996,586 48,439 12,835 575,290 264,852 380,003 6,278,005
(454,566) (16,021) (9,752) (222,680) (134,375) - (837,394)
4,542,020 32,418 3,083 352,610 130,477 380,003 5,440,611

R2024%F8A31TH FEEFEOLOAARE
905,361,000 7T (2023 5 : A R ¥ 650,739,000 7T)
HETREFDERBYENMFESE -

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HFEHESHEEERAT

At 31 August 2024, the application for the property ownership
certificates for certain buildings with a net book value of approximately
RMB905,361,000 (2023: RMB650,739,000) was still in progress.



BB RMETE B E2024F8A31BILFEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

14, REYE INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 2023 &

2024 2023

ARBT T ARETT

RMB’000 RMB’000

REZEMEE Carrying amount at beginning of year 402,447 421,845

BEEEEYE Transfer to owner-occupied property = (9,538)

FARTRINE Depreciation provided during the year (9,083) (9,860)

RERZEEE Carrying amount at end of year 393,364 402,447
R8A3TH : At 31 August:

N Cost 450,120 450,120

Sine Accumulated depreciation (56,756) (47,673)

BREFE Net carrying amount 393,364 402,447

AEBHEEVEATEREEELAED
EFERIHFERE - ARAIZEECRESY
ENLTE BHERARETREVELATE
ME-REBUMEFHEMETNGHE &
EWMEZRNFEMGELH R ARES71,000,000
70 (2023 © A R #862,800,0007T) °

ZERBEMERBEEMERHETE=T
E-EMBHBENPIERRME5 -

RFEER

RFEBRTFAREEEN A FENER
BRE=ZF -ARFHEREDEIFENG
ERMARRREREEL MEREWEMRE
ZEBRABEBRMGIEERE HEER -
BRRENEHEEEX -

The Group’s investment properties are the buildings and land use rights
leased as canteens and shops. The directors of the Company have
determined that the investment properties are commercial properties, based
on the nature, characteristics and risks of each property. The fair value
of investment properties estimated to be approximately RMB871,000,000
(2023: RMB862,800,000) based on valuations performed by an
independent property valuer.

The investment properties are leased to third parties under operating
leases, further summary details of which are included in note 15 to the
financial statements.

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The level of fair value hierarchy within which the fair value measurements
for disclosure purposes are categorised in Level 3. The valuation technique
used in assessing the fair value of investment properties is the discounted
cash flow method, and the key inputs to the valuation of investment
properties are estimated rental value, rent growth, discount rate and long
term vacancy rate.
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BHE L %ﬂﬁ}%7%40i50¢ R 5 % F
j:iﬂﬁﬂ VIRR - S A SR 0R -
WMAEYMENHMBEE/ISESF - — KM
FASBE AR AAEEAMALTEE RS
HEEEE -

The Group has lease contracts for office premises used in its operations.
Lump sum payments were made upfront to acquire the leased land from the
government with lease periods between 40 and 50 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land leases. Leases of
office premises generally have lease terms between 1.5 and 5 years.
Generally, the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the leased
assets outside the Group.

15. & 15. LEASES
AEBEBEREAEA THE GROUP AS A LESSEE
AEBBERAREERE @aﬁﬁ#/‘*%%mﬂ
EAH - BRRANMEL — XM FR A A BT R

(a EHAEZE (a)  Right-of-use assets
TR AEEFERAEEERAERE The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the
N movements during the year are as follows:
AL
MAEYE HEXE ot
Prepaid
Office premises leasehold land Total
AREFIT AREF T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2022F9A81H As at 1 September 2022 21,549 1,088,696 1,110,245
NE Additions 3,040 - 3,040
TEEMR Depreciation charge (8,326) (25,785) (34,111)
& %E S Nn] Hi$5EA%E F  Revision of a lease term arising from a
EBHHEEE change in the non-cancellable period
of a lease (683) - (683)
R2023F8 A31H As at 31 August 2023 15,580 1,062,911 1,078,491
20238 831 H K Asat 31 August 2023 and
202349 A1H 1 September 2023 15,580 1,062,911 1,078,491
NE Additions 2,074 56,719 58,793
weEBA Depreciation charge (8,233) (28,333) (36,566)
R2024FE8 A31H As at 31 August 2024 9,421 1,091,297 1,100,718

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HFEHESHEEERAT
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15. & (&) 15. LEASES (CONTINUED)
KEBEERABEAN (E) THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)
(b) HEEE (b)  Lease liabilities
FAHEAGBZREELREHNT The carrying amount of lease liabilities and the movements during

the year are as follows:

2024 F 2023 FF
2024 2023
ARET R ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
REY 2 REE Carrying amount at beginning of year 9,745 12,987
s New leases 2,074 3,040
FAEHERNENREE Accretion of interest recognised during
the year 289 565
2 Payments 6,711) (6,072)
METAIHEAESE Revision of a lease term arising from a change
BB HREET in the non-cancellable period of a lease = (775)
RERZEEE Carrying amount at end of year 5,397 9,745
DA Analysed into:
BN ERER Current portion 4,100 6,414
JEBNHAZE 2 Non-current portion 1,297 3,331
HEaEMHBHA SR RERM T The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note 37 to the
STHEE o financial statements.
(c) REZNERNHEEMREREOT (c)  The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases are as
follows:
2024 F 2023 FF
2024 2023
AR®ET R ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
HEBEF R Interest on lease liabilities 289 565
FTREEECHEEA Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets 36,566 34,111
HEHHEER@NMAEZ Expense relating to short-term leases (included
(FFASHER AR RITHAZ) in cost of sales and administrative expenses) 199 167
& AT HsE AR Revision of a lease term arising from a change
BB HEET in the non-cancellable period of a lease - (92)
REBEZAERFIALER Total amount recognised in profit or loss 37,054 34,751
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15.

HE (&)
AEEEREBAA (E)
(@ HERESREBERYBE®RENMFE30)

RE -

FEMERHAA

AEBRELCENELTHBERREERKHK
BREAETHRAYENKEDE (WiE14) -
ZEHNENKIBEERHAP I HERIE
W RBERNRITMAETEHREEH
B - FRNAEERRRBNESURABARKE
135,124,000 7T (20234 : A R # 125,164,000
TL) B E R B EREWES -

R2024F8A31H  HEAEEBHEEAEM
FzREBEMEWABRBERBENT !

15. LEASES (CONTINUED)

THE GROUP AS A LESSEE (CONTINUED)

(d)  The total cash outflow for leases is disclosed in note 31 (c) to the
financial statements.

THE GROUP AS A LESSOR

The Group leases its investment properties (note 14) consisting of several
commercial properties in the schools and academic buildings under
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the leases generally require the
tenants to pay security deposits and provide for periodic rent adjustments
according to the then prevailing market conditions. Rental income
recognised by the Group during the year was RMB135,124,000 (2023:
RMB125,164,000), details of which are included in note 5 to the financial
statements.

At 31 August 2024, the undiscounted lease payments receivable by the
Group in future periods under operating leases with its tenants are as
follows:

2024 & 2023

2024 2023

ARET R ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

—F R Within one year 98,335 107,699
—F LA FEMFEUARA After one year but within two years 74,745 77,493
MENFB=ZFUA After two years but within three years 47,080 48,942
—ZF EEEFUR After three years but within four years 16,831 27,008
MELEBRFUA After four years but within five years 5,287 10,580
HEFMNE After five years 4,028 6,301
i Total 246,306 278,023
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16. & 16. GOODWILL
ARET T
RMB’000
R2023F8A31H : At 31 August 2023:
B Cost 752,021
2FHRE Accumulated impairment .
BREDFE Net carrying amount 752,021
72023F 8 A31 BMRA - &N 25t E  Costat 31 August 2023, net of accumulated impairment 752,021
FRRE Impairment during the year (516)
020248 A31H At 31 August 2024 751,505
202483118 : At 31 August 2024
D Cost 752,021
ZERE Accumulated impairment (516)
REFE Net carrying amount 751,505
mEFERNE IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL
BREKEHBENFREDSREETY R Goodwill acquired through business combinations is allocated to the
EEBEMGETRERR following cash-generating units for impairment testing:
e HMNBRBEEAEN e Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit
e REERBEEELAEN e Luoyang School cash-generating unit
e HEESERBEGELENM e Gansu School cash-generating unit
e REASERBESEAEN e Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit
e THREERRESELEN e Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit
s RIUIBRAEGELABN e Northeast School cash-generating unit
o JRHMAERTEABEN e Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit
e ELERBEIEAEN e Central China School cash-generating unit

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT &3 185



186

BB RMETE & E2024F8A31BILFEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

16.

& ()
7R R ()
NSRRI RES

;E*ﬁ
K>
e
HF
18
2
ZF
o
43
il

16. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each cash-generating unit at

HEEMAT the end of the reporting period is as follows:
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
ARBT T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BN ERIB G EEEN Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit 380,452 380,452
BEERIReEEEN Luoyang School cash-generating unit 195,364 195,364
HREERRSELEEM Gansu School cash-generating unit 129,321 129,321
ERERIBeELEN Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit 28,982 28,982
EEBEERRSELEEA Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit 16,353 16,353
ijbfﬁﬁ ReEESEM Northeast School cash-generating unit 750 750
tRBEIREEEEN Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit - 516
ERERIBGEEEN Central China School cash-generating unit 283 283
Bt Total 751,505 752,021

R EeELEMNSAMARBSE N RE
RERBIAENTFHUEBERENRS
REEILFERAEEAELET - AREERE
LU BBEFHBRESELBEMNZREREY
REE R R 52.0%(20234F : 2.2%) °

FHE 38 & FE A B AL 72024 FF K2 2023 FF EY
FARAEERN AEEEFEAZERBRE - TX
HMERERETHERBAINAMREENIR
SREBEAKIENSEEEZ/RE

BERAN-REHESREDERELBER
BEEBHARKTIGHNELY -

BEEMNX-EFR TREENENEED
ERANERREFEN —FERNFHE
M= (REMBERREFRS) RFERTIERR

The recoverable amount of each of the above cash-generating units had
been determined based on a value-in-use calculation using cash flow
projections based on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved
by management. The long term growth rate used to extrapolate the cash
flows of the above cash-generating units beyond the five-year period is 2.0%
(2023: 2.2%).

Assumptions were used in the value in use calculation of the above cash-
generating units for 2024 and 2023. The following describes each key
assumption on which management has based its cash flow projections to
undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

Budgeted revenue — The budgeted sales amounts are based on the
historical data and management’s expectation on the future market.

Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value assigned
to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross margins achieved in the
year immediately before the budget year, increased for expected efficiency
improvements, and expected market development.
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& ()
7R ()

HARERE-FAMRESRHEAMANE A
RERBECERNTERR  J12ZR
BRBERTEARETERREB 2ETA
METRRIZERLEXEREAEEEER
AEE -FESERELBENNEMREE
RHE AR ATRR R R T

16.

GOODWILL (CONTINUED)
IMPAIRMENT TESTING OF GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Pre-tax discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and reflect
specific risks relating to the relevant units, which are determined using the
capital asset pricing model with reference to the beta coefficient and debt
ratio of certain publicly listed companies conducting business in the PRC
education industry. The pre-tax discount rates used in the value-in-use
calculation for each cash-generating unit are as follows:

BNBRACEEEN
BEERACELEN
HREERASELEN
ERSRACELEN
EEREERASELEM
RILBRBACELEN
ERBAREELEM
ERERACELEN

Zhengzhou School cash-generating unit
Luoyang School cash-generating unit

Gansu School cash-generating unit

Guangxi Schools cash-generating unit

Yunnan Vocational School cash-generating unit
Northeast School cash-generating unit

Beijing Lianhe cash-generating unit

Central China School cash-generating unit

2024 5 2023 &
2024 2023
18.0% 18.1%
17.7% 18.2%
16.4% 16.8%
16.9% 17.3%
19.8% 19.7%
16.1% 16.7%
14.0% 16.9%
16.4% 16.9%

REMBEELERNTBERRERE N
SR E EERAE T & (8250 3 R
B—8 -

ARRMEFCRAAIERRNAEALE
B WHEANELSZEFREE THRAMAA
EEEE ERARSETEEHAUGE
ReEAEM RO ENEAMEHHRD
EMREFER HEGSLEOAKRESED
EeRNHEEEE -

The values assigned to the key assumptions on market development of the
cash-generating units and the discount rates are consistent with external
information sources.

The directors of the Company have estimated the reasonably possible
changes in the key assumptions and acknowledged that, even if the most
unfavorable possible values were assigned to those assumptions, the
recoverable amount then calculated, after incorporating any consequential
effects of such assignment on the other variables used to measure the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit, would still exceed its
carrying amount.
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17. HEFEEE

17. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS

20248 A 31H

20239 A1 K

RRINBR Rt 55
NE
FRRH R

7202498 A 31 H

MR2024%8 A31H :
N
R
BRI FE

20238 A31H

20229 A1 HABIRCA

RENER REt 5K
NE
FAGHEE H

202348 A31H

#202358A31H :
AR
G £

AR E

31 August 2024

Cost at 1 September 2023, net of
accumulated amortisation

Additions

Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 August 2024

At 31 August 2024
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

31 August 2023

Cost at 1 September 2022, net of
accumulated amortisation

Additions

Amortisation provided during the year

At 31 August 2023

At 31 August 2023:
Cost
Accumulated amortisation

Net carrying amount

B EFBRE #at
Client
Software relationship Total
AREF T AREF T ARETF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
83,154 192 83,346
33,313 - 33,313
(27,696) (192) (27,888)
88,771 - 88,771
193,279 1,200 194,479
(104,508) (1,200) (105,708)
88,771 - 88,771
75,916 506 76,422
32,604 - 32,604
(25,366) (314) (25,680)
83,154 192 83,346
161,109 1,200 162,309
(77,955) (1,008) (78,963)
83,154 192 83,346
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HERBEE 18. OTHER NON-CURRENT ASSETS
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
AR®T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
+ HhfE R TE N B Prepayment for land use rights 262,318 185,176
ME - BE &K ﬁ%ﬁﬁ Prepayment for property, plant and equipment 30,926 6,988
st Total 293,244 192,164
g 5 kWX - AR - Hftt 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
BB R H ﬂﬂﬁé RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
AR¥T R ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
Z 5 W IE Trade receivables 5,439 19,503
B EEEBERRE Less: allowance for credit losses (1,387) (4,924)
REVFE Net carrying amount 4,052 14,579
2R % H th 8 U R IE Advance and other receivables 75,220 75,861
EEA Prepaid expenses 7,716 11,962
& I E b B YU T8 3B Deposits and other miscellaneous receivables 24,767 30,401
BEI8Hk Staff advances 6,489 9,710
118,244 142,513
TFEEREAAFEAREBEEETE ZHER An impairment analysis for trade receivables is performed at each

REREIN U ERBEEEE - &HE
FENABRUEBRRANTRAEZERL 2
BRAEOR(REPEEULFR) - 5E

BRRBRTBIRMELER Eﬁ%ﬂ%?ﬁ{ﬁﬁtx
RBERHAESHBRBESEMH AN

ARARKEBERATBHNNEE R A IHER -

reporting date using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of various
customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by customer type and
rating). The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the time
value of money and reasonable and supportable information that is available
at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and forecasts of
future economic conditions.
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19. ES B RIE - B RME- - Hft 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER

ERREREMEE (&) RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)
TXEHINEBAEEE S EWRFIBESE P EE Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on the
FEEHEERRKOER Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:
20248 A31H 31 AUGUST 2024
[}k
Past due
B PRE 122% 2E3E IB4E AENE st
Less than 110 210 3to Qver
Current 1 year 2 years 3Jyears 4 years 4 years Total
BHEEERX Expected credit loss rate - 0.29% 0.98% 42.66% 60.72% 100.00% 25.50%
BEEE(ARETT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) = 2,380 915 661 1,003 480 5,439
HECEER Expected credit losses (RMB'000)
(ARBFT) - 7 9 282 609 480 1,387
20238 A 31H 31 AUGUST 2023
[§at:
Past due
0 ik 1228 2E3F 3Z4E 4FDL it
Less than 110 210 310 Qver
Current 1 year 2 years 3 years 4 years 4 years Total
BHEEERX Expected credit loss rate - 0.78% 2.50% 43.52% 75.63% 100.00% 25.25%
BIEEE(ARETT) Gross carrying amount (RMB'000) - 9,115 4,365 1,783 1,116 3124 19,503
EHEEBE Expected credit losses (RMB'000)

(ARETT) - 71 109 776 844 3124 4,924
R EARNE FHERFKIBERZ S BB RN An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the reporting
BREEBEENERESTOT period, based on the transaction date and net of loss allowance, is as

follows:
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
AR%T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
—F R Within 1 year 2,373 9,044
—EMF 110 2 years 906 4,256
WE = 2 t0 3 years 379 1,007
=FE Over 3 years 394 272
A=t Total 4,052 14,579
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MERRMT HE2004F8A31HILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

MIBZﬁIE ' ?Eﬁ #IE - Hftt 19. TRADE RECEIVABLES, PREPAYMENTS, OTHER
3 & RECEIVABLES AND OTHER ASSETS (CONTINUED)

BESRUZBENEESEBREZIHNOT The movements in the allowance for credit losses in respect of trade
receivables are as follows:

W
= 0
8
%
t
&
s
i
@

B 5 EWRE

Trade receivables

ARBTT

RMB’000

R2022F9 A1 H At 1 September 2022 7,327
FREZDRERIE Impairment loss recognised during the year 942
F A5 Write-off during the year (3,345)
R2023F8 A31H KX2023F9A1H At 31 August 2023 and 1 September 2023 4,924
FABAREEE Impairment loss recognised during the year 1,027
F R Write-off during the year (4,564)
202448 A 31 H At 31 August 2024 1,387
BAFEFABEEZENEMEE 20. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH PROFIT

OR LOSS

2024 & 2023 4

2024 2023

AR¥ET T ARET T

RMB’000 RMB’000

HMIELMIRE  ZAFE Other unlisted investments, at fair value - 48,789
FHEEMEERPEAMIRITEITAIEN The above unlisted investments were wealth investment products and
EmkiINERE AEANRESRELIEE foreign exchange options issued by banks in Mainland China. They were
BEYNEASRFE - mwaslosBEAIEAF mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
ERPNE E’J%raﬁlﬁé as their contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and

interest.
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21.

RBekBEEEEY EHEXR
CEARZRHEEFR

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, TIME DEPOSITS,
PLEDGED AND RESTRICTED DEPOSITS

Be RRITHES

at

o BEEER
RITERREAMER
RHEBEHFRX
H A5 IR B R 1T A5 B
REEE R A

HBe={AzEHER
E HTF R

ReRBAEEEDY

2024 2023 4
2024 2023
ot ARMT T ARBTT
Note RMB’000 RMB’000
Cash and bank balances 1,547,003 884,891
Time deposits 774,661 217,726
Subtotal 2,321,664 1,102,617
Less: Pledged deposits for:
Bank loans and other loans 25 (928,105) (196,726)
Project deposit (3,284) (49,244)
Other restricted bank balances - (1,587)
Non-pledged time deposits with original
maturity of more than three months
when acquired (10,669) -
Cash and cash equivalents 1,379,606 855,060

Re RIRITEBATIEHE

The cash and bank balances were denominated in the following currencies:

AR RMB
e GBP
E7T usD
BT HKD

Be RIRTTES

Cash and bank balances

2024 F 2023 4F
2024 2023
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
2,256,724 1,074,612
671 -

22,153 22,603
42,116 5,402
2,321,664 1,102,617

ARBTHERELEBEKEMER - AW - R
EP B A OMNEE R IRD) RCEE - EER
NEEERTE)  AKEAEZBERERRI
EXBORTHEARBLBREMEE -

RITREBBREBEETARTERNRFENF
BHEAE - EHERERNERARFAR
SEMNBEREFTRKMABEMTR - L&A
75 HITE B RN R BRERA B - IRITAEBR OE
MERDFRREBIHENCHAEER
b EVERTT o

The RMB is not freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration
of Settlement, and Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the
Group is permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit
rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying periods depending
on the immediate cash requirements of the Group, and earn interest at
the respective short term time deposit rates. The bank balances and time
deposits are deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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BHNEE
BEHABHBET

MERRMT HE2004F8A31HILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

22. CONTRACT LIABILITIES

Details of contract liabilities are as follows:

o
]IH]’ pus

%;

BHRERR

202458 A31H 20238A31H 202259A1H

Tuition fees
Boarding fees

Total contract liabilities

31 August 1 September
2023 2022

AR T T AR T T
RMB’000 RMB’000
1,169,514 855,857
186,736 117,478
1,356,250 973,335

BRI B EBTER AR AR &R M A E
EZREBBRR - ARERZEFRAANAR
BENBELREIEE BELREBEENER
R ERL O R -

REEERGESER -

R2024%F X 2023F 8 A31H - A4 A EEM
DEZERKREBEELANEEREFEE L RL

ANPTER

HtENRERESER

SAEBRELH R

Contract liabilities include short-term advances received from students
in relation to the proportionate services not yet provided. The Group
receives tuition and boarding fees from students in advance prior to the
beginning of each academic year. Tuition and boarding fees are recognised

proportionately over the relevant period of the applicable programme.
Students are entitled to a refund of the payment in relation to the
proportionate services not yet provided.

students.

The increase in contract liabilities as at 31 August 2024 and 2023 was
mainly due to the increase of advances of tuition and boarding fees from

23. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS

2024 2023 4
2024 2023
AR¥ TR ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
BEYE J*% KR Payables for purchase of property,

FE 30T plant and equipment 212,204 207,010
JE& ff Hﬁz%\ Dividends payable 149,304 185,820
H b fE S 5/TB Other payables 137,443 147,471
FESHIEAI Mt &R g Accrued bonuses and social insurance 121,850 88,463
mE L WE K FEIRE R Miscellaneous expenses received

(Bt @) from students (Note (a)) 109,526 109,916
JE A5 2 A8 I 20 B & BURT Government subsidies payable to

% B students and teachers 87,090 98,480
Re Deposits 66,563 72,087
AT AN B Advance from lessees 53,943 54,025
JEETE A Accrued expenses 11,332 9,311
ERtEEERRIE Payables to cooperative schools 4,228 3,731
Bt Total 953,483 976,314
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23.

24,

HtENRERESER (&)

L AEHRTIEERE AR - RER AR
EEEARE . B RN REREFERY
FREEEE A FERS -

Bt (@) - BRIFIRIEMSEWIAMERER  HRBEAT o

23.

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (CONTINUED)

The above balances are unsecured and non-interest-bearing. The carrying
amount of other payables and accruals at the end of the year approximated
to their fair value due to their short-term maturity.

Note (a): The amount represents the miscellaneous expenses received from students which will
be paid on behalf of the students.

fTEEmMIT A 24. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENT
2024 F 2023 F
2024 2023
=R =R
Liabilities Liabilities
AR¥ T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
T =R 42 B K7 SN[ HE 42 Interest rate swaps and foreign exchange options 16,169 -

FEmERIINEBELIEREEL A
BOMBEAFENFABRTE - FEHHFH
RisHRIINERBENATEEHAARKE
16,169,000 7T (2023 FF : #&) ' ERNF AN B
KM -

The interest rate swaps and foreign exchange options are not designated
for hedge purposes and are measured at fair value through profit or loss.
Changes in the fair value of non-hedging interest rate swaps and foreign
exchange options amounting to RMB16,169,000 (2023: Nil) were charged
to the statement of profit or loss during the year.
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MERRMT HE2004F8A31HILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

BN

BEARTER

REREMER

REARERTERY
k)

RERRBEMERHN
k)

RBRE

@5t -HH

JERN
FERRITER

RBRE

B -3EEH

Current

Bank loans - secured

Other loans - secured

Current portion of long-term bank loans
- secured

Current portion of long-term other loans
- secured
Transaction costs

Total - current

Non-current
Bank loans - secured

Transaction costs

Total - non-current

Total

25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
2145 2023F
2024 2023
BBA= M AR%Trn R I8 ARETR
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity RMB’000 interest rate Maturity RMB'000
(%) (%)
1.55-3.80 2024-2025 1,149,457 1.80-4.30 2024 246,223
- 212 2023-2024 61,746
3.20-4.80 2024-2025 340,596 3.55-4.80, 2023-2024 812,458
SOFR+2.20
8.00 2024 1,308 5.84-8.00 2023-2024 39,392
(5,253) (6,265)
1,486,108 1,153,554
3.30-4.80, 2027-2034 2,022,931 3.40-4.80 2024-2034 1,554,954
SOFR+2.00
(9,600) -
2,013,331 1,554,954
3,499,439 2,708,508
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BMEHRRMET HE20024F8A3MBILEE
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25. sHERMITRHEMMERK (&) 25. INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
ARET T ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
DT Analysed into:
JEEBIRTTEN : Bank loans repayable:
R—FR Within one year 1,484,800 1,052,416
WE — In the second year 394,091 360,285
REZFEZFRF (B In the third to fifth years, inclusive
BEME) 1,288,007 656,289
BBAF Beyond five years 331,233 538,380
/Net Subtotal 3,498,131 2,607,370
FE(EE A A & 3K Other borrowings repayable:
N—F R Within one year 1,308 101,138
N Subtotal 1,308 101,138
A=t Total 3,499,439 2,708,508
Biat - Notes:
REBMRITREMERUA TN EMERE - The Group’s bank and other borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:
2024 £ 20234
2024 2023
AR¥FT ARBEF T
RMB'000 RMB'000
AR RMB 2,936,152 2,111,560
e usD 563,287 596,948
wit Total 3,499,439 2,708,508
MR2024F8 AN H  HETHROTERKEME As at 31 August 2024, certain of the bank loans and other borrowings are
A TS BEEDERER: secured and pledged by:
() AEBEETHBRRZME: (i) equity interests of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;
(i) FHREFZHOMEAER(HE34) (i) personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li (note 34 (a);
(i) AEERAEBNBRGEILDRE (i) corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
[ Group; and
ivv AEEMNZE 28AARE (iv)  deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB928,105,000 (note 21).

928,105,000 7T (Fff 5E21)
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25. SFERTREMMER (&) 25.

26.

BB RMITE EE2024F8A31BILFEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

MR2023F8A3H  HATRITERLEME
HA TS BEELERER:

() AEBEETHEDRZE:
(i)  FHREFZAMEAER(HE34)

(i) AEEBRANEBNBRGELARDRE
R &

vV "EEMKE 2BEAARE
196,726,000 7T (P7E21) o

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS
(CONTINUED)

As at 31 August 2023, certain of the bank loans and other borrowings are
secured and pledged by:

(i) equity interests of the Group’s certain subsidiaries;
(i) personal guarantees executed by Mr. Li (note 34 (a));

(i) corporate guarantees executed by the Group and subsidiaries of the
Group; and

(iv)  deposits of the Group with an amount of RMB196,726,000 (note 21).

IE 7E UK 2 26. DEFERRED INCOME
2024 & 2023 4
2024 2023
ARBT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000
R E 1) At beginning of year 324,750 330,694
nE Additions 77,624 12,074
AR Released to profit or loss (24,515) (18,018)
RER At end of year 377,859 324,750
W, BNERES Less: Current portion (15,003) (14,632)
JERNHRE o Non-current portion 362,856 310,118

A FE W 28 HE B T B R A T U I
B ZFBRMBRNEREENTBEIA LA
FHRBAREE -

Deferred income represents the government grants received for subsidies in
connection with certain leasehold improvements. These government grants
are released to profit or loss over the expected useful lives of the relevant
assets.
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BMEHRRMET HE20024F8A3MBILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

27. IR IE 27. DEFERRED TAX
FANRCEHMEBEEREEZEBHNT ! The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the year are as
follows:
ELEHEEE DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
2024 5
2024
W ig
Ff 8 2 &l
EEz
ENH @ AFERAE Hty F
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding  acquisition of
taxes subsidiaries Others Total
ARET R AR T ARET R ARET
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7 2023F9 A1H At 1 September 2023 7,858 171,731 36,468 216,057
FRNE A (3% B)  Deferred tax credited/(charged) to
BaRAVRELERIE the statement of profit or loss
during the year 11,144 (4,476) 4,380 11,048
72024 F 8 A 31 HAEYIE Gross deferred tax liabilities at
ERIBEEERE 31 August 2024 19,002 167,255 40,848 227,105
BELEREEE DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
2024 &
2024
] {1345 84
Al SREE AREZRH
RERBA REEBE RINEE RERERN Hitr @zt
Losses
Unrealised Impairment  available for
income losses on offsetting
received financial ~ against future Unrealised
in advance assets taxable profits profit Others Total

ARBTR ARBTR AR®TR AR®TR ARRTR ARWT:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

R2023F9A1H At 1 September 2023 3,000 7,211 1,688 15,347 3,494 30,740
ER(MBE),/5t A Deferred tax (charged)/credited to
BRrNELERE the statement of profit or loss
during the year (269) (517) 374 1,322 696 1,606

M2024F8 431 BH)  Gross deferred tax assets at
BN EEELE 31 August 2024 2,731 6,694 2,062 16,669 4,190 32,346
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BB RMETE EE2024F8A31BILFEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

27. DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

ELEBEBEEE DEFERRED TAX LIABILITIES
2023 F
2023
I g
B BB A A
EXEZ
EMH AT EHAE H Aty “Er
Fair value
adjustments
arising from
Withholding acquisition of
taxes subsidiaries Others Total
AREF T ARBF T ARBTF T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
R2022F9A1H At 1 September 2022 16,327 176,209 49,014 241,550
FRETABZERD Deferred tax credited to the
IEIEF IR statement of profit or loss
during the year (8,469) (4,478) (12,546) (25,493)
7202348 A31 HAY  Gross deferred tax liabilities at
EEFIEBEEE 31 August 2023 7,858 171,731 36,468 216,057
BELEREEE DEFERRED TAX ASSETS
2023
2023
BE:3:%:c!
izt SREE  ARERM
REFRWA REBE GANEE REREF Hity B3
Losses
Unrealised Impairment available for
income losses on offsetting
received in financial  against future Unrealised
advance assets  taxable profits profit Others Total
ARETT ARETRT ARETT ARETHL AREFTT ARETH
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
R2022F9A1H At 1 September 2022 3,288 7,403 1,235 5,032 2,814 19,772
ER(MBE),/5t A Deferred tax (charged)/credited to
BRrMELERE the statement of profit or loss
during the year (288) (192) 453 10,315 10,968
720238 A31 BAY  Gross deferred tax assets at
ERHEAELE 31 August 2023 3,000 7,211 1,688 15,347 3,494 30,740
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27.

IR R ()

HENEHMS  AEAR32346,0007T
(20234 : AFR¥30,740,0007T) K& TIEER
BEAEMBEBEERUBRAERFEYE - AT
AR RSB ME AEBELTH EHE
B AT

27.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

For presentation purposes, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities
amounting to RMB32,346,000 (2023: RMB30,740,000) have been offset
in the statement of financial position. The following is an analysis of the
deferred tax balances of the Group for financial reporting purposes:

2024 F 2023 4F
2024 2023
ARET T ARET T
RMB’000 RMB’000
RirE BRI R ER Net deferred tax assets recognised in the

FL%RIE,QEE/?TE consolidated statement of financial position = -

iR & B AR R R Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the
EIEIEBE T consolidated statement of financial position 194,759 185,317

AEENBRETREAMHHREBEBBARE
17,742,000 7T (2023 F : AR 24,775,000 7T) °
MEBEBEER —ZERAFREE - 7T f A E
RIRFERF i F 3K 8 -

AR THEEEDEDSREGEE —RE/MY
WEBAREERRBEBTKAER BRI G

The Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of RMB17,742,000
(2023: RMB24,775,000) that will expire in one to five years for offsetting
against future taxable profits.

Deferred tax assets have not been recognised in respect of the following
tax losses as they have arisen in subsidiaries that have been loss-making

FATAERERIEREE - WA REATRIA for some time and it is not considered probable that taxable profits will be
EEERELETIEEE available against which the tax losses can be utilised.
2024 2023 F
2024 2023
AR% T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000
MIAE R Tax losses 11,682 18,499

ERERAEENNGEEN BB RER LA
AREEBRRERHMEMNERBREK AN
RR - ZEREBBRBN20265F (BEZF)
ZH] -

RE(PEGEMETRE)  RPBAMASL
MR ECERAIIAREETIRNE R
0% B R BURTEFIR - XM E 8200841 A
THRER BEARK2007F12A31BEER
F oo iR B A RSN IRE & RDARIRF] L
BWHE AIRARERMOREE - KAEE
HEZ F R AP B A 3 A S RO B B & R) B 2008 4R
TATAEMREERFN D IR EBMTENS -

AEEBETHERATNR2020FNEELER
B0 & M A 2023 F EAE 0 2020 F = 20254F i@
A EEE B5% -

Deferred tax assets are recognised for tax losses carried forward to the
extent that the realisation of the related tax benefits through future taxable
profits is probable. These tax losses will expire up to and including year
2026.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10% withholding
tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign investors from the foreign
investment enterprises established in Mainland China. The requirement is
effective from 1 January 2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December
2007. A lower withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors. The
Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings generated
from 1 January 2008. Certain subsidiaries of the Group obtained the
Certificate of Resident Status of Hong Kong in 2020 and renewed in 2023,
the applicable rate is changed to 5% from 2020 to 2025.
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BB RMETE B E2024F8A31BILFEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

IR R ()

MR2024F8 A3 H  AEBEBERN Y B A
RBETHE LA EHEARN ZHABET
MIEAE A ARK19,002,0007T (20234F : A
R #7,858,0007T) - BRINER & BT s R FER K
TEON 0 P2024F8 A3 H MABRIEL
REAEOTERNBLHBEARNEERBYE
Br =R A HE 4 A AR 2662,060,0007T (2023
£ AR %2 298,363,0007T) © A 2 78 H
HHRFPENBARRBEMAER AR MEK
BANEREE BEERAE ZEHTAHF
BREBETEAMBRANEERSLHIER
AhZEMNBEARRAEENERITETS
DIRZEHR TR -

27.

DEFERRED TAX (CONTINUED)

As at 31 August 2024, the Group recognised relevant deferred tax liabilities
of RMB19,002,000 (2023: RMB7,858,000) on earnings anticipated
to be remitted by certain subsidiaries in the foreseeable future. Other
than the amount recognised in the consolidated financial statements,
at 31 August 2024, the aggregate amounts of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China for which
deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised totalled approximately
RMB2,662,060,000 (2023: RMB2,298,363,000), for the earnings expected
to be retained by the PRC subsidiaries and not to be remitted to a foreign
investor in the foreseeable future. In the opinion of the directors, such
remaining earnings will be retained in Mainland China for the expansion
of the Group’s operation, so it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such remaining earnings in the foreseeable future.

B 2% 28. SHARE CAPITAL
B 12 SHARES
2024 5 2023 4F
2024 2023
AR¥ET T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
BBETRHBRE Issued and fully paid:
1,549,622,630 % (2023 £ : 1,549,622,630 (2023: 1,555,250,630)
1,555,250,630 A% ) & 38 f% ordinary shares 1,063 1,067

RAFMBABE R DT -

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as follows:

e Registered:
ERTRHZE: Issued and fully paid:
20229F9H1H At 1 September 2022
LR Shares repurchased

202348 A31H
B (Hita)

At 31 August 2023

202448 431 H At 31 August 2024

Shares repurchased (Note (a))

BRHEE &8 &8
Number

of shares Amount Amount
ARETT

FET i)

RMB’000

USD’000 equivalent

2,000,000,000 200 1,355
1,562,350,630 156 1,071

(7,100,000) 1) (4)
1,555,250,630 155 1,067

(5,628,000) 1) (4)
1,549,622,630 154 1,063

Hiit(a) B E2024F8A3NBIEFEE  ARBRE L
510,964,000 % i% 15 + 2R 1B A A K% 18,118,000
7T+ H 75,628,000 A% A% 17 BE B 5k 84 o 72024 F 8
A318 - A% [2745336,000 8% (20234 : &) 8
BERMNOERETFTRG  HIEBRETSIER
BEBERE -

Note (a): During the year ended 31 August 2024, the Company purchased 10,964,000 of
its shares on the Stock Exchange at a total consideration of RMB18,118,000, of
which 5,628,000 were cancelled immediately. As at 31 August 2024, the Group had
5,336,000 (2023: Nil) purchased shares classified as treasury shares held for the

share option scheme and for raising capital in the future.
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28.

29.

B (&)
B e

AR BB IR BIFF 15 MRIEA B E1THE
BEBEAEMBHRRME29R -

BRETS

ApalE —EERERTE ([5r8)) - B X&
BEPAEBEEERINESERS2HEERE
REEE®R - FENEERSEAERBIEARR
RES (BEBUFRITES) ASKEEM
BERAEBERIRB 2 HER - 5TE8R
20173 H20 B AR - BRIESTTEUBKISET
BRI EZBRBER+F -

BIETE BRAIEHR FHRITEBERED
o E ATEREERMN £ A (BN2017
FA4R198) A RAIEBITRMH10%  EEM
+ZERAHEA REERERINES
AEARSHERTIRGESEE HURY
AARMEMEEEETROI1% - TE T
WREME —SPENEREASRRERRE
Ka ik o

BYARAEE HERITBABRRTERR
FEEABEANBRREELBELIFANTE
EERMME B BTFTARBAETERRK
B IFRTESF LA E AN EABR
- BBARAEAKESETREM0.1%
FAEEREBEARFNREL B BNRNDER)
BBsaEE T £+t _@EARER - A
RERERERRKREG LHE -

BETBERENEQARENBHET —+N
BARER THARAXNEZERELRE
T MIEREBREZTERIREEERE
YR=ZEAFEBREFL KRR TERE
BREEHESEFEFRTEER R THE
(AREERE) -

BREZTEERESEET  BTABERMU
TZE&mE () ARARG ZEE (VAR A
BHOREREZLRABERTZ JKHIE:
Ky AR BROAEBEEZEZLHHBAITAER S
HEB R ATz FWRTE -

28.

29.

SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)
SHARE OPTIONS

Details of the Company’s share option scheme and the share options issued
under the scheme are included in note 29 to the financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”) for the
purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group’s operations. Eligible participants of
the Scheme include the Company’s directors, including independent non-
executive directors, other employees of the Group and suppliers of goods
or services to the Group. The Scheme became effective on 20 March 2017
and, unless otherwise cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10
years from that date.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently permitted to
be granted under the Scheme is an amount equivalent, upon their exercise,
to 10% of the shares of the Company in issue at the listing date, i.e., 19
April 2017. The maximum number of shares issuable under share options
to each eligible participant in the Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time. Any further
grant of share options in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’
approval in a general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are subject to
approval in advance by the independent non-executive directors. In addition,
any share options granted to a substantial shareholder or an independent
non-executive director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at any time or with
an aggregate value (based on the price of the Company’s shares at the
date of grant) in excess of HKD5 million, within any 12-month period, are
subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28 days from
the date of offer, upon payment of a nominal consideration of HKD1 in
total by the grantee. The exercise period of the share options granted is
determinable by the directors, and commences after a vesting period of
three to five years and ends on a date which is not later than five years
from the date of offer of the share options or the expiry date of the Scheme,
if earlier.

The exercise price of share options is determinable by the directors, but
may not be less than the highest of (i) the nominal value of the Company’s
shares; (i) the Stock Exchange closing price of the Company’s shares on
the date of offer of the share options; and (iii) the average Stock Exchange
closing price of the Company’s shares for the five trading days immediately
preceding the date of offer.
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BERETE (&) 29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)
BERETTETHEARIRE BN RERXR Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
BREZERN - shareholders’ meetings.
RIEARQXBNR2017E3A20H K 2518 - Under the Scheme adopted by the Company on 20 March 2017, there were
HE2024F K2023F 8 A31H I FE T ERK no share options granted for the years ended 31 August 2024 and 2023.
o B S A o
AT ABRFANIRIBERT 8 M ARITE 2 BIRE The following share options were outstanding under the Scheme during the
year:
2024 & 2023 £F
2024 2023
InREEH B hnEF BB R
TEE 2A (B B
Weighted Weighted
average average
exercise Number exercise Number
price of options price of options
SREBRT T4 FRET T
HKD per share ‘000 HKD per share ‘000
R9A1H At 1 September 4.350 13,364 4.452 13,924
FREREIK Forfeited during the year 3.917 (687) 4.201 (560)
FREEM Expired during the year 4.212 (7,165) - -
MR8A31H At 31 August 4.576 5,512 4.350 13,364

REZE2024F8A3BHILFEE - KBEEME

PR AT (2023 5F © &) o

RBERAREARITERBREZITEERTE

(2023: Nil).

No share options were exercised during the year ended 31 August 2024

The exercise prices and exercise periods of the share options outstanding

HionR - as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:
2024 £ 2024
BREHE THEE
Number of options Exercise price 1T A Exercise period
T4 BRAER
‘000 HKD per share
537 3.110 20201021 HZE 2024510820 H 21 October 2020 to 20 October 2024
568 3.110 202110521 HZE 2024510520 H 21 October 2021 to 20 October 2024
766 3.110 2022F10H21 HZE 2024510820 H 21 October 2022 to 20 October 2024
1,092 5330 2021E7H23HZE2025%7H22H 23 July 2021 to 22 July 2025
1,092 5330 2022F7H23HZE2025F7H22H 23 July 2022 to 22 July 2025
1,457 5.330 2023F7H23HZE2025F7H22H 23 July 2023 to 22 July 2025
5,512
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29. BBR#ESTE (&)

29. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (CONTINUED)

2023 F 2023
B E TEE
Number of options Exercise price 175 &f Exercise period
T SRETT
‘000 HKD per share
332 5920 2019F9A3HZE2023F9H2H 3 September 2019 to 2 September 2023
199 5920 2020F9HA3HZE2023F9H2H 3 September 2020 to 2 September 2023
142 5920 2021F9A3HZE2023F9H2H 3 September 2021 to 2 September 2023
1,823 4202 201943 A1HZE2023410A25H 1 March 2019 to 25 October 2023
821 4202 202093 A1HZE2023410825H 1 March 2020 to 25 October 2023
553 4202 2021E3 1B ZE2023F10H258 1 March 2021 to 25 October 2023
559 4202 20199 9HA3HZE2023F10A25H 3 September 2019 to 25 October 2023
382 4202 20209 A3HZE2023F10A25H 3 September 2020 to 25 October 2023
232 4202 202199 A3HZE2023410A25H 3 September 2021 to 25 October 2023
60 4202 202299 A3HZE 20234108251 3 September 2022 to 25 October 2023
60 4202 202399 HA3HZE2023410825H 3 September 2023 to 25 October 2023
5 4202 2019410 A26 HZE 2023410 A25H 26 October 2019 to 25 October 2023
3 4202 2020410 526 H £2023410 A 25 H 26 October 2020 to 25 October 2023
7 4202 2021410 526 H £2023%10 A 25 H 26 October 2021 to 25 October 2023
10 4320 2019411 B2HZE 2023411 A1 H 2 November 2019 to 1 November 2023
6 4320 2020911 B2HZE 202311 A1 H 2 November 2020 to 1 November 2023
4 4320 2021911 B2HZE2023F11 A1 H 2 November 2021 to 1 November 2023
1,093 3.640 2020F4 A1HZE2024%3H31H 1 April 2020 to 31 March 2024
664 3.640 2021F4 A1HZE20245%3H31H 1 April 2021 to 31 March 2024
449 3.640 2022F 4 A1HZE2024F3831H 1 April 2022 to 31 March 2024
560 3110 2020910 A21 BHE 2024910820 H 21 October 2020 to 20 October 2024
682 3110 2021410 A21 HE 2024910820 H 21 October 2021 to 20 October 2024
868 3110 2022910 A21 BE2024F10 20 H 21 October 2022 to 20 October 2024
1,299 5330 2021F7 A23HZE 202547 A22H 23 July 2021 to 22 July 2025
1,155 5330 202247 A23HZE 202547 A22H 23 July 2022 to 22 July 2025
1,396 5.330 202347 A23HZE 202547 A228 23 July 2023 to 22 July 2025
13,364

HE202F8A3HBILFE  AEE W ERE
RERER S (B E2023F8A31 B ILFE
AR #1,969,0007T) °

NG R - A2 FRIBEE 8% 55,512,270
MERITECERE BEXQAFTENER
B BEOEMKRITEZBREGERA
N A B 175,512,270 % B8 9 8 A% & 58 98 B AR
551.23 %70 (M #ETHAZ R °

RMEZZETBHRER A XAQFREE
WEAH 367470010 M ARITHE 2 BERE  HER
NEIRZ BB BTN 0.24% °

The Group didn’t recognise a share option expense during the year ended
31 August 2024 (year ended 31 August 2023: RMB1,969,000).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had 5,512,270 share
options outstanding under the Scheme. The exercise in full of the
outstanding share options would, under the present capital structure of
the Company, result in the issue of 5,512,270 additional ordinary shares
of the Company and additional share capital of US$551.23 (before issue
expenses).

At the date of approval of these financial statements, the Company had
3,674,700 share options outstanding under the Scheme, which represented
approximately 0.24% of the Company’s shares in issue as at that date.
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30. f#f&

AEERAFERBEFENRBEELE
BHEVBRRINGAEREHRANZT -

e T

74 58 B0 7 U 9 O L R 2 ) R
A ANBRAEE £ RO TR A% E
U B A 2% ] — P Y 28 ) AR 2 A
AEFERD -

EEREMBHRER

BRETEAEBEER ARANHTENBAGF
EEBREREMNDBETADKFES (HEH
TENEBARNESTEETE) - ZFRHEERE()
BREERRN—REFEE () EROBRES -

() WREFEHRIFE AEBETHBRA
ERBNENLE ARBEEBETE S
ERFETRBEEFNI10%DES
EXENEATAGRE BEE2/HEBED
HEZGaFMEARNL% - £ B R AE
FEie TREMBRT - BrATHEH
BEATEAIMER  HERNLENE
BRE R T & A9 25% ©

(i) WEFENBRREARER  B2021459
A1BRE Z2FMERREBREAKSEBE
AN 10 10% B 48 3] A% F 2 48 e 0 3
ERRED MIFZNESRALEH
BRADRI0%N T ZR G EEFEL
ERFEEMOBEZERES - BRE
TRARBRNERAEELHEREN
RELTIR -

31 MEBERERMEE

A ETEXBEELXRZ

FRNAEERBLSHEAELHES 7
EXFRHEEEAMEEAGIRE A
E AR ®2,074,0007T (20234 : AR
3,040,000 7T) & A R # 2,074,000 7T (2023
& AR¥3,040,0007T) °

30. RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements therein for the
current and prior years are presented in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity of the financial statements.

CAPITAL RESERVE

The capital reserve of the Group represents the capital contributions from
the then equity holders of the Group’s subsidiaries. The deduction during
the year represents the decrease in the Group’s net assets resulting from
the acquisition of non-controlling interests in a subsidiary of the Company.

STATUTORY AND OTHER SURPLUS RESERVES

Pursuant to the relevant laws in the PRC, the Company’s subsidiaries in
the PRC shall make appropriations from after-tax profit to non-distributable
reserve funds as determined by the boards of directors of the relevant PRC
subsidiaries. These reserves include (i) the general reserve of the limited
liability companies and (ii) the development fund of schools.

(i) In accordance with the Company Law of the PRC, certain subsidiaries
of the Group which are domestic enterprises are required to allocate
10% of their profit after tax, as determined in accordance with the
relevant PRC accounting standards, to their respective statutory
surplus reserves until the reserves reach 50% of their respective
registered capital. Subject to certain restrictions set out in the
Company Law of the PRC, part of the statutory surplus reserve
may be converted to registered capital, provided that the remaining
balance after the capitalisation is not less than 25% of the registered
capital.

(i) According to the relevant PRC laws and regulations, since 1
September 2021, a for-profit private school is required to appropriate
to the development fund not less than 10% of the audited annual
net income of the relevant school while a non-profit school is
required to appropriate to the development fund not less than 10%
of the audited annual increase in the non-restricted net assets of
the relevant school. The development fund is for the construction
or maintenance of the schools or the procurement or upgrade of
educational equipment.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS

(A)  MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year, the Group had non-cash additions to right-of-use
assets and lease liabilities of RMB2,074,000 (2023: RMB3,040,000)
and RMB2,074,000 (2023: RMB3,040,000), respectively, in respect
of lease arrangements for office premises.
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31.

mEHEeRERMT (F) 31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)
(B) METHELEZAGED (B) CHANGES IN LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING
ACTIVITIES
2024 &F 2024
RITER
Hih &N HEEE et
Bank and
other loans Lease liabilities Total
ARB TR AR¥ T AR¥ TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2023F9A1H At 1 September 2023 2,708,508 9,745 2,718,253
BMERSREZEH Changes from financing cash flows 783,580 (6,711) 776,869
s New leases - 2,074 2,074
SNEE Foreign exchange movement 7,351 - 7,351
FEXH Interest expense - 289 289
R2024F8 A31H At 31 August 2024 3,499,439 5,397 3,504,836
2023 F 2023
RITR
HEiER HEaE HEr
Bank and
other loans Lease liabilities Total
AREFIT AREF T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
R2022F9AH1H At 1 September 2022 3,320,140 12,987 3,333,127
BERSREZE Changes from financing cash flows (637,932) (6,072) (644,004)
FHE New leases - 3,040 3,040
FAETAI I EAIE F  Revision of a lease term arising from a
mEHEEBEET change in the non-cancellable period
of a lease - (775) (775)
HNEE B Foreign exchange movement 26,300 - 26,300
FEZH Interest expense - 565 565
R2023F8 A31H At 31 August 2023 2,708,508 9,745 2,718,253
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MERRMET HE2004F8A31HILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

FmERERERKT (E) 31. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH
FLOWS (CONTINUED)

(C) HEMBRER (C) TOTAL CASH OUTFLOW FOR LEASES
FFABRESRERCEHEENBIE SR The total cash outflow for leases included in the statement of cash
HaT flows is as follows:

2024 2023 4

2024 2023

ARET T AREF T

RMB’000 RMB’000

FTALEEEE N Within operating activities (199) (167)
FTABEEEN Within financing activities (6,711) (6,072)
@t Total (6,910) (6,239)

EEERHF 32. PLEDGE OF ASSETS

RAEEBRTEFRBER  ASEHEEFBR Details of the Group’s assets pledged for the Group’s bank loans are

R ERERMFE25 - included in note 25 to the financial statements.

AIE 33. COMMITMENTS

AEBRFEHRE T E AP : The Group had the following capital commitments as at the end of the

reporting period:

2024 £ 2023 4
2024 2023
AR¥T T ARETIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
EET 4B R B - Contracted but not provided for:
Y BB MERE Property, plant and equipment 567,851 318,012
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

4. AR R &R

BRZEMBREREMMTAREZR S R
BRI ARERFREBBIANTRS

(A)

IETE2SFTEL  AKEE TR RERITR
HE R R EER -

34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND BALANCES

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed elsewhere in these
financial statements, the Group had the following transactions with related
parties during the year:

(A)  As set out in note 25, certain of the Group’s interest-bearing bank
and other loans were guaranteed by Mr. Li.

AEEFEZEEEAENHE (B) COMPENSATION OF KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL OF THE
GROUP
2024 2023 4
2024 2023
AR¥ET T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
ZHiE B2 A Short-term employee benefits 10,849 13,052
RIKEET B Contributions to the pension scheme 427 487
ARG RE ST TEN BB AR REBA X Equity-settled share option expense = 340
MEEEBABLMNE Total compensation paid to key management

w5 personnel 11,276 13,879

FREERESTBRAEMENE—F
FHIEEN M IS HRARMI LS

Further details of directors’ and the chief executive’s emoluments
are included in note 8 to the financial statements.
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MERRMET HE2004F8A31HILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

EMIENDE 35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY
RBEPHR SESRTENFEEENT The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial instruments as

at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2024 & 2024
THEE Financial assets
g -
BAETEH
CEEE
Financial assets
at amortised cost
AR®T T
RMB’000
FTAEZEWHIE - AN A - Financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments,

HitfE W RIBREMEENSREE other receivables and other assets 110,528
EHFER Time deposits 10,669
B R X R 6173 Pledged and restricted deposits 931,389
RERBECEEY Cash and cash equivalents 1,379,606
“act Total 2,432,192
THEE Financial liabilities

BAYE b8

STABEK AT ER
cREE cHMEE #5t

Financial liabilities

at fair value Financial

through liabilities at
profit or loss amortised cost Total
AR¥T R ARBTT AR®BTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

St AE A E N FRIE R Financial liabilities included in other

EETEAMNERAE payables and accruals = 766,358 766,358
TEemTA Derivative financial instruments 16,169 - 16,169
TR REMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings = 3,499,439 3,499,439
HEBE Lease liabilities - 5,397 5,397
@t Total 16,169 4,271,194 4,287,363

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT E£3 209



BMEHRRMET HE20024F8 A3 BILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

3. EMITAND E (&) 35. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY (CONTINUED)
2023 2023
2HREE Financial assets
BAFE g Eic!
FFABRE BN 10!
TREE TREE @t
Financial assets
at fair value
through Financial assets
profit or loss at amortised cost Total
ARBFT ARBFT ARETT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

STAZ ZEUFIE - A FKIE © Financial assets included in trade
H 0 FE WORRIE R H A E E R receivables, prepayments, other

EMEE receivables and other assets - 129,299 129,299
B & R 6177 3 Pledged and restricted deposits - 247 557 247557
BAFEFABSHNSEEE  Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 48,789 - 48,789

RAeRkBReEED Cash and cash equivalents - 855,060 855,060

@zt Total 48,789 1,231,916 1,280,705
THEEE Financial liabilities

birg e

ARG EH)

TRAE

Financial liabilities
at amortised cost

ARBTT

RMB’000

SFAEMENZERETEHBAS R AE Financial liabilities included in other payables and accruals 824,515
TERITREMER Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 2,708,508
HEaRE Lease liabilities 9,745
@t Total 3,542,768
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ERTANLXFERATFEER

AEEeBMTANKEERAFEKEREE
HAFESEMEENERITAN BT

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s financial instruments,
other than those with carrying amounts that reasonably approximate to fair
values, are as follows:

SREE AF¥E
KE Group Carrying amounts Fair values
2024 F 2023 FF 2024 20234
2024 2023 2024 2023
ARST T ARETRT AR®BTRT AR®ETT
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
SREE Financial assets
B R R 67K Pledged and restricted deposits,
JEENERES non-current portion 100,000 101,000 100,121 104,674
BEAFEFAERN Financial assets at fair value
EHEE through profit or loss - 48,789 - 48,789
ot Total 100,000 149,789 100,121 153,463
cREE Financial liabilities
PTETmIA Derivative financial instruments 16,169 - 16,169 -

FERITER M EAMEF Interest-bearing bank loans and

other borrowings

et Total

3,499,439 2,708,508 3,502,444 2,710,106

3,515,608 2,708,508 3,518,613 2,710,106

ERECDHE R RBEFEY 2HEN
RZRGIFHREBMIBEL  EREFR AR
Z W IA - BN R - b RUGRIA R E
MMEENETMEE FARMENRARRE
AREANSRAEENAFERERTEMES -
TERANZEFLANIHARRE -

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, the current portion of pledged and restricted deposits, time
deposits, financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments, other
receivables and other assets, and financial liabilities included in other
payables and accruals approximate to their carrying amounts largely due to
the short-term maturities of these instruments.
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EMTANQXFERAIFERR (&)

AEBENERVHEERENMBKHRFIEER
TRIANATFEAEEEBRRLER - ¥
BREANEFEMBENERZECERER -
REREAH MBHEMAOTRTAEANE
BEEPIBEBETARBENTEGABIE -4
BEHERMBEETENRILE BEREZE
SEFENWRAEERRENERNAAETH
HLEREMBEE2H -

TRMEENABNATFEMZIARERR
ZHTEBANR S GREFFEHERSI) F
MR ZERARKR - TXHEINARGE 2 FE
M ITAE MR

EERELRZEHTR  EHER  FERT
MEMEFIENABIO QA FERBEEES
BR - -EEREBREAB TFHITAMNRETA
LR ABRIRTE AR PRIV &M EFTH - 742024
FEANH ARAEEARAFWNTBETR
HEMEROTHBELORRMHERNAFEE
W EAMTRE -

AEEGENELTRE - BB ERMRT
BTHIREE G RONE B - A EERAR
RRe R BHERS  RELAERRE
M TANTISHE GRSk LTRE
f) 2 A8 -

BMEHRRMET HE20024F8 A3 BILEE
NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

36.

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

The Group’s finance department headed by the chief financial officer is
responsible for determining the policies and procedures for the fair value
measurement of financial instruments. The finance manager reports
directly to the chief financial officer and the audit committee. At each
reporting date, the finance department analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied in
the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by the chief financial
officer. The valuation process and results are discussed with the audit
committee twice a year for interim and annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included at
the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a current
transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced or liquidation
sale. The following methods and assumptions were used to estimate the
fair values:

The fair values of the non-current portion of pledged and restricted
deposits, time deposits, interest-bearing bank and other borrowings have
been calculated by discounting the expected future cash flows using rates
currently available for instruments with similar terms, credit risk and
remaining maturities. The change in fair value as a result of the Group’s
own non-performance risk for interest-bearing bank and other borrowings
as at 31 August 2024 was assessed to be insignificant.

The Group invests in unlisted investments, which represent wealth
investment products and foreign exchange options issued by banks in
Mainland China. The Group has estimated the fair value of these unlisted
investments by using a discounted cash flow valuation model based on the
market interest rates of instruments with similar terms and risks.
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36. TMTANAFERAFEER (A)

DFEER
TRAPALEESRTANAFEFEER

RAFEHBORE :

R2024F 8 H31H AEE W EEMIZRF
B2 emEE -

36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY

The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement hierarchy of the
Group’s financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value:

The Group did not have any financial assets measured at fair value as at 31
August 2024.

2023F8 A31H As at 31 August 2023

NTEFEMAEE
Fair value measurement using
VA BEAAEHE EATAHEE
MM RE W A BUR AR

(B—%) (B=#%) (F=®) @t
(Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBFR  ARETT  AREFE  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
RAFEGFAERZN Financial assets at fair value
TRAE through profit or loss - 48,789 - 48,789
HRAFHEGTEWEE Liabilities measured at fair value:
NTEEFEFRASE
7202458 A 31 H As at 31 August 2024 Fair value measurement using
RER EXTEE EATTEAE
miE N RE BABE LN ¢
(F—#&) (=) (B=&) #5t
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARETR  ARMTR  AR%TRE  ARETR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
TEemI A Derivative financial instruments - 16,169 - 16,169

R2023F8A31TH  REBWETMIZEAF
EitEmsRas-

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair value as at
31 August 2023.
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214

ATEER (&) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)
EHELFENEE Assets for which fair values are disclosed:

R2024F8A31H As at 31 August 2024

AVEFEFAYE

Fair value measurement using

HiER EATHE EAFAEBEE
mENRE BARE LN ¢
(B—%&) (=) (B=8) 5t
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARMFRE  ARMTR  ARMTR  AR%TxR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
BN ZREER > Pledged and restricted deposits,
JEBNEAER 5 non-current portion = 100,121 = 100,121
ATE R ARE
20238 A31H As at 31 August 2023 Fair value measurement using
VS ERAHR BAMAIHEE
miSHRE B ABE B AHE
(F—H) (B=%) (2=#%) Bt
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTL  ARETL  ARBTL  ARETI
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
DR R 2R EITE - Pledged and restricted deposits,
FERNERED non-current portion - 104,674 - 104,674

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED

FEHSHEEERATE



MERRMET HE2004F8A31HILEE

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

36. EMIEAENAFERAFEEHR (FE) 36. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

ATEER (&) FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY (CONTINUED)
ERELFENEE: Liabilities for which fair values are disclosed:

R2024%F8 A31H

As at 31 August 2024

AVEFEFAYE

Fair value measurement using

HiER BEATERE EATAEER
mENERE WAE LN ¢ -
(F—%&) (B=#&) (B=8) @t
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
AR¥TR AR®T T AR¥TR AR¥TR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
STERTERK Interest-bearing bank loans and
H &% other borrowings - 3,502,444 - 3,502,444
RN EFEMRAEE
20238 31 H As at 31 August 2023 Fair value measurement using
IR BEXRAEE EARIABR
miSHRE W A BUE WA BUE
(E—#) (F=8H) (E=H) it
Quoted Significant Significant
prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
ARBTT ARBF T ARBT T ARBTT
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
STERTERK Interest-bearing bank loans and
HAth f& 3 other borrowings - 2,710,106 - 2,710,106

FR EREENAENAFEFELER
F-REFE_FEER TEEALEL
F=R (2023 : &) -

During the year, there were no transfers of fair value measurements
between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into and out of Level 3 for
financial assets and liabilities (2023: Nil).
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HERRBEEEREREE

AEBENTIZERITARREISRITREM
tEFR R RAEEY THERARE
EREZRHFR - ZE2RTANTEN
BEBASENREERES - AKEESR
ERABEREERAE WHEZEEEE
AR R AL AR B R R MR B A

AEESRTASTROEIZER SN EER
EERR -IERRERBESRER EF
B REE TR TR R ER &% E R BEK
B anw o

M= E R

AEBEEmBOMSNEEHNAMEZER
SENFERITERAHR EFROMERE
BN BRI T2 HE -

7 85 180 3 58 A () 8. 35 50 DA 9 e L D
BRI IR -

TERGAEMEEMEEHFTENERT
R 5% B B B AU g ) BT R R 5 32 A BE B A B
RE(EBISMERMZNZE) DT

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND

POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise interest-bearing
bank and other borrowings, cash and cash equivalents, time deposits,
and pledged and restricted deposits. The main purpose of these financial
instruments is to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as other receivables and
other payables and accruals, which arise directly from its operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments are interest
rate risk, credit risk, foreign currency risk and liquidity risk. The board of
directors reviews and agrees policies for managing each of these risks
which are summarised below.

INTEREST RATE RISK

The Group’s exposure to the risk of changes in market interest rates relates
primarily to the Group’s bank borrowings with a floating interest rate. The
interest rates and terms of repayments of the borrowings are disclosed in
note 25 to the financial statements.

The Group has not used any interest swaps to hedge its exposure to
interest rate risk.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably possible
change in interest rates, with all other variables held constant, of the
Group’s profit before tax (through the impact on floating rate borrowings) as
follows:

E#A (T R) RR B A& R
HE R 2/ #

Increase/ (Decrease)/
(decrease) increase

in basis points in profit before tax

2024 F 2024

AR RMB 50 (6,189)
AR RMB (50) 6,189
2023 F 2023

AR RMB 50 (5,066)
AR RMVB (50) 5,066
FERR CREDIT RISK

FERBEHSFHIEEIXTHETEANE
TmEROEBERERR AEETEREE =
TEBAZEREERR FREZHFRN
FEERT RERTHASEREERNER
BE -AEBEEENSAEERRAREER
ReEEY DEMEZROER E8MER -
B 5 EWGRIR - BN R - H b EUGRIA R
HMEEMREE -

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the inability or unwillingness of
a counterparty to meet its contractual obligation. The Group has no
concentration of credit risk from third party debtors. Deposits are mainly
placed with licensing banks which are all high-credit-quality financial
institutions. The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk refers to the
carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, pledged and restricted
deposits, time deposits, trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables
and other assets.
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BHEEREEREREE(E)

FERR (&)
R /3 B A F AR

TRBATIREASENERBEREHRNER
mEMRAEERRKO  ZHREZBER
BENBRMER (RFEBERERBEREZ
RAREBEANBERTAER)  ARBESH
STEHMFEROHOBE -MEJNNEZESTR
BEMRKHEE-

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)
Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum exposure to
credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy, which is mainly based on
past due information unless other information is available without undue
cost or effort, and year-end staging classification as at 31 August. The
amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for financial assets.

202448 H31 H As at 31 August 2024
+-EREH
FEFR 2HEHEESR
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-RR FoRR 2 RS @
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARETT AR¥Tx AR%Tx AR%®Tx AR%Tx
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
S AEHEWFIE B Financial assets included in trade
HIE - HEMGIE R receivables, prepayments, other
EEAENEREE" receivables and other assets*
—EE™ ~ Normal** 106,476 - - 5,439 111,915
EEBRZBHGFR Pledged and restricted deposits
— B R 8 — Not yet past due 931,389 - - - 931,389
THER Time deposits
— B ARE — Not yet past due 10,669 - - - 10,669
RekBEZFED Cash and cash equivalents
— M & 8 — Not yet past due 1,379,606 = = = 1,379,606
2,428,140 - - 5,439 2,433,579
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BHEEBREEERRBE (H)

FERK (E)
RERBHFRSH (&)
R2023F 8 431 H

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CREDIT RISK (CONTINUED)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging (Continued)

S AZSHEWFIE B Financial assets included in trade

HIE - HaEMGIER receivables, prepayments, other

HhEENEREE" receivables and other assets™

~-EE~ — Normal**
EEARZREETR Pledged and restricted deposits

— AR H — Not yet past due
RekBEEED Cash and cash equivalents

— AR H — Not yet past due

As at 31 August 2023
TZEAEH
B THRNEERR
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
F-BR F_RR F-RER Bt H% @t
Simplified

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
ARBTT ARBTT AREKTRT ARBTR ARETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
114,720 - - 19,503 134,223
247,557 - - - 247,557
855,060 - - - 855,060
1,217,337 - - 19,503 1,236,840

* A AREERBEZREENE S EKRE -
FERFE HtEBRELREGEE]NNE HE
WHRIET S - EREEHEEENER R BRERME
19 HEE -

HREFTAR S EYIR - TN ROR - A EAOR
REMEE RABNFAANSBEE  WAE
B BYEBRRAZSREE B MRERMANR
ERRBBEEEN MRAEERERAIER] -
BRI ERMAEENEREZR/BIAE] -

HRASBEENZEMNEERTINE=T1E
TR WWHAXAERR FERRE
RERER /HFHUARMENSTER -
AEEYESESTHEERR

For trade receivables included in “Trade receivables, prepayments, other receivables
and other assets” to which the Group applies the simplified approach for impairment,
information based on the provision matrix is disclosed in note 19 to the financial
statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in trade receivables, prepayments,
other receivables and other assets, and prepayment for investments is considered to
be “normal” when they are not past due and there is no information indicating that
the financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition.
Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is considered to be “doubtful”.

Since the Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy third parties,
there is no requirement for collateral. Concentrations of credit risk are
managed by analysis by customer/counterparty and by geographical region.
There are no significant concentrations of credit risk within the Group.
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37. KEREEEERBE (&) 37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)
SN EE B B FOREIGN CURRENCY RISK
AEEEHEReRRESEEY 7 EHRT The Group has currency exposures from its cash and cash equivalents and
FEMEREENEERR - interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
TREMBNAREBEREIRBTEZNS The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end of the reporting
By TMEHEHMEHRBEIEZNE period to a reasonably possible change in the exchange rates of RMB
T BAREBERWEARGOBRB AR (X against USD and HKD, with all other variables held constant, of the Group’s
REBEERBENATEZS WHRAES profit before tax (due to changes in the fair value of monetary assets and
T o liabilities).
Enk
BTE R R A R
(T&) L£# R 2/ #
(Decrease)/ (Decrease)/
increase increase
in USD and in profit
HKD rates before tax
% ARBTTT
% RMB’000
2024 5 2024
M ARBRETLEAE If RMB weakens against USD (5) (26,599)
MARBHETHE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 26,599
MARBEBETRE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) 2,058
M ARE S BTHE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 (2,058)
2023 & 2023
MAREHEETRE If RMB weakens against USD (5) (25,548)
i AR L EITHAE If RMB strengthens against USD 5 25,548
MAREEBTRE If RMB weakens against HKD (5) 235
MAREELBTHE If RMB strengthens against HKD 5 (235)
REBEERKE LIQUIDITY RISK
AEEMNALEU R ESHE T RERH The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a recurring
EsREpmER ZIAZESREELRS liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity of both its financial
REEMEMNINBABEARKELLEERNTE investments and financial assets and projected cash flows from operations.

ARERE -

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
AEBEHEEBNARITER  AIBRES - funding and flexibility through the use of bank loans, convertible bonds,
HEAEREMTEERERESIHE LS lease liabilities and other interest-bearing loans.
B2 M e
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BHEEREEREREE(E)

nBEEERE (&)

AEBRBEPRRERGORBERNRN S
BEEIHBERET

37. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

LIQUIDITY RISK (CONTINUED)

The maturity profile of the Group’s financial liabilities as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted payments, is as

follows:
2024 2024
REXE =@AR =ZE+=f@A —-ELf @zt
Less than 3t012 1105
On demand 3 months months years Total
ARETRT AREF T ARETR AR¥T R ARBTR
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
HEBE Lease liabilities - 1,718 2,677 1,297 5,692
FERTREMEBER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings - 716,970 755,584 3,104,623 4,577,177
SAEMERNTRER Financial liabilities included in
EFHERANEHMEE other payables and accruals 766,358 - - - 766,358
766,358 718,688 758,261 3,105,920 5,349,227
2023 & 2023
RERE =EARN Z=Z+={@A —EhF @t
Less than 31012 1105
On demand 3 months months years Total
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARET T ARET T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
HEBE Lease liabilities - 1,779 5,029 3,425 10,233
FERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings - 88,746 1,018,036 1,921,064 3,027,846
SFAEMERNTRER Financial liabilities included in
EIrE2RANEHMERE other payables and accruals 824,515 - - - 824,515
824,515 90,525 1,023,065 1,924,489 3,862,594
FEEEKE INTEREST RATE BENCHMARK REFORM

R2024F8HA3TH AEBERETUET
FTEMETERITREMER - HRETHBH
RITRAEFRBBEELEAMH ZETEMFE (A
BBBRTREREABER) CENETAUE
ERBEREEF X AER -

As at 31 August 2024, the Group had certain interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings denominated in United States dollars. Since United
States dollar LIBOR has ceased to be published, the interest rates of these
instruments which were based on the LIBOR have been renegotiated to be
based on the SOFR.

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HFEHESHEEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

37. B EREEBRRERBE (&)

EXRER
AREBEAEENTERZARRAERN
FECEE N RERFBENERLE L%
SEEBTFEREEERAL -

AEBBTARBEEABGEZSAERN
TREBELERINES R EEEENRRE
BREBHEEAEBUHEERNAE - 5
B AEREARAERE AEBKSHABRNS T
BEARE  REEARTREREITHRMD ©
AREBARAZEMMINBEARAEROR - HZE
20245 20238 A1 HIEFERN KEE
MEREERBIE BRKEFBMETAES -

RBEMRNEERBL RO :

37.

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES AND
POLICIES (CONTINUED)

CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern and to maintain healthy
capital ratios in order to support its business and maximise shareholders’
value.

The Group regards equity attributable to owners of the parent as capital
and manages its capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light
of changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the
underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders, return capital
to shareholders or issue new shares. The Group is not subject to any
externally imposed capital requirements. No changes were made in the
objectives, policies or processes for managing capital during the years
ended 31 August 2024 and 2023.

The debt-to-asset ratios at the end of the reporting periods were as follows:

BEEE Total liabilities
BEERLE Total assets
BEEABILEX Debt-to-asset ratios

2024 F 2023 4F
2024 2023
AR¥ET T AREF T
RMB’000 RMB’000
6,905,478 5,710,188
11,017,239 9,242,999
63% 62%

38. EHEEE
IR BRI B A B A BT o

38.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

There are no significant events after the end of the reporting period.
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39. KT BEMRRE 39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY

ARERBERRNFBERRRZERDT -

Information about the statement of financial position of the Company at the

222

end of the reporting period is as follows:

2024 5 2023 4F
2024 2023
ARET T ARETFIT
RMB’000 RMB’000
ERBEE NON-CURRENT ASSETS
B J&B 1~ B HE 2 Interests in subsidiaries 451,165 451,165
FREESE Right-of-use assets 1,221 683
EREBEELLE Total non-current assets 452,386 451,848
RBEE CURRENT ASSETS
RekBEEFED Cash and cash equivalents 53,534 12,384
B3 K 52 PR I A7 30 Pledged and restricted deposits 2,334 14,216
EHFR Time deposits 10,669 -
JFE s B B8 A Due from subsidiaries 2,394,573 2,119,522
MENVEEME Total current assets 2,461,110 2,146,122
REBaRE CURRENT LIABILITIES
FFERIT R E AL E K Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 626 597,646
HibERZHIBERELE R Other payables and accruals 404,904 265,445
mE B EETE Total current liabilities 405,530 863,091
REBEEFE NET CURRENT ASSETS 2,055,580 1,283,031
EEHBERRBEES TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT LIABILITIES 2,507,966 1,734,879
kRBEE NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES
FFERIT R EAME R Interest-bearing bank and other borrowings 554,736 -
EREBBEER Total non-current liabilities 554,736 -
BEFE Net assets 1,953,230 1,734,879
R EQUITY
& AR Share capital 1,063 1,067
E 7R 5D Treasury shares (8,050) -
wE (HF) Reserves (note) 1,960,217 1,733,812
B Total equity 1,953,230 1,734,879

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HFEHESHEEERAT
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS YEAR ENDED 31 AUGUST 2024

39. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (CONTINUED)

AT BRI R (K)

40.

Htit - Note:
ARAFEEZBENT : A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows:
ER
B 108 ERfFEE BRERKE BERA REREE st
Exchange
Share Capital Share Retained fluctuation
premium reserve  option reserve profits reserve Total
ARBFTT AREFTT AREFTT ARBTRT AR®BTRT ARET:R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
7202248 A31 H4&5%  Balance at 31 August 2022 1,153,310 446,239 18,081 148,047 (33,860) 1,731,817
FREEMW=EEE Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - 335,776 16,985 352,761
5 R 2022 F KR EARR S Final 2022 dividend declared - - - (145,175) - (145,175)
B [B1 % 17 Shares repurchased (21,396) - - - - (21,396)
DA RS 4 S 1 B0 i AR A Equity-settled share option
ZHE arrangements - - 1,969 - - 1,969
8 R 8 W sk fE T 18 Transfer of share option reserve
ERERERE upon the forfeiture or expiry of
share options - - (344) - - (344)
2023 FF BRI B Interim 2023 dividend
(Hiat11) (note 11) - - - (185,820) - (185,820)
7H2023F8 A31H At 31 August 2023 1,131,914 446,239 19,706 152,828 (16,875) 1,733,812
FREEW =BT Total comprehensive income for
the year - - - 392,695 (6,922) 385,773
B E k2023 FRHIAX S Final 2023 dividend declared
(Ktat11) (note 11) - - - (149,304) - (149,304)
BE Bl A% Shares repurchased (10,064) - - - - (10,064)
8 AR 8 W sk e i 14 Transfer of share option reserve
EREREAEE upon the forfeiture or expiry of
share options - - (12,191) 12,191 - -
M20248 A31H At 31 August 2024 1,121,850 446,239 7,515 408,410 (23,797) 1,960,217

B R

MM EDN2024FE11 AsBEES S 4

R AR B A o

40. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue by the
board of directors on 28 November 2024,
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

HZ200F HE02ME  HEANE  HEANE  BERAUE
8A31H 8A31H 8A31H 8A31H 8A31A
ENEA HEE HEE HEE JI:3:5
Eight months Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
ME%E ended 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
Results of operations 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
ARBFL ARETRT AR®TR AR®Fr AR%®T=x
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
WA Revenue 721,644 1,497 455 1,921,752 2,119,140 2,411,710
EF Gross profit 288,647 667,163 750,415 806,004 876,135
o ERERN Net profit for the period/year 197,095 591,797 630,212 703,289 756,074
N ALEL Attributable to:

BARHEA Owners of the parent 174,909 567,824 620,003 703,289 756,074
2020 F 20214 2022 2023 2024 £
8A31H 8A31H 8A31H 8A31H 8A31A
BERBE 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August
Assets and Liabilities 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
ARETFT AR%®Tr ARBEFTT ARBTT AR¥ETR
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000
ERBEE Non-current assets 4.719,048 6,590,227 7,596,836 8,050,080 8,677,331
MEBEE Current assets 1,137,581 1,341,896 1,476,299 1,192,919 2,339,908
REARE Current liabilities 2,057,933 2,609,083 3,163,350 3,656,468 4,333,235
MEEREFE Net current liabilities (920,352) (1,267,187) (1,687,051) (2,463,549) (1,993,327)
BELERETHEE Total assets less current liabilities 3,798,696 5,323,040 5,909,785 5,586,531 6,684,004
FERBAE Non-current liabilities 1,295,971 2,130,733 2,733,071 2,053,720 2,572,243
s Total equity 2,502,725 3,192,307 3,176,714 3,532,811 4,111,761
ME - BENRE Property, plant and equipment 3,100,669 4,091,258 4,883,072 5,440,611 5,949,729
BeRBeEEY Cash and cash equivalents 608,234 775,787 1,081,449 855,060 1,379,606
ARAE Contract liabilities 274,029 350,933 973,335 1,356,250 1,690,074

TERTREMER Interest-bearing bank and
other borrowings 1,895,798 2,354,632 3,320,140 2,708,508 3,499,439

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HE¥=XEBERLT
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

20204 2021 2022 F 2023 F 2024 F

7 g 3 i 8A31H 8A31H 8A31H 8A31H 8A31A
31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August

Financial ratios 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
ARET T AREFT AREFT AREF T ARETR

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000

BN & Current Ratio 06 05 05 0.3 0.5
R & (fi) Gearing ratio (Vofg) 75.7% 74.0% 104.5% 76.9% 85.2%

Wiz EELRENFERELAGHRINGEZE GaaE%)  Nte:  Gearing ratio equals to ratio of interest-bearing debt divided by total equity as of the end of the
HEHRTESREMESUARAESaESE - year. Interest-bearing debt equals to the total amount of interest-bearing bank loans and other
borrowings and lease liabilities.

HE2020F  HE01NF  HZ02F  BHEA2F BE224F

8H31H 8H31H 8H31H 8H31H 8A31H

BenE ENEA EFE HFE TFE LEE
Eight months Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

ended 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August 31 August

Cash flows 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
AREFTL AREBTL ARBEFL ARETL AR®TR

RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

RETEMEBEEREFE Netcash flows from operating activities 45,526 728,779 1,534,190 1,422,847 1,542,847
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DEFINITIONS

[MEEERAR ] 4R

“Articles of Association” or “Articles”

R YN

“associate(s)”
[ A

“Ba Mu Pu”

BlAFNCIN

“Bei Ai Company”

[IERAERE]

“Beijing Daai Gaoxue”

[HEm75 %8 |

“Beijing Fangzhi”

[ B &

“Beijing Lianhe”

MHEmFH =]

“Beijing New Higher Education”

[E£2 ]

“Board” or “Board of Directors”

%75 & 1E % (2024 5F) |

“Business Cooperation Agreement (2024)”

201763 A20 A B RHRMHN AR ABERAR (K AEEET)
the articles of association of the Company conditionally adopted on 20 March 2017, as
amended from time to time

BB EmRAIFE THRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

ERERBEREERAR - —ER2010F5 824 BIRIEFBEREKINE
RARKRAFEEEEEA5.7306% BEMFTLEREZ —

Kunming Bamupu Technology Co., Ltd.* (2 BB E ARA R £ F R 2 7)), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 24 May 2010 and one of the
New Registered Shareholders holding 5.7305% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

IRBEAEHKEREBREMELT - —MR2012F10 A 16 B B I&E R BIX
BRIMBERAR HEEEE2EHA - LERAAAHRERHE -2
W&

Beijing Aiyinsheng Education Investment Co., Ltd.* (It REE L HBEREARE T
7~ &]), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 16 October
2012, and wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Bei Ai Company is the sole sponsor of Gansu
School

IRRESEHENEARAR - —HR2018F3ABEFRAKINE
RAGE HEESBE2EHS

Beijing Daai Gaoxue Education Technology Co., Ltd.* (It R AE S 2H#HERIZAR
72 A)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 23 March 2018. It is wholly
owned by Yun Ai Group

IR ATERBEEEEEARAT - —HR2020F 4 A20 B RIEFR BEERK
N2 BRRAFA

Beijing Fangzhi Yuanlue Corporate Management Co., Ltd.* (16 R 77 25 i B 1> 3 & 18
BBR A 7)), alimited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 20 April
2020

IERBEARAREREERAR - —HER201456 A17 AIREFRBEEEK
VHEBRAR AEEREBEMNREZEWNB AR

Beijing Lianhe Open Education Technology Co., Ltd.* (1t R & F M E BRI ER A
7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 17 June 2014,
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun Ai Group

IERFa#HBEERERAG  —HEFEKLNERAG  AEESE
ME2EWEB QA

Beijing New Higher Education Science and Technology Development Co., Ltd.* (1t & ¥7
SHR R EAMR Q) a company established in the PRC with limited liability and
a wholly-owned subsidiary of Yun Ai Group

KRBEEE
the board of Directors of the Company

FYER  BEBEARERERE FRGEHBEERFTCERET L
WEBEERE

the business cooperation agreement entered into by and among Shenzhen Yuangi, Hainan
Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming, the PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the New
Registered Shareholders

CHINA NEW HIGHER EDUCATION GROUP LIMITED HEH=HEBEERAE



ELE LY

“Central China School”

(e B
“China” or “PRC”

[EEBE A
“close associate(s)”

NGRS
“Companies Ordinance”
[ARa]]

“Company”

[EEE AT
connected person(s)”

[FHEA 5 ]
“Connected Transaction(s)”

[ 2 R AR 3R
“Controlling Shareholder(s)”

KEEREIBTRD]

“Corporate Governance Code”

[REB A

“Daai Shuren”

=

“Director(s)”

[ZEERES (20194F) ]

“Directors’ Powers of Attorney (2019)”

B NCIN

el

“Enchang Company”

B =
DEFINITIONS

AL B e 26 (AT R IR R EREE0) - —E 2003 F R %A L=
RS EHERE ERERARRNTNGEHBEEE

Hubei Enshi College* (78 1t & 7 £ Bt ), formerly known as Science and Technology
College of Hubei Minzu University* (811t R i& X 2 L% ZBx), an institution of higher
education established under the laws of the PRC in 2003. Central China School is a
consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

REARAME  HARENE - TREES  RFIRATRERSE
the People’s Republic of China excluding for the purpose of this report, Hong Kong, the
Macau Special Administrative Region and Taiwan

BB EMRAE THRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

NEMER ( BEEDZE622F) ( AR NRER] - RS TIER)
the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) as the same may be
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time

PRI SHEEABRAR —ER2016F7sHEMASHES ML
BHRERRAA

China New Higher Education Group Limited (FF BT = 2 5% Bl A R 2 7)), an exempted
company incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability on 8 July 2016

BB EMRAME THRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EMRAME THRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB EMRAME THRE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

LRSS CITE N EE AT R
Code on corporate governance practices contained in Appendix C1 to the Listing Rules

IRREBMABEHAEBRAR - —HR2018F3A4BEFBRKINE
RAGE - HRAZEEE2EHH

Beijing Daai Shuren Education Consulting Company Limited* (1t XA B 1 A B 5550
B R A A)), a limited liability company established in the PRC on 14 March 2018. It is
wholly owned by Yun Ai Group

ZAN/NETE5

the directors of the Company

EHEEEEREZEERTEUNSERESKES
the school directors’ power of attorney to be executed by each of the directors of each
PRC Operating Schools

BEEANEEHEREAREMA AR —MER2014F11 13HREF
BAEKIMNBRAT HAEEEELEHME - BRE AR AERERD
ME— SR Pk

Enshi Autonomous Prefecture Changqging Education Development Co., Ltd.* (B jiE & 34 M
BEEHEHREBREEXL T, alimited liability company established under the laws
of the PRC on 13 November 2014. It is wholly owned by Yun Ai Group. Enchang Company
is the sole sponsor of Central China School
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B
DEFINITIONS

[P i B #1772 (2019 5F) |
“Equity Pledge Agreement (2019)”

[ R e o

“Equity Transfers”

[ 18 R R 18 BR A % (20194F ) J
“Exclusive Call Option Agreement (2019)”

[ 8 R Bl AR 7 & B I 74 7R 7 o
(20244 )]

“Exclusive Technical Service and Management
Consultancy Agreement (2024)”

[HRRER

“Gansu School”

[AEE] - [S&E] kM)

"o«

“Group”, “we” or “us”

[EER

“Guangxi Schools”

[EASERENRE]

“Guangxi School Sponsor”

HRERR EEEERBREAFRSESFIILHREL RS
the equity pledge agreement entered into by and among the Registered Shareholders, Yun
Ai Group, Huihuang Company and other parties

M2019F 8 A26 H % 2019F 12 A6H kA BT AEHEREEES
BrE(BREE) BHAEREEEARELE(AREGER)  BEEEK
FEAESAMNEHESEENZESEEMNRE

the transfer of equity interests in Yun Ai Group from each of Mr. Li, Kashi Daai Chengxin
Investment Management Limited Partnership* (BT A E HEREETEA B D %
(BB A %)), Kashi Daai Investment Management Limited Partnership* (%8 {+ X £ %
BEBABNLE (BMRAHE)) Huihuang Investment and Shanghai Taifu to Songming
Dexue on 26 August 2019 and 6 December 2019

BREAG  FEGAHEBERRCARET LNBRAERER S
the exclusive call option agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the
PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities and the Registered Shareholders

RYERY - BEARRERR G AR BEESHE B8] BRIk
7% M E B

the exclusive technical service and management consultancy agreement entered into
by and among Shenzhen Yuanqi, Hainan Pusen and Nanjing Jingyuming and the PRC
Consolidated Affiliated Entities

BINE B R 20 (RIB RN IE TR 2R TIREM) - —RH R 2004 F IR IK
FEZERN VMR SHERE HEERARRANGEHMETE
Lanzhou College of Information Science and Technology* (B8 M {5 B &l & £ x),
formerly known as College of Technology and Engineering of Lanzhou University of
Technology* (B8 /M 32 T K B2 & 4if T2 2 %), an institution of higher education
established under the laws of the PRC in 2004. Gansu School is a consolidated affiliated
entity of the Company

AAdE - ETHOMEAR FREESRRGEHBERE R TXHE
FTig ERARFINABATME R RSERQR 2R EAE M S R B R
MEERNEEBAEBNER

the Company, its subsidiaries, the PRC Operating Schools and the consolidated affiliated
entities from time to time, or, where the context so requires in respect of the period before
the Company became the holding company of the present subsidiaries, the entities which
carried on the business of the present Group at the relevant time

& 7 B R 2 2B o R P RO S EE B B R AR I B A R EE B
BEEEMBERE 25 EASERAXRAANGEHEEE

collectively refers to Guangxi Yinghua International Occupation College* (/& 78 I&
B2 B 3£ B2 87, Guangxi Qinzhou Yinghua International Occupation and Technology
School* (E 78 2k M 2L 2= B BR B 3 52 1i7 22 4% ) and Guangxi Yinghua International
Occupation Middle School* (& 7o 2 2 [ % B 2% 22 B B J& /1 22). Guangxi Schools are
consolidated affiliated entities of the Company

PBMBERNEHEREAR AR - —HENR2017F8 A 25 BIRIEF BUEREK
M ZBRR A

Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education Investment Co., Ltd. (SX M RIEAXEHFRE R
FR 72 A)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 25 August
2017
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(&M

“Guizhou School”

[ M AR]

“Hainan Pusen”

NG

“Haxuan Company”

BEI=ESEY

“Henan Rongyu”

(BB RS
“HKFRSs”

[ETTI B

“HK$", “Hong Kong dollar(s)”, “HKD” or “cents”

[&7%]
“Hong Kong” or “HK”

B-Y=INCIN

“Huihuang Company”

[(BIE=7
“Independent Third Party(ies)”
[x&EERAI{TH A
“Latest Practicable Date”

[ 7]

“Listing”

==p:iN
“Listing Date”

B =
DEFINITIONS

EMNTEBESR —ER2012F7A3HREFEZEERNIHNRENSSE
BEHEMRE  RARTNGEHEER

Guizhou Technology and Business Institute* (& N T % 58 2 226 ), a private institution
of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC on 3 July 2012 and a
consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

BEERBRIEBRRAG  —MR2023F 12 A21 B RIBEFABAERINE
RAF BAEEMNZ2ENE QA

Hainan Pusen Technology Co., Ltd.* (8 B B #R B B R 2 &), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 21 December 2023, which is a wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group

MEBSEREARAR  —MR2016F4 198 BREFRBERRINE
RAF o BEF AR ARILBRA M —RiE

Harbin Xuande Technology Co., Ltd.* ("5 FE /B EF{E L3 A R A 7)), a limited liability
company established under the laws of the PRC on 19 April 2016. Haxuan Company is the
sole sponsor of the Northeast School

HERBHEZRABRAT  —EAR2017F3 A 2BRFEKLNERAA -
HIEtRAESEL2EHE - AERBASGEROE — Rt E

Henan Rongyu Education Consulting Co., Ltd.* (R Fg 2R B AWM AB R A F), a
limited liability company established in the PRC on 2 March 2017, and wholly-owned by
Beijing Daai Gaoxue. Henan Rongyu is the sole sponsor of the Luoyang School

BB WwE %R
the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards

DRIABTRBN  BERFREEE
Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the lawful currency for the time being of Hong
Kong

P EEERRITH R
the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the PRC

ARAEBEEEREERAR  —HR2016F8 A5ARE R BEIEREK
SNHBRAR  AASEMEEMME QA

Tibet Daai Huihuang Information and Technology Co., Ltd.* (78 i A & 12 = 8 &l
AR A 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 5
August 2016, which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group

BUYRARAIREBAEATERBEENRBENE=F
third party(ies) who is/are independent of and not connected with the Company and its
connected persons

2024512 A23 8 - IAFRTIENABEEPAEE TEHNREERA
THEH

23 December 2024, being the latest practicable date prior to the publication of this annual
report for ascertaining certain information contained herein

B 7O B 22 AT E AR BT
the listing of our Shares on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange

201794 A19H
19 April 2017

2023/2024 ANNUAL REPORT F#& 229



230

B
DEFINITIONS

[ EmRAl
“Listing Rules”

[E& ;i (20194 )
“Loan Agreement (2019)”

[ 15821
“Luoyang School”
[ MR

“Main Board”

(A&

“Ministry of Education” or “MOE”

2SN
“Model Code”

(=4

“Mr. Li"

ReEeguull

“Ms. Yang”

[FARFRHE]

“Nanjing Jingyuming”

[#ac B AR

“New Registered Shareholders”

[FRAL 247

“Northeast School”

XA S LR A (B TEERT)
the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange, as amended from
time to time

BEANR - PHEEESREZEEBEIIVNERHZE
a loan agreement entered into by and among Huihuang Company, the PRC Operating
Schools and Yun Ai Group

BERIEBESER  —HER2013F6 ARBFEEZAERINRISEER
HEWE SEERARRNAZEEHBEER

Luoyang Science and Technology Vocational College* (& 5 &} £ Bk 2 E265%), a private
institution of formal higher education established under the laws of the PRC in June 2013.
Luoyang School is a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

RBXMEENESFR S ( PEERETS) - H B 708 3 A GEM I £
ZOHTEE

the stock exchange (excluding the option market) operated by the Stock Exchange which is
independent from and operated in parallel with the GEM of the Stock Exchange

PRI E 2
the Ministry of Education of the PRC

LRI SR CIFTE s LM BITAZESHITESF X HNIZETE
the model code for securities transactions by directors of listed issuers as set out in
Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules

FEHEL  ARFMBIPA EF—ZERERR EFEFFERNTE
-

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Z= 2 &F), the founder, one of the Controlling Shareholders, chairman of
the Board and an executive Director of the Company

BEELZL  TRENRS
Ms. Yang Xuging (#5875 ), the spouse of Mr. Li

BREREBEERIREAERAE - —HER2023F 12 A13HREBEFBIEEKILE
ERATF  AAEBEMNEZEMRBERF

Nanjing Jingyuming Technology Co., Ltd.* (FI R &= ¥ $& &L 5 A R A 7]), a limited
liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 13 December 2023, which is a
wholly owned subsidiary of the Group

EERRERERETKREERENRE  NERYKECERZERABR
nE BRAEKRKBRRAERAR  SHREREAP R EEELARE
AR A F]

the shareholders of Yun Ai Group immediately after the completion of the Equity Transfers,
namely Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd., Kunming Bamupu
Technology Co., Ltd., Songming Dexue and Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management
and Consulting Services Co., Ltd.

MEBEEZER  —HR004FREFEEER IR SHEHRE -
RILBERBARRNFMNEGEE BT

Harbin Huade University* (F4 B8 )& 2= 12 £2B7), a private institute of higher education
established under the laws of the PRC in 2004. Northeast School is a consolidated

affiliated entity of the Company
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[BEEBE]

“Pai Dui Pai”

[PEGAHMBER

“PRC Consolidated Affiliated Entities”

[F B EZER
“PRC Legal Advisors”

[FPEEESR]

“PRC Operating Schools”

[HERERE]
“Prospectus”

s

“Qinzhou Yinghua”

R BR

“Registered Shareholders’

)

[ & HAE
“Reporting Period”

[AR ¥
“RMB” or “Renminbi”

[ ]

“School Sponsors”

B =
DEFINITIONS

ERFHELCEFEEBRAABRAT  —HR2010F6 H2BRIBEFPRHER
MY BRAFRAEEEEEE20.0568% FEMNF I BRE 2 —
Kunming Paiduipai Economic Information Consultancy Co., Ltd.* (& BR #F & HE &8 8512 2
AR A 7)), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 2
June 2010 and one of the New Registered Shareholders holding 20.0568% equity interest
of Yun Ai Group

MEBRRRERPHEESER  SERANRTNGKAHBEERE  UREA
BBEEMESH (BARKEE) FARKEENREZER AR

namely, the School Sponsors and the PRC Operating Schools, each a consolidated
affiliated entity of the Company and other investment holding companies which were
consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured Contracts, as amended from time to
time

BERMEBR  ARBARTEERZEARER

Commerce & Finance Law Offices, the Company’s legal advisors as to PRC Laws

TEMBESRE NEMER EMER HHERER EHER RILER .
BREER E#EPERERBMNEBRURBELEBESHNHALREENEME
R

the consolidated affiliated entities, namely, Yunnan School, Guizhou School, Gansu School,
Luoyang School, Northeast School, Guangxi Schools, Central China School and Zhengzhou
School and other schools which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured
Contracts

AARIBEIR2017F 4 A5 AMHERER
the prospectus of the Company dated 5 April 2017

PMHAEREREREBR AR —ER201748 A25 BRIEF BEEK
YHMERAG  VTHSHEHERERR - RMNRELETERA M — R
&

Qinzhou Yinghua Datang Education Investment Company Limited* (#k M 322 K E#H &
BB A A]), alimited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 25
August 2017 and wholly owned by Songming Xinju. Qinzhou Yinghua is the sole sponsor
of the Guangxi Schools

EEEENRE (KTREHN)
the shareholders of Yun Ai Group, as updated from time to time

HE2024F8A3AILFE
the year ended 31 August 2024

ARK - o BB )% 2 %
Renminbi, the lawful currency for the time being of the PRC

REERBPEZETEEH  MEER WEFQA - FNEE.BEQAE -
BN = - LB ARIARBRAERBESNHATNEB N EMERBHE
the current school sponsors, Yun Ai Group, Henan Rongyu, Haxuan Company, Qinzhou
Yinghua, Enchang Company, Zhengzhou New Higher Education, Bei Ai Company, and
other school sponsors which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the Structured
Contracts
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[BRBERERESEMNETBH
(20194F) |

“School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement (2019)”

[ERBHERESE (2019F)]
“School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney
(2019)”

[ 78 7 & EAE &0 ]
“SFQ”

[ A% 17 ]

“Share(s)”

AR ]
“Shareholder(s)”

A% SR &= (20194F) |

“Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019)”

[ P% 3R 4 | 2= 7E 13 & (2019 4F ) |

“Shareholders’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019)”

[ = B

“Shenzhen Yuangi”

[SOFR
"SOFR"

I

i

AR

“Songming Dexue”

[EHME]

“Songming Xinju”

BRERE PREESER ERB|NEZTNEBES RIBRE AT
MERBRERESBANEZXHH®

the school sponsors’ and directors’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and
among School Sponsors, the PRC Operating Schools, the relevant directors appointed by
the School Sponsors and Huihuang Company

BREBRENBEATAITARITNERBRERES
the school sponsors’ power of attorney executed by the School Sponsors in favor of
Huihuang Company

BENMHAEKRL (BBEMENE) (EAREET RFERT)
the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as
amended and supplemented from time to time

KA A IR AN A 5 A% E B 0.0001 35 T HY i Y
ordinary share(s) of US$0.0001 each in the share capital of the Company

EVESZ N
holder(s) of the Share(s)

REREREEEEUARBREBUESOHAREENEMBRRABEER
AAXEAFTINRREES

the shareholders’ power of attorney executed by the Registered Shareholders and Yun
Ai Group and other shareholders which were consolidated to the Group by virtue of the
Structured Contracts in favor of Huihuang Company

RRRE - BRBPEREE AT HREENETIH®
the shareholders’ rights entrustment agreement entered into by and among the Registered
Shareholders, the School Sponsors and Huihuang Company

FINERMBAREER AR —ERN2024F9 11 BRIBPEEREKILE
BRAA  BASBENEZENEB AR

Shenzhen Yuanqi Consultancy Services Co., Ltd.* (R IINEMEAREBR Q) a
limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 11 September 2024,
which is a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group

BERBRAEN R

Secured Overnight Financing Rate

BHEEHEHREARAR - —ER2019F4 17 ARBPEEREK LT
ERAF HELE2ERE 2HEZEARERREZ U HBEEETEE
70.8305% 2 % &

Songming Dexue Education Development Co., Ltd.* (S FREZEEHEERE B R QA F)),
a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 17 April 2019 and
wholly owned by Mr. Li. Songming Dexue is one of the Registered Shareholders and owns
70.8305% equity interest of Yun Ai Group

EHRFELCEEEBRAT  —HR2016F10A27BREBERBEIEEK L
ZEBRRA

Songming Xinju Enterprise Management Company Limited* (ST E X EE AR
7~ |]), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on 27 October
2016
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[ B2 (&% FE (2019 ) |

“Spouse’s Undertakings (2019)”

8t 32
“Stock Exchange”

[FEBEE 4]

“Structured Contracts”

[ B /8~ 7]
“subsidiary(ies)”

[EERRE]
“substantial Shareholder(s)”

[EFR ]

“treasury share(s)”

E
“USD” or “US$”

EELN

“Yun Ai Group”

B
DEFINITIONS

HRIGBEE X T (FRENRM) & LW RBEE
the spouse undertakings executed by Ms. Yang Xuging, the spouse of Mr. Li

EEBMERXSHMBERRAA
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

XBEEmE (20245F) - BREMBRBE R EBEZE @ (2024F) - BRR
EHIERZ (2019F) - REEFHZE (2019F) - RFEEFZ 5T (2019
F) BEREPNERESENZTHZ(2019F) BR|PEREE (2019
F) BERES(2019F) REERESE (2019F) - BRI (2019F) &
BB e (20194F) MRS 2B Y MZ AR 2HE 275D
BB A AR~ FHE A2019F 8 526 H ~ 201912 A6 H ~ 2020F598H »
202057 H29H ~2020F8 4278 2021F2H4H8 2021F4H20H -~
20215 H25H ~ 2021 F9 A28 A 2 2021 F11 A19 B 2 A& KRR F 5
collectively refers to, the Business Cooperation Agreement (2024), the Exclusive
Technical Service and Management Consultancy Agreement (2024), the Exclusive Call
Option Agreement (2019), the Equity Pledge Agreement (2019), the Shareholders’ Rights
Entrustment Agreement (2019), the School Sponsors’ and Directors’ Rights Entrustment
Agreement (2019), the School Sponsors’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Directors’ Powers
of Attorney (2019), the Shareholders’ Powers of Attorney (2019), the Loan Agreement
(2019) and the Spouse’s Undertakings (2019), and the various agreements entered
into their connection, further details of which are set out in the announcements of the
Company dated 26 August 2019, 6 December 2019, 8 May 2020, 29 July 2020, 27
August 2020, 4 February 2021, 20 April 2021, 25 May 2021, 28 September 2021 and 19
November 2021 and this annual report, respectively

BB FHRAITE T8 RE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB FHRAIPE T RE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

BB FHRAIRE T RE
has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules

Ew XEREEEN
United States dollars, the lawful currency of the United States

THEARHARESBEBRAR  —MR2005F9 A 198 REFHEIEE
KRIBWBRAR BERFEUHLEEEBRNERART BEABNHE
BRERAR cHEERsHAPRCXBERARARBERARSAES
20.0568% * 5.7305% * 70.8305% }23.3822% * A E M B K K& M B MM —
Bk

Yunnan Einsun Education Investment Group Co., Ltd* (EE B ENHZH ER L &
A BR A B]), a limited liability company established under the laws of the PRC on
19 September 2005, which is owned as to 20.0568% by Kunming Paiduipai Economic
Information Consultancy Co., Ltd., 5.7305% by Kunming Bamupu Technology Co.,
Ltd., 70.8305% by Songming Dexue and 3.3822% by Songming Zhongyi Enterprise
Management and Consulting Services Co., Ltd. and the sole sponsor of Yunnan School
and Guizhou School
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ELELd I

“Yunnan School”

[ErBEER Ec

“Yunnan Vocational School”

[ &N =% Ec

“Zhengzhou New Higher Education”

[ Ep M 242 Ec

“Zhengzhou School”

ik INCIE Ec

“Zhongyi Company”

(%] 1B
vgp

THEINER (REEEEREERESE  [BR42k]) - —@R 2005
FREFPRZERINRBSSSEREHEHRE  BEARFANGEBBEEE
Yunnan Technology and Business University* (2 5 T 7 £ F3) (formerly known as
Yunnan Einsun Software Vocational College* (£ 7 = [A & 81 {4 B 2 £ 0% ) (“Software
College”)), a private institution of formal higher education established under the laws of
the PRC in 2005, and a consolidated affiliated entity of the Company

ERaTEEARUEHFIERERAR( FAAEZBAZEEERREK
BiE8k)

Kunming High-tech District Einsun Education and Training School Co., Ltd.* (R 88 &
HEEEZRHEEIER AR QA (formerly known as Einsun Science and
Technology Vocational College* (?F‘ixlwﬂﬁiﬁﬂ/ i)

BINFTEHBE ﬂﬁzﬁﬁﬁ A —ERFPBEXIHNERAR] REEEH
WEEZEMRBA Z%JEB)HF—*ME@HE BIRE

Zhengzhou New H|gher Education Technology Limited* (E5 /| ¥1 = 2 & Bl & R
7x|]), a company established in the PRC with limited liability, an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of Yun Ai Group and the sole sponsor of Zhengzhou School

BN TR ESRR  —HURPETEEBMNTHRENSSBERE
RARNAINGEHEER

Zhengzhou City Vocational College* (% M| 35k T 5% 3£ 22 B ), a private higher vocational
college located in Zhengzhou, Henan Province, the PRC and a consolidated affiliated entity
of the Company

SHFRCEEEARNRBAERAR - —HR20165F7 A12 BIREH DX
&WIE’UEB&/A7)327,%%7§Ex%l3.3822%%%%%&%6% BRz—
Songming Zhongyi Enterprise Management and Consulting Services Co., Ltd.* (& BF # &
PEEIRA AR AR A A, alimited liability company established under the laws
of PRC on 12 July 2016 and one of the New Registered Shareholders holding 3.3822%
equity interest in Yun Ai Group

Bk
percent

MEPHEKINEES P ENP X LBEEE 2 If there is any inconsistency between the Chinese names of entities or enterprises
LRI B E  EBAR LT A% - A7) established in the PRC and their English translations, the Chinese names shall
ERLZENP XS HMESNEELWNZR[*] - prevail. The English translation of company or entity names in Chinese or another

MARREEE X%*ﬂaﬂ’]ﬂfﬂiqi%ﬁﬂhﬁf 1
EBHBRZA -

8] language which are marked with “*” and the Chinese translation of company or
entity names in English which are marked with “*” is for identification purpose
only.
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Kot —E27#8
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CORPORATE INFO

o)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman of the Board)

Mr. Zhao Shuai

Ms. Shen Chunmei (retired on 28 February 2024)

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (re-designated from an independent non-executive Director to
an executive Director on 10 December 2024)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (Chairman)

Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (ceased to be a member on 10 December 2024)
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson (Chairman)
Mr. Li Xiaoxuan
Dr. Pang Tsz Kit Peter

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan (Chairman)

Mr. Kwong Wai Sun Wilson

Mr. Chan Tung Hoi (ceased to be a member on 10 December 2024)
Ms. Wong Ka Ki Ada (appointed on 10 December 2024)

AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVES

Mr. Li Xiaoxuan
Mr. Zhao Shuai

COMPANY SECRETARY
Ms. Wong Wai Ling

LEGAL ADVISORS AS TO HONG KONG LAWS

Morgan, Lewis & Bockius
19th Floor

Edinburgh Tower

The Landmark

15 Queen’s Road Central
Central, Hong Kong

AUDITOR

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King’s Road

Quarry Bay

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION

EER R Y

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

REGISTERED OFFICE

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive, P.0. Box 2681
Grand Cayman, KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HERTPETELE XY ¥EéDP(IR%ARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN
P EJE R 20/F
BH 5 [ B e 75 BB R 5 5% Tower F, Phoenix Place
BBl & &35 F R 5A Shuguang Xili Street, Chaoyang District
20718 Beijing, the PRC
ERBTEEEME PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG
BB 40th Floor, Dah Sing Financial Centre
2 5 RIB R 248 5% No. 248 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai
Fremh o408 Hong Kong
HERERMEBEFZEIZE géEMéN ISLANDS SHARE REGISTRAR AND TRANSFER
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited
Cricket Square Cricket Square
Hutchins Drive Hutchins Drive
P.0. Box 2681 P.0. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

BEREROBFELR
BERRBEFBLARDA

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited

236

A Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor
EF Hopewell Centre
EERNEFR1835 183 Queen’s Road East
A FIE L Wanchai
171E1712-1716 5% &8 Hong Kong
FTEFERELT PRINCIPAL BANKS
PERTT Bank of China
PERARIT China Minsheng Bank
B TR RTT Industrial and Commercial Bank of China
BB IRAT China Guangfa Bank
?Ebﬁﬁﬁh Citibank
18 £ iR - Hang Seng Bank
ERE /)E)—ﬁ {ERTT Kunming Guandu Rural Cooperative Bank
!1% Industrial Bank
8 ﬁ??& R7T Shanghai Pudong Development Bank
BREEBER INVESTOR RELATIONS
H"EEBBERI Investor Relations Department

EE - ir@xingaojjao.com

Wik BB T

78 H 168-200 5%

1*$EP/U@F“131oi

NGIEER

http://www.xingaojiao.com

iR 40 15 5
2001
£ B H#

2017 4 A19H

Email: ir@xingaojiao.com
Address: Room 1310, Shun Tak Centre West Tower
168-200 Connaught Road Central, Hong Kong

COMPANY’S WEBSITE

http://www.xingaojiao.com

STOCK CODE
2001

DATE OF LISTING
19 April 2017
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